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“Opportunity to invest in the World-Class
Distribution Center, Warehouse and Factory
on Prime locations”
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REIT in Thailand. locations assets with

the long-term Tenancy
and across various
nationalities and
industries of tenants.

(Bangna-Trad Road,
EEC, Ayutthaya-Saraburi
area and Samutprakarn).
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The year 2024 is considered another year of
volatility and uncertainty, with geopolitical tensions,
persistently high inflation rates, and a slowing Thai
economy posing significant challenges. Nevertheless,
in 2024, the WHA Premium Growth Real Estate
Investment Trust (“WHART”) remains committed
to operating according to its plans to achieve
goals, thanks to the efforts of management and all
employees. Most importantly, we aim to provide
consistent distribution to unitholders.

As of December 31, 2024, WHART had an average
occupancy rate of 84.9% (excluding undertaking
agreements). The main tenants are in stable and
fast-growing businesses, such as Fast-Moving Consumer
Goods, Third-Party Logistics (3PLs), E-Commerce, and
Automotive. The Weighted Average Lease Expiry
remaining lease term (WALE) of WHART was 3.79
years, which is considered longer than other trusts in
the same size. This reflects WHART’s stable sources

of revenue.

In terms of financial management, as of
December 31, 2024, WHART had an interest-bearing
debt amounting to THB 15,385 million, and the
proportion of debenture and loans were 70.33% and
29.67%. In 2024, there was the sign of reducing the
policy interest, which is a good signal for the financial
costs and overall Thai economy. The loan-to-value
(LTV) ratio of WHART remains low and manageable.
WHART also had an LTV ratio of 28.14%, reflecting
good performance and a strong financial position.
WHART has announced a benefit distribution at the
rate of THB 0.7735 per unit, which is the same as the

previous year.

= [ Message from REIT Manager

This year, WHART has also participated in
GRESB (Global Real Estate Sustainability Benchmark)
for the first time, which is an international standard
for assessing the sustainability of the real estate
business. This represents a significant step in enhancing
operational approaches to align with global standards
in environmental, social, and governance (ESG) areas.
WHART places great importance on ESG principles
and is committed to integrating these approaches in
all dimensions of its business operations, considering
environmental impacts, community development
participation, and good corporate governance, to
create long-term added value for unitholders and
stakeholders. Implementing ESG principles not only
strengthens WHART’s business but is also a key factor
in building trust with investors, partners, and business
allies. WHART will continue to develop and improve its
business practices in line with international standards
while enhancing measures to elevate responsibility for
environmental and social issues to adapt to global
changes, providing a solid foundation for sustainable
growth in the future.

Finally, the REIT Manager, WHA Real Estate
Management Co., Ltd., would like to thank you all
trust unitholders for their continued support over the
years, and the REIT Manager will strive to manage our
trust to maximize benefits for all unitholders.
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Key information

]

49 35,382.04 ....
WHART

No. of units NAV per unit
3,468.83 10.6450
REIT Name (Thai) million units per unit
né‘avi|Wanﬂsaanu1upﬁahﬁ§un§wu’ua:§n§ms
1¥1auuaolosid wsieu Insn S e Price / NAV
| 9.0241 0.96
REIT Name (English) : .
per unit times

WHA Premium Growth Freehold and
Leasehold Real Estate Investment Trust

(

REIT Manager
WHA Real Estate Management Co., Ltd.




REIT Manager

WHA Real Estate Management Co., Ltd.

Trustee
Kasikorn Asset Management Co., Ltd.

Property Manager
WHA Corporation Plc.

Auditor
PriceWaterhouseCoopers ABAS Ltd.

Registered Capital

m|II|on
Market price (31 Dec 2024) Net Asset Value (NAV)
10.20 36,925.97
Baht million

@ .‘ Weighted average of expiry tenant

=W 379,

Establishment Date

8 December 2014
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Investment Proportion
(calculated from appraisal value)

| 49.25% |
18.31%

32.44%

@ Freehold
@ Leasehold (30+30 years)

@ Leasehold (lease than 30 years)

Portfolio Overview

.
Asset Type

(calculated from leasable area)

| 89.2% |

—
—
—_—
pu——
—

Building Type

(calculated from leasable area)

|53.2% |

10.8%

@ Warehouse &
Distribution Center

@ Factory

-l Operating Performance

Occupancy rate and Leasable area

100%

100% 100%

97% 97%

2,150,000
93%

1,900,000

167,107
1,650,000

342,043 499,258

1,400,000
1,150,000
900,000
650,000

400,000

2014 2015 2016

150,000

96%

971,579 1,128,113 1,283,351 1,412,140 1,582,736 1,743,984 1,886,704 1,886,763

2017

93% 93%

91%

2018 2019 2020

90%

2021

46.8%

@ General Warehouse @ Built-to-Suit

I | casable Space (Sq.m.)
—8&— Occupancy Rate Before WHA Undertaking
—&— Occupancy Rate After WHA Undertaking

100%
93%
90%
88% 90%
88% 80%

85%
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10%
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Industry of Tenants Nationality of Tenants
(calculated from occupied area) (Calculated from occupied area)
) 0, 0,
4.52% 3.38% 13.6% 1.2%

13.24%

36.89%
30.32% 28.5%
@ FMCG @ 3PL @ Thai ® Asia
@® E-Commerce, @ Automotive @ Europe ® Japan
@ Manufacturing Food Chain America ® Taiwan
@® Healthcare Others China

* Exclude Thai and Japan Nationality

Expiry Tenant Contract WALE =3.79 years
40.0% —39.9%
32.8% —
30.0% —29.8% 30.5% —
24.8% —
20.0% —20.7%
11.9% —
10.0% — 9.6%
0.0%
< 1 Year >1-3 Years > 3-5 Years >5 Years
@ Lease Expiracy @ Lease Expiracy (Include option to Renew)
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Total revenue

Total Revenue

4,000.00 3,397.68 3,519.23
3,178.99 PY
3,000.00 2,5655.97 2,574.50
@

2,000.00
1,000.00

0

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

Net Profit from investment

Net Profit from Investment

4,000.00
3,000.00 2.491.0 2,615.1 2,635.8
2,000.00 ° 2.317.7 22455
1,830.7 1,810.9 1,921.0
1,000.00
0
2020 2021* 2022 2023 2024

—@— Net Profit from Operation —@— Net Profit from Investment

Loan Repayment Schedule

6,000.0 @ Loan
@ Bond
4,585.0 4,760.0
4,100.0
4,000.0
2,000.0 1,940.0
0
2025 2026 2027 2028
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Capital structure

Total assets THB 54,688.38
Total Liabilities THB 17,742.41
Equity THB 36,925.97
Net income THB 471.19
Loan to value 28.14%
Credit Rating A Stable

Distribution payment policy :

million
million
million
million

Distribution Payment

Performance period

Per unit (THB)

Dividend R::E;E'm Dividend

IPO - 2018 2.1208 0.8449 2.9657
2019 0.6649 0.0975 0.7624
2020 0.7243 0.0335 0.7578
2021 0.7578 - 0.7578
2022 0.7653 - 0.7653
2023 0.7735 - 0.7735
2024 0.7133 0.0602 0.7735
Total 6.5199 1.0361 7.5560

Not less than 90% of adjusted net income of each fiscal year. The distributions will be paid to unitholders

not more than 4 times of each fiscal years. However, if WHART increase the capital in each year, WHART might

pay the distribution more than 4

times.

Rental & Service income (THB) 3,356,791,154 3,307,388,287 3,127,589,696
Other income (THB) 162,443,036 90,289,573 51,396,368
Total expenses (THB) 365,005,942 368,459,984 363,064,891
Interest paid (THB) 518,474,272 414,152,403 324,973,350
Net investment gain (THB) 2,635,753,976 2,615,065,473 2,490,947,823

Increase in net assets from operation (THB)

1,920,946,540

2,245,517,595

2,317,703,727

No. of Trust units (units) 3,468,827,441 3,468,827,441 3,272,928,441
Net asset value per unit (THB/ unit) 10.6450 10.7987 10.9744
Increase in net assets from operation per unit

(THB/uni) 0.5538 0.6473 0.7081
Interest bearing debt to EBITDA* (times) 5.19 4.99 5.05
Interest bearing debt to total assets ratio* (times) 30.20 29.94 28.22

* Interest bearing debt is the interest bearing debt include financial lease

ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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Management Discussion & Analysis

WHA Premium Growth Freehold and Leasehold Real Estate Investment Trust’s performance:

31 December

31 December

. o
Description 2024 2023 Change (%)
Average Warehouse occupancy rate before o
. .029 A79
WHA'’s undertaking (%) 84.85% e S
Average Rooftop occupancy rate before o o
. . 0.009
WHA'’s undertaking (%) 8.98% 8.98% 7
Average Warehouse occupancy rate after o o
. . 1.829
WHA'’s undertaking (%) 87.78% 89.60% ( %)
Average Rooftop occupancy rate after o o
. . 0.009
WHA'’s undertaking (%) 100.00% 100.00% 7
Warehouse rental area (square meters) 1,886,762.83 1,886,703.83 0.003%
Rooftop rental area (square meters) 487,243.29 487,243.29 0.00%
Warehouse rental and service income (million Baht) 3,325.92 3,266.80 1.81%
Other rental and service income (million Baht) 30.87 40.59 (23.95%)
Net investment income before financial cost
. . 97.549
(profit before financial cost) (million Baht) 128.42 65.01 e
Profit before financial cost to total income ratio (%) 34.02 25.28 34.57%
Financial costs (million Baht) 3,519.23 3,397.68 3.58%
Net investment gain (profit before net gain (loss) from
. .46 .949
investment) (million Baht) (eI (e (012550
Net investment income before financial cost
. ,029. 4.139
(profit before financial cost) (million Baht) S Sl e
Profit before financial cost to total income ratio (%) 89.63% 89.16% 0.47%
Financial costs (million Baht) (518.47) (414.15) 25.19%
Net mvestmenF galn (profit before net gain (loss) from 0.635.75 0.615.07 0.94%
investment) (million Baht)
!:’roflt befor'e net gain (loss) from investment to total 74.90% 76.97% (2.07%)
income ratio (%)
Total net gain (loss) from investment (million Baht) (714.80) (869.55) (93.43%)
Ino.rlease in net assets from operations (net profit) 1.020.95 0.045.5 (14.45%)
(million Baht)
Net profit to total income ratio (%) 54.58% 66.09% (11.51%)
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@, Analysis of performance

Analysis of performance

1. Overview of the Trust’s performance

The average occupancy rate for the year 2024 was 86.6 percent, lower than the average occupancy rate
of warehouse industry at 88.0". For the tenant group of the WHART Trust, it is a group of well-known tenants
in stable and growing industries. The main tenants of the WHART Trust which is mainly from Fast-Moving
Consumer Goods (FMCG) and Third-Party Logistics (3PLs) which proportionated to 36.89 percent and 30.32 percent
respectively. As of 31 December 2024, the WHART Trust has Total Asset Value of Baht 54,668.4 million which is
the largest industrial REIT in terms of Total Asset Value with the area under management of 1,886,762.83 square
meters. The WHART Trust has weighted average lease expiry (WALE) at 3.79 years.

For financial management, in the fourth quarter of 2024 WHART Trust had liabilities from loan from
financial institutions at 29.67 percent and corporate bond at 70.33 percent. The Loan-to-Value Ratio (LTV Ratio)
as of 31 December 2024 was at 28.14 percent. In the fourth quarter of 2024, the WHART Trust had appraisal’s
assessment and resulting in a loss from change in fair value of the investment, which was an accounting item,
of Baht 460.6 million. However, the loss from change in fair value was non-cash item and did not impact on
actual operating performance.

In the fourth quarter of 2024, WHART Trust announced the distribution payment at the rate of Baht 0.1960
per unit, consisting of a dividend payment from the performance from 1 October 2024 — 31 December 2024 and
retained earnings at the rate of Baht 0.1358 per unit, totaling Baht 471 million and the distribution from capital
reduction by decreasing the value of trust units at the rate of Baht 0.0602 per unit, totaling Baht 209 million.
The distribution from capital reduction was due to loss from change in fair value of the investment. The loss
item is non-cash expense.

The date schedule for dividend payment and the distribution from the reduction to unitholder is scheduled
on 19 March 2025

' Source: Knight Frank Chartered (Thailand) Co., Ltd.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 11



Financial Performance

« Total Income was Baht 3,519.23 million, increasing Baht 121.55 million or 3.58 percent from the previous
year. The increase was reflected from the recognition of revenue from the investment in the ninth
additional assets (the eighth capital increase) on 25 December 2023 compared to the previous year.

+ Total Expense was Baht 883.48 million, increasing Baht 100.87 million or 12.89 percent from the previous
year. The main attribution was the increase in financial cost from additional loan from the eighth capital
increase and the rise in the interest rate from the increment of policy interest rate. The increase was
also due to the increase in management expenses such as Management fee, and Property management
fee as the Trust size has expanded, offsetting with the decrease in other expenses.

« The Net Investment Gain was Baht 2,635.75 million, increasing Baht 20.68 million or 0.79 percent
from the previous year, which reflects operating performance of the Trust and is converted to the Net
Investment Gain per Total Income (EBT Margin) of 74.90 percent.

+ Total Net Loss from Investments was Baht 714.81 million. The main attribution was from the change
in valuation of the annual asset valuation.

+ Increase in Net Assets from Operation (Net Profit) was Baht 1,920.95 million which was converted to
the Increasing in Net Assets from operations per Total Income (Net Income Margin) at 54.58 percent.

Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2024

« Total assets were Baht 54,668.38 million

- Total liabilities were Baht 17,742.41 million

« Net assets were Baht 36,925.97 million

+ Capital received from unitholders was Baht 36,454.79 million

+ Retained earnings at the end of the period were Baht 471.18 million, equivalent to the net asset
value per unit of 10.6450 Baht.

Key factors and Influences that May Affect Future Operations or Financial Positions

The global economy from 2025 to 2027 is expected to grow gradually amidst the trend of lower policy
rate. Economic growth will be pressured by various factors, such as the consequences of high interest rates
compared to historical averages among significant public and private sector debt. U.S. economic policy, following
Donald Trump’s re-election as president, the slowdown of the Chinese economy, and geopolitical tensions in
the Middle East and the Russia-Ukraine war. These could lead to supply chain disruptions and an energy crisis.
However, the Thai economy is expected to gradually recover over the next three years but with relatively low
growth due to several structural problem. These include the lack of competitive advantage in the manufacturing
sector, the aging society affecting labor force and productivity, and high household debt restraining private
consumption. Solving structural problems and adapting to new challenges is crucial for enhancing the country’s
long-term economic growth potential.

Meanwhile, the logistics industry shows an increasing demand for warehouse space. This is supported by
the gradual recovery of international trade aligned with the Thai economy. The growing demand for storage
space driven by investments, reflected from BOI’s investment promotion. Thailand is also a hub for industries
such as automotive, with a robust supply chain, and hard disks used in data center investments. Additionally,
the growth of online commerce continues to increase the demand for storage of raw materials, intermediates,
and manufactured products.

In 2025, REIT managers are aware of the global economic factors affecting the overall Thai economy. We
continue to manage trust using strategies for efficient asset management. In terms of warehouses, flexibility
in leasing is increased to meet customer demand, and ongoing improvements in asset quality are made. We
also invest in strategically located assets to enhance revenue generation for WHART and consistently provide
long-term beneficial distribution to unitholders.

12 WHA PREMIUM GROWTH FREEHOLD AND LEASEHOLD REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST



2. Significant details on the Statement of Comprehensive Income

1)  Investment income comprising of:

1 January 2024 to
31 December 2024

1 January 2024 to
31 December 2023

Description
0, [v)
R N ilion Baht | of Total
income income
Warehouse rental and service income 3,325.92 94.51% 3,266.80 96.15%
Other rental and service income 30.87 0.88% 40.59 1.19%
Undertaking income 128.42 3.65% 65.01 1.91%
Interest income 34.02 0.96% 25.28 0.75%

Total income 100.00% 100.00%

3,519.23

3,397.68

Warehouse rental and service income increased due to WHART Trust recognized full-year income from
assets of the additional investment assets of the seventh capital increase on 25 December 2023.
Undertaking income under the Undertaking Agreement derived from WHA Corporation Public Company
Limited

Interest income from saving deposit account of 0.10% - 1.85% per annum in 2024 (0.35% - 1.60% per
annum in 2023

2)  Expenses comprising of:

1 January 2024 to
31 December 2024

1 January 2024 to
31 December 2023

Description
milionBaht | 2 of Tl | o Bany | % of Total

income income
Cost of rental and services 93.64 2.66% 77.66 2.29%
Management fee 83.20 2.36% 77.69 2.29%
Trustee fee 31.23 0.89% 46.77 1.38%
Registrar fee 5.77 0.16% 5.62 0.17%
Property management fee 111.88 3.18% 99.59 2.93%
Other expenses 39.29 1.12% 61.13 1.80%
Total expenses 365.01 10.37% 368.46 10.86%

- Costs of rental and services, most of which were repair and maintenance fee

- Management fee paid monthly to WHA Real Estate Management Company Limited of a rate not exceeding

0.75% per annum of the net assets (exclusive of value added tax, specific business tax or other similar
taxes)

Trustee fee paid monthly to Kasikorn Asset Management Company Limited in a rate not exceeding 0.75%
per annum of the total net assets (excluding value added tax, specific business tax or other similar taxes)
Registrar fee paid to Thailand Securities Depository Company Limited

Property management fee paid to WHA Corporation Public Company Limited in accordance with the
service agreement

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 13



- Other expenses which consisted of:
(1)  Amortisation of the Trust’s unit issuance costs of Baht 43.43 million, equivalent to 71.05% of total
other expenses
(2) The Trust’s unit issuance costs of Baht 5.55 million, equivalent to 14.14% of total other expenses
(3) Consulting and professional fee of Baht 1.47 million, which comprised of legal consulting and audit
fees, equivalent to 3.73% of total other expenses.
(4) Other expenses of Baht 8.38 million, equivalent to 21.33% of total other expenses

3) Financial cost

Interest expenses of Baht 518.47 million from which the Trust loaned the financial institution in the amount
of Baht 4,565.00 million with an interest rate of Minimum Loan rate (MLR) - (1.5% - 2.00%) per annum, debenture
of Baht 10,820.00 million and lease liabilities

4) Net gain (loss) from investment

Net loss from investment of Baht 714.80 million resulting in the appraisal of the assets.

3. Significant details on the Statement of Financial Position

1) Assets

As at 31 December 2024, the Trust had the total asset value of Baht 54,668.38 million, which was an
decrease of Baht 631.86 million or 1.14% from the previous year with significant particulars as follows:

- Investment in properties at fair value of Baht 52,211.80 million, which was an decrease of Baht 596.02
million or 1.13% from the previous year due to unrealized net loss from change in fair value of investments and
the additional investment in assets during 2024.

(unit : million Baht)

Assets 31 December 2024 | 31 December 2023 Change (%)
Investment in properties at fair value 52,211.80 52,807.82 (1.13%)
Cash and cash equivalents 1,851.65 1,915.45 (8.33%)
Deferred expenses - 23.89 (100.00%)
Deferred income from operating lease agreement 451.62 394.93 14.36%
Refundable VAT - 21.49 (100.00%)
Other assets 153.31 136.66 12.18%
Total assets 54,668.38 55,300.24 (1.14%)

2) Liabilities

As at 31 December 2024, the Trust had total liabilities of Baht 17,742.41 million, which was an decrease
of Baht 98.75 million or 0.55% from the previous year with the significant particulars as follows:
- Short-Term Borrowing from financial institutions - net valued at Baht 3,171.48 million, which increased
by Baht 1,380.80 million or 77.11% from the previous year, due to
On 10 May 2024, the Trust entered into an agreement with a financial institution for the repayment of
the debenture of the Trust for the amount of Baht 1,500 million.
On 14 August 2024, the Trust entered into an agreement with a financial institution for the repayment

14 WHA PREMIUM GROWTH FREEHOLD AND LEASEHOLD REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST



of the existing debts of the Trust for the amount of Baht 380 million.
On 29 November 2024, the Trust entered into an agreement with a financial institution for the repayment
of the existing debts of the Trust for the amount of Baht 1,000 million.

- Long-Term Borrowing from financial institutions - net valued at Baht 1,380.62 million, which decreased
by Baht 994.77 million or 41.88% from the previous year, due to
On 29 November 2024, the Trust repaid the long-term borrowings from the financial institution in
a total amount of Baht 1,000 million.

- Debentures - net valued at Baht 10,812.99 million, which decreased by Baht 368.66 million or 3.30%
from the previous year, due to

- During the year 2024, the Trust issued and offered 3 tranches fixed coupon debentures of name-registered
certificate of unsubordinated and unsecured debentures and with assigned representatives for the total
amount of Baht 2,700 million. The repayment of principal is due on the maturity date ranging from 2
years to 4 years. The debentures are issued and offered to investors based on the announcement made
by The Securities and Exchange Commission. The purpose of the issuance of debentures is to replace
the mature debentures and early repay existing debts. The debentures have a par value of Baht 1,000
per unit and the interest will be repaid every 3 months.
On 31 January 2024, 14 May 2024 and 9 August 2024, the Trust had settled the debentures in amount
of Baht 850 million, Baht 1,500 million and Baht 100 million, respectively.

- Lease liabilities valued at Baht 772.56 million, which increased by Baht 19.67 million or 2.48% from
the previous year.

(unit : million Baht)

Short-term Borrowing from financial institutions - net 3,171.48 1,790.68 77.11%
Accrued expenses 128.90 133.17 (8.21%)
Unearned rental and service income 27.90 15.44 80.70%
Deposits received from customers 1,388.99 1,377.13 0.86%
Long-term Borrowing from financial institutions - net 1,380.62 2,375.39 (41.88%)
Debentures - net 10,812.99 11,181.65 (8.30%)
Lease liabilities 772.56 792.23 (2.48%)
Other liabilities 58.97 175.47 (66.39%)

Total liabilities 17,742.41 17,841.16 (0.55%)

3) Net assets

As at 31 December 2024, the Trust has the net assets value of Baht 36,925.97 million, which decreased by
Baht 533.11 million or 1.42% from the previous year, equivalent to the net asset value per unit of Baht 10.6450.

(unit : million Baht)

Net assets (million Baht) 36,925.97 37,459.08 (1.42%)
Net assets per unit (Baht) 10.6450 10.7987 (1.42%)
Unit trust outstanding at the end of the year (Units) 3,468,827,441 3,468,827,441 -

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 15



4. Significant details on the Statement of Cash Flows

(unit : million Baht)

Cash Flows 31 December 2024 | 31 December 2023 Change (%)

Cash flows from operating activities 2,949.85 (526.51) (660.26%)
Cash flows from financing activities (3,013.65) 660.20 (556.47%)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (63.80) 133.69 (147.72%)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 1,915.45 1,781.76 7.50%
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 1,851.65 1,915.45 (3.33%)
Lease assets and liabilities - 101.67 (100.00%)
Account payables from the Trust’s unit issuance costs - 27.74 (100.00%)

According to the financial statement for the year ended 31 December 2024, WHART had the total cash
and cash equivalent of Baht 1,851.65 million due to net cash generated from operating activities of Baht 2,949.85
million and net cash used in financial activities of Baht 3,013.65 million.

The net cash generated from operating activities of Baht 2,949.85 million comprised the acquisition of
investments in properties of Baht 118.79 million, and increase in net assets from operation (net profit) of Baht
1,920.94 million.

The net cash used in financial activities of Baht 3,013.65 million comprised cash received from short-term
borrowing from financial institutions of Baht 2,880.00 million, cash paid for short-term borrowing from financial
institutions of Baht 1,500.00 million , cash paid for long-term borrowings from financial institutions of Bath 1,000
million, cash received from debentures of Baht 2,070.00 million, cash paid for debentures of Baht 2,450.00
million, cash paid for distribution payment of Baht 2,454.05 million and interest paid of Baht 508.35 million.

5. Financial Ratios

1) Significant Financial Ratios — Financial Covenant

1.1)  WHART shall maintain the financial ratio or debt covenant in accordance to the loan
agreements. Details of which are as follows:

Ratio as of 31 December

Description Criteria

2024
Interest bearing debt to total assets ratio ¥ % not exceed 50% 30.20
Interest bearing debt to EBITDA ratio * times  not more than the ratio of 6.5:1 5.19
Notes :
o

Interest bearing debt to total assets ratio means Interest Bearing Debt (include Lease Liabilities) * 100 / Total Assets
¥ Interest bearing debt to EBITA means Interest Bearing Debt (include Lease Liabilities) / Earnings Before Interest Tax

Depreciation and Amortization (EBITDA) according to the loan agreements.
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1.2)  WHART shall maintain the financial ratio according to the Provisions governing the rights and
duties of the debenture issuers and the debenture holders. Details of which are as follows:

Ratio as of 31 December

Description Criteria 0024

Borrowing to total assets ratio % not exceed 50% 28.14

2) Significant Financial Ratio

31 December 31 December 31 December

Description 2024 2023 2022
Unit trust outstanding at the end of the year units 3,468,827,441 3,468,827,441 3,272,928,441
Net assets value per unit Baht/unit 10.6450 10.7987 10.9744
L:Z{Zﬁi‘;t'ggfzii)sets from operations perunit g\ i 0.5537 0.6473 0.7081
Net investment income to total income ratio™ % 74.90 76.97 78.36
Current ratio” times 0.25 0.36 0.48
Interest coverage ratio (ICR)” times 6.13 7.42 8.90
Interest bearing debt to EBITDA ratio® times 5.19 5.39 5.05
Debt service coverage ratio (DSCR)” times 0.41 0.58 0.79
Total liabilities to total assets ratio % 32.45 32.26 30.68
Total liabilities to net assets value ratio times 0.48 0.48 0.44
Interest bearing debt to total assets ratio® % 30.20 29.94 28.22
Interest bearing debt to net assets value ratio” times 0.45 0.44 0.41
Loan from Financial Institution to interest bearing % 07 65 05 08 30.74

debt ratio”

Notes :

" Net investment income to total income ratio mean Net investment income (Profit before net gain (loss) from investment)
*100 / Total income

Current ratio means (cash and cash equivalents + investments in securities at fair value + other current assets) / (Interest
Bearing Debt matured in 1 year + unearned rental and service income + accounts payable + accrued expenses + other
current liabilities)

7 Interest coverage ratio (ICR) means Earnings Before Interest Tax Depreciation and Amortization / Interest expenses

¥ Interest bearing debt to EBITDA ratio means Total interest bearing debt (include Lease liabilities) / Earnings Before Interest
Tax Depreciation and Amortization (EBITDA)

¥ Debt service coverage ratio (DSCR) means Earnings Before Interest Tax Depreciation and Amortization (EBITDA) / (Short-Term
Interest bearing debt + Long-Term Interest bearing debt matured in 1 year (include lease liabilities))

Interest bearing debt to total assets ratio means Interest bearing debt (include Lease liabilities) * 100 / Total assets

Interest bearing debt to net assets value ratio means Interest bearing debt (include Lease liabilities) / Net assets

6/
77

¥ Interest bearing debt matured in 1 year to total interest bearing debt ratio means (Short-term Interest bearing debt +

Long-term Interest bearing debt matured in 1 year (include lease liabilities)) * 100 / total interest bearing debt (include
lease liabilities)
?"Loan from Financial Institution to Interest bearing debt ratio means Loan from Financial Institution * 100 / Total interest
bearing debt (include Lease liabilities)
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6. Distribution payment

Distribution payment from the operating result for the year 2024

Distribution per unit (Baht)

Operation Period Payment Date

Dividend | oF o
1 1 January - 31 March 2024 7 June 2024 0.1915 - 0.1915
2 1 April — 30 June 2024 6 September 2024 0.1930 - 0.1930
3 1 July — 30 September 2024 13 December 2024 0.1930 - 0.1930
4 1 October - 31 December 2024 19 March 2025 0.1358 0.0602 0.1960
Total 0.7133 0.0602 0.7735

Distribution payment from the past performance
Since the establishment of WHART on 8 December 2014, WHART has paid dividend distribution 44 times

and capital reduction 22 times.
Distribution per unit (Baht) Amount (million Baht)

Operating period Capital Capital
Dividend Reduc- Total Dividend Reduc-
tion tion

8 December 2014 - 31 December

2014 0.0282 - 0.0282 8.76 - 8.76
1 January 2015 - 31 December 2015 0.3047 0.3719 0.6766 114.52 117.41 231.93
1 January 2016 - 31 December 2016 0.5392 0.2200 0.7592 379.79 149.42 529.21
1 January 2017 - 31 December 2017 0.6097 0.1335 0.7432 678.45 141.19 819.64
1 January 2018 - 31 December 2018 0.6390 0.1195 0.7585 1,275.01 238.26 1,513.27
1 January 2019 - 31 December 2019 0.6649 0.0975 0.7624 1,5619.23 222.90 1,742.13
1 January 2020 - 31 December 2020 0.7243 0.0335 0.7578 1,876.77 85.58 1,962.35
1 January 2021 - 31 December 2021 0.7578 - 0.7578 2,138.87 - 2,138.87
1 January 2022 - 31 December 2022 0.7653 - 0.7635 2,372.20 - 2,372.20
1 January 2023 - 31 December 2023 0.7735 - 0.7735 2,557.08 - 2,557.08
1 January 2024 - 31 December 2024 0.7133 0.0602 0.7735 2,474.19 208.82 2,683.01

6.7825 15,394.87 1,163.58  16,558.45

18 WHA PREMIUM GROWTH FREEHOLD AND LEASEHOLD REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST



1.1

1.2

WHA Premium Growth Freehold and Leasehold Real Estate Investment Trust (WHART)

Real Estate Investment Trust (“REIT” or “Trust”)

Main Points of the Trust

Name of Investment Trust (Thai) niaditensawlusdmBminduasdvsnsnfuuaouie
Wilen 1ngw

Name of Investment Trust (English) ~ WHA Premium Growth Freehold and Leasehold Real Estate
Investment Trust

Initial WHART

REIT Manager WHA Real Estate Management Company Limited
(“the Company”)

Property Manager WHA Corporation Public Company Limited

Trustee Kasikorn Asset Management Company Limited

Term of the Trust Indefinite

Paid-up Capital Baht 31,303,045,710 (as of 31 December 2024)
Capital from unitholders Baht 36,454,787,905 (as of 31 December 2024)

Type of the Trust Non-redeemable unit trust from the trust unitholders
Objective of the Trust

The Trust was established for the purpose of engaging in transactions in the capital market in
accordance with all relevant SEC notifications. The objectives of the Trust are the issuance and offering of
securities in the category of trust units of the Real Estate Investment Trust (REIT) to investors in accordance
with the Notification Tor Jor. 49/2012 and registration of all trust units in the Securities Exchange (“SET”).

After receiving the proceeds from trust offering as well as the loan proceeds and deposits for rental
and service, the Trust has invested such proceeds in the main assets of the Trust, and sought for commercial
benefits from such assets by renting/leasing areas in such assets and providing services related to the
rental or lease of properties. For the procurement of benefits the Company has assigned or appointed
WHA Corporation Public Company Limited as a property manager to seek commercial benefits and manage
the main invested assets under the policy and the governance of the REIT manager. Such assigcnment or
appointment is in accordance with the Trust Deed and other relevant laws and regulation of the SEC Office.
Procurement of commercial benefits of the Trust’s main assets shall be under the control and supervision
of the Trustee, Kasikorn Asset Management Company Limited, in order to ensure that the operation of the
Company and the property manager are in accordance with the conditions specified in the Agreements
appointing the REIT manager and the property manager as well as the rules and conditions described in
the Trust Act B.E. 2550 and all other relevant notifications of the SEC Office and SET. In this regard, the
REIT shall not operate in such a manner that the REIT will be used in the operation; for examples, a hotel
business or a hospital business. In addition, the REIT shall not lease any immovable assets of the Trust to
any person(s) whom the REIT has reason to believe that such person(s) will use the immovable assets in
a business that is contrary to public morals or is unlawful.
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1.3 List of the First 10 Trust Unit Holders As at the Closing Date of the Share Register
Book (30 December 2024)

Trust Unit Holding

Trust Unit Holders Number of the Units Proportion
(Approximate %)

WHA Corporation Public Company Limited 520,351,885 15.00
Social Security Office 465,895,144 13.43
Muang Thai Life Assurance Public Company Limited 175,399,466 5.06
Government Pension Fund 140,660,052 4.05
Krungthai-AXA Life Insurance Public Company Limited 130,718,105 3.77
Allianz Ayudhya Assurance Public Company Limited 127,823,524 3.68
Southeast Life Insurance Public Company Limited 102,898,282 2.97
EZEbIT:EI::RING Property and Infrastructure Income Plus 99,913,660 088
Bangkok Life Assurance Public Company Limited 93,207,000 2.69
Government Savings Bank 91,902,616 2.65
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2. Trustee

2.1. General Information

Name

Kasikorn Asset Management Company Limited

Location of Head Office

400/22 KASIKORN Bank Building, 6™ and 12" Floor
Phaholyothin Road Samsen Nai Sub-District,
Phayathai District Bangkok 10400

Type of Business

Asset management company and trustee

Telephone No.

0-2673-3999

Fax

0-2673-3900

Homepage

www.kasikornasset.com




2.2. Roles and responsibilities of the Trustee

The Trustee has duty to manage the Trust with integrity and prudence as a professional with expertise
by providing fair treatment to the trust unitholders and for the best interests of the trust unitholders,
and in accordance with the relevant laws, the Trust Deed, the objectives of establishment of the Trust,
and the resolution of a meeting of the trust unitholders as well as additional obligations specified in the
statement to the trust unitholders (if any).

For performance of its duties, the Trustee shall omit to do any act which is in conflict with the interest
of the Trust, regardless of whether such doing is for interest of the Trustee or others, except in the case
where the Trustee demands remuneration for his performance as the Trustee or in the case where the
Trustee is able to demonstrate that it has fairly and sufficiently managed the Trust as well as disclosed
related information to the trust unitholders in advance. And the trust unitholders who acknowledge the
information have no objection. In this regard, disclosure of the said information and objection shall be in
accordance with relevant rules and notifications of SEC and the SEC office.

Duties of the Trustee under scope of roles and responsibilities as specified in the Trust Deed are
as follows;

(1) Monitor, supervise and manage the REIT manager in managing the Trust and assets in compliance
with the Trust deed and relevant regulations.

(2)  Report to the SEC Office in the case where the property manager takes certain actions or fails to
take certain actions that will negatively affect the Trust or fails to comply with duties as specified
in the agreement and relevant regulations as well as prevent and provide remedy for any damages
which may incur to the Trust as it may deem appropriate.

(3)  Attend every meeting of Trust unitholders. In the case where a resolution of a meeting of trust
unitholders is needed, the Trustee must response to questions and give an opinion in relation to
the operation whether it complies with the Trust Deed and relevant regulations or not. The Trustee
shall object and notify trust unitholders if the operation is not according to the Trust Deed and
relevant regulations.

(4)  Manage and operate the Trust as necessary to prevent or cease any damages to the benefits of
the Trust and trust unitholders as a whole. In the event that the REIT manager cannot perform his
duties, the Trustee has the power to appoint a new REIT manager.

(5)  Give an opinion regarding the performance of the REIT manager in the annual report of the Trust in
which the REIT manager has the duty to prepare such report to trust unitholders. In this regard, the
Trustee shall provide his opinion on whether the performance of the REIT manager is in accordance
with terms and conditions as specified in the Trust Deed and other relevant laws, regulations and
notifications or not.

More details of scope of roles and responsibilities of the Trustee can be found in the Trust Deed.

2.3 Fee for performing duties as Trustee

The Trustee is entitled to receive a remuneration at a rate not exceeding 0.75% per annum (exclusive of

value added tax, specific business tax or any other similar tax) of the net asset value of the Trust
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3. Structure of the Trust

Structure of the Trust can be depicted in the diagram below.

Trust Unitholders

Other
GROUP investosr
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Distribution Investment
REIT Manager
WHA Real Estate Managemant Manage the Monitor the
Trust Trust Trustee
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According to the structure of the Trust, the Trustee, acting on behalf of the Trust, will invest in properties
for benefits of the trust unitholders. Also, the Trustee shall manage and supervise the management of the Trust
as well as monitor the investment and disclosure of the Trust’s information in accordance with the Trust Deed
and other relevant laws.

The Company, as the REIT manager, is responsible for managing the Trust and assets of the Trust under
the scope of roles and responsibilities as specified in the Trust deed and the Agreement Appointing the REIT
Manager such as managing business operation of the Trust which includes formulating policy, investment
strategy, acquiring and disposing assets, borrowing and creating any lien on the assets of the Trust, entering
into agreements, budgeting, reporting, investor public relations, controlling operation of the Trust and using the
capital of the Trust to invest in main assets for benefits of the holders of trust units. Additionally, the Company
will acquire benefits from the Trust’s main assets by leasing such assets and provide services relating to rental,
and distribute benefits deriving from such income to the holders of trust units.

As for the property management, the Company has appointed WHA Corporation as the property manager
to manage immovable properties of the Trust such as managing marketing and procurement of tenants, being
responsible for minor repair or maintenance, paying property tax, procuring adequate and appropriate insurance
coverage, and preparing accounting record of revenue and expenses from rental and service provision under

policy and supervision of the Company which is the REIT Manager.
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4. REIT Manager

4.1 Information of the REIT manager

The Company, as the REIT manager, is responsible for managing the Trust and assets of the Trust under the

scope of roles and responsibilities as specified in the Trust deed and the Agreement appointing REIT Manager.

Its scope of roles and responsibilities are such as managing the Trust’s business operation including formulating

policy, investment strategy, acquiring and disposing assets, borrowing and creating any lien on the assets of

the Trust, entering into agreements, budgeting, reporting, investor public relations, controlling operation and

utilization of capital to invest in the main assets for benefits of the holders of the Trust units. Additionally, the

Company will acquire benefits from the Trust’s main assets by leasing such asset and provide services relating to

rental. The REIT manager will distribute benefits derived from the main assets to the holders of the Trust units.

4.2 Background and nature of business of the Company

The Company is a limited company registered in Thailand on 23 April 2014 and has registered and paid-up

capital of Baht 10,000,000. The Key information of the Company can be summarized as follow.

Name
Registration No.
Date of Incorporation

Address

Website

Registered Capital

Nature and scope of business
operation

Major shareholder
(proportion of shareholding)

List of Directors

Authorized Directors

Accounting period

WHA Real Estate Management Company Limited
0115557007350
23 April 2014

777 WHA TOWER, 22™ Floor, Room 2206, Moo 13,

Debaratna Road (Bangna-Trad) KM.7, Bang Kaeo, Bang Phli, Samutprakarn.
Telephone number: 02-753-3159

Fax number: 02-753-3527

www.whareit.com

Baht 10,000,000
(Consisting of 100,000 common shares at par value of 100 per share)

Act as the REIT manager for investment in properties.

WHA Corporation Public Company Limited (99.99%)

(1) Ms. Jareeporn Jarukornsakul (Chairman)
(2) Mr. Somsak Boonchoyruengchai (Director)
(8) Mr. Somsak Pratomsrimek (Independent Director)

Ms. Jareeporn Jarukornsakul and Mr. Somsak Boonchoyruengchai
co-sign and affix the Company’s seal.

1 January — 31 December
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4.3 Shareholding structure of the REIT manager

As of 31 December 2024, the company has the Top 10 shareholders as follow.

Name of shareholders # of shares # of share to total paid-up shares (%)
WHA Corporation Public Company Limited 99,997 99.997%
Ms. Chatchamol Anantaprayoon 1 0.001%
Ms. Jareeporn Jarukornsakul 1 0.001%
Mr. Somsak Boonchoyruengchai 1 0.001%
Total 100,000 100.000%

4.4 Directors and Executives

Management structure of the Company as the REIT manager is comprised of board of directors and exec-
utive officers which can be seen in structure of the management as follow:

Authorized directors

(1) Ms. Jareeporn Jarukornsakul Board of the Directors \

(2) Mr. Somsak Boonchoyruengchai

Independent Director
(8) Mr. Somsak Pratomsrimek

Chief Executive Officer
Mr.Suppasit Sitthasate’

Accounting and Operational Investor Relation and . Compliance and
. Assets Operation .
Support Department Business Development Risk Management
Senior Manager / Manager Senior Manager/ Manager Senior Manager Manager/ Acting Manage Assistant Manager
Miss Anakkasuda Singwongsa Miss Nareemeth Kittikhuntanasan’® Miss Nawanrinee Mr. Chaiwat Mankongdee’ Miss Boontharika Pongsiri’®
Miss Chutamas Adulyarattanapan MIES /AT MERERUMES Soonviniswong Miss Nawanrinee Mr.Saksit Ungdaeng
Mr. Nipat Payungitsombat Soonviniswong”f’
Main Responsibilities Main Responsibilities Main Responsibilities Main Responsibilities Main Responsibilities
To prepare the financial To formulate strategies - To formulate strategies - To formulate strategies To formulate strategies
statement and financial and policies by the and plan as specified by and plan as specified by as per strategies
and operating results Board of Directors and e caaeibiecor e cacbleco specified by the Board
report and to hold to procure commercial e 'm'plement’ ass‘et asseF CREE ' of Directors and ex-
. . ) operation for benefit - Monitor the operation of . .
unitholder meeting and benefits and manage amine the Company’s
rt all ti . " tpl d procurement from the property manager int | trol d
support all operation !nves meln p?n an RERERiES - ENEE e |r.1 ernal control an
information disclosure - Budget management of expense. risk management and
and respond unitholder revenue. investment. as well as
complaints. audit performance of
the REIT Manager and

Property Manager.

Remark:
" Appointed to the Chief Executive office since 22 March 2024

2 Resigned from the Senior manager - Investor Relation and Business Development since 31 October 2024

” Appointed to the Manager - Investor Relation and Business Development since 2 May 2024

" Resigned from the Manager - Assets Operation since 24 September 2024

> Appointed to the Acting Manager — Assets Operation since 13 September 2024

’* Resigned from the Assistant Manager - Compliance and Risk Management since 1 June 2024

* Appointed to the Assistant Manager — Compliance and Risk Management since 1 September 2024
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4.4,

1 Board of Directors

Ms. Jareeporn Jarukornsakul

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Education :

Doctor of Philosophy, honoris causa (Occupational Health and Safety), Mahidol University

The Honorary Doctorate Degree of Arts in Entrepreneurship, Bangkok University

Honorary Degree of Doctorof Business Administration, Ramkhamhaeng University

Honorary Doctor Degree of Business Administration in Logistics and Supply Chain, Suan Sunandha
Rajabhat University

Doctor of Business Administration, Western University

The Honorary Ph. D. Degree, Logistics and Supply Chain Management, Christian University

Master’s degree, Business Administration, Bangkok University

Bachelor’s degree, Public Health, Mahidol University

Training :

Subsidiary Governance Program Class (SGP) Course ,Class 6/2023, Thai Institude of Derectors
Wellness & Healthcare Business Opportunity for Executives Program (WHB) Class 1/2021, ASEAN Institute
for Health Development, Mahidol University

Director Leadership Certification Program (DLCP) Class 0/2021, Thai Institute of Directors

Role of Chairman Program (RCP) Class 46/2020, Thai Institute of Directors

Corporate Governance for Capital Market Intermediaries Program (CGI) Class 17/2016, Thai Institute of
Directors

The National Defense Program Class 60/2017, Thailand National Defense College

The Senior Executive Program in Energy Literacy for a Sustainable Future Class 9/2017, Thailand Energy
Academy

Director Accreditation Program (DAP) Class 210/2015, Thai Institute of Directors

The Senior Executives Program in Justice Administration Class 20/2015, National Justice Academy,
Office of Courts of Justice

Executive Leadership Program Class 18/2014, Capital Market Academy

Director Certification Program (DCP) Class 94/2012, Thai Institute of Directors

Bank’s preparation for compliance with the Personal Data Protection Act (PDPA) and Cyber Security
Act, Baker & McKenzie and PWC Thailand

Cyber Resillence Leadership. Tone from the Top 2020,Bank of Thailand in collaboration with Securities
and Exchange Commission and Office of Insurance Commission

Cyber Armor : Capital Market Board Awaremess about Cybersecurity and intelligence Threats Assess-
ment, Securities and Exchange Commission

Work Experiences:

Position in WHA Corporation Public Company Limited

Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors

Chairman of the Executive Committee

Chairman of the Corporate Governance and Sustainable Development Committee
Member of Nomination and Remuneration Committee

Member of Risk Management Committee

Group Chief Executive Officer

Acting Chief Operation Officer

Authorized Director
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Directorship in Subsidiaries of WHA Corporation Public Company Limited

2018 - Present

2023 - Aug 2024
Mar 2024 - Present

2021 - Present
2019 - Present
2016 - Present
2015 - Present

2013 - Present
2006 - Present

2003 - Present
2019 - 2021
2018 - 2020
2003 - 2020

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Chairman of the Executive Committee
Chief Executive Officer

Director

Director

Chairman of the Board of Directors
Chairman of the Board of Directors

Director

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Director

Director
Director
Director

Director

WHA Industrial Development Public
Company Limited

Mobillix Co.,Ltd.

WHA Digital Co., Ltd.

WHA Real Estate Management Co.,Ltd.
WHA Daiwa Logistics Property Co.,Ltd.
WHA Venture Holding Co.,Ltd.

WHA KPN Alliance Co.,Ltd.
Warehouse Asia Alliance Co.,Ltd.

WHA Alliance Co.,Ltd.

WHA-JD Alliance Co.,Ltd.

WHA Corporation (Hong Kong) Co.,Ltd.
WHA International Indonesia Co.,Ltd.

Directorship in Associated Companies of WHA Corporation Public Company Limited

2023 - Present
2023 - Present
2021 - Present
2021 - Present
2020 - Present
2016 - Present

Director
Director
Director
Director
Director

Director

WHA KW TTA Co.,Ltd.

WHA KW 4 Co.,Ltd.

WHA KW 2 Co., Ltd.

WHA KW 3 Co., Ltd.

WHA KW Alliance Co., Ltd.
Central WHA Alliance Co., Ltd.

Directorships in Subsidiaries of WHA Industrial Development Public Company Limited

Dec 2024 - Present

2021 - Present

2019 - Present
2018 - Present
2018 - Present
2017 - Present

2017 - Present

2016 - Present

2016 - Present
2015 - Present
2015 - Present

Director

Director

Director
Chairman of the Board of Directors
Chairman of the Board of Directors

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Director

Director

Director
Director

Director

WHA Industrial Zone Thanh Hoa JSC

Wei Hua Guo Tai (Sanya) Business Consulting
Co. Ltd.

WHA Industrial Development 2 (SG) Co., Ltd.
WHA Industrial REIT Management Co., Ltd.
WHA Industrial Estate Rayong Co., Ltd.

WHA Industrial Zone Nghe An Joint Stock
Company

WHA Industrial Management Services
Vietnam Co., Ltd.

WHA Industrial Development International
Co.,Ltd.

WHA Industrial Development (SG) Pte. Ltd.
WHA Connect Co., Ltd
WHA Eastern Industrial Estate Co., Ltd.
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2015 - Present

2015 - Present

2015 - Present
2015 - Present
2015 - Present
2015 - Present

2015 - Present

2015 - Present
2015 - Present

2015 - Present
2015 - Present

2015 - Present

2020 - 2022
2015 - 2020

Vice Chairman of
the Board of Directors

Director

Director
Director
Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Eastern Seaboard Industrial Estate (Rayong)
Co., Ltd.

WHA Eastern Seaboard Industrial Estate Co.,
Ltd.

WHA Saraburi Industrial Land Co., Ltd.
WHA Rayong Industrial Land Co., Ltd.
WHA Eastern Pipeline Services Co., Ltd.

WHA Industrial Development International
(BVI) Pte. Ltd.

WHA Industrial Development Engineering
Co., Ltd.

The Park Residence Co., Ltd.

WHA Industrial Development International
(SG) Pte. Ltd.

WHA Rayong 36 Co., Ltd.

Eastern Seaboard Property and Marina
Services Co., Ltd.

WHA Eastern Seaboard Industrial Estate 4
Co., Ltd.

WHA TUS Co., Ltd.

WHA Industrial Development International
(Cayman) Co., Ltd.

Directorship in Subsidiaries of WHA Utilities and Power Public Company Limited

2024 - Present
2024 - Present
2024 - Present

2024 - Present
2023 - Present

2023 - Present

2023 - Present

2022 - Present

2021 - Present
2019 - Present

2018 - Present

Chairman of the Board of Directors
Chairman of the Board of Directors

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Chairman of the Board of Directors
Directors

Chairman of the Board of Directors
Directors

Chairman of the Board of Directors
Directors

Chairman of the Board of Directors
Directors

Directors

Chairman of the Board of Directors
Directors
Chairman of the Board of Directors
Directors

WHAUP Solar 1 Co., Ltd.
WHAUP Solar 2 Co.,Ltd..
WHAUP Solar 3 Co.,Ltd.

WHAUP Solar 4 Co., Ltd.
WHAUP (SG) 5 PTE. Limited

WHAUP (SG) 4 PTE. Ltd.

WHA Future Energy Co.,Ltd.

WHAUP (SG) 3 PTE. Limited

WHAUP Asia Reclamation Water Co.,Ltd.
WHAUP (SG) 2 DR PTE. LTD.

WHAUP Nghe An Joint Stock Company
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2018 - Present

2017 - Present

2017 - Present

2017 - Present

2015 - Present

2015 - Present

2015 - Present

2018 - 2021

2013 - 2020
2013 - 2020
2013 - 2020
2013 - 2020

Chairman of the Board of Directors
Directors

Chairman of the Board of Directors
Directors

Chairman of the Board of Directors
Directors

Chairman of the Board of Directors
Directors

Chairman of the Board of Directors
Directors

Chairman of the Board of Directors
Directors

Chairman of the Board of Directors
Directors

Chairman of the Board of Directors
Directors

Director
Director
Director

Director

WHA Solar Co.,Ltd.

WHAUP (SG) 1 PTE. Limited

WHAUP (SG) 2 PTE. Limited

WHAUP International Co.,Ltd.

WHA Water Co.,Ltd.

WHA Energy Co.,Ltd.

WHA Energy 2 Co.,Ltd.

WHA Chonburi Clean Energy Co.,Ltd.

WHA Gunkul Green Solar Roof 1 Co.,Ltd.
WHA Gunkul Green Solar Roof 3 Co.,Ltd.
WHA Gunkul Green Solar Roof 6 Co.,Ltd.
WHA Gunkul Green Soar Roof 17 Co.,Ltd.

Directorship in Associated Companies of WHA Utilities and Power Public Company Limited

2018 - 2021 Chairman of the Board of Directors  Eastern Seaboard Clean Energy Co.,Ltd.

2018 - 2021 Chairman of the Board of Directors ~ Chonburi Clean Energy Co.,Ltd.

2019 - 2020 Director Duong River Surface Water Plant Joint Stock
Company

2018 - 2020 Director Gulf JP NLL Co.,Ltd.

2018 - 2020 Director Gulf Solar Co.,Ltd.

2018 - 2020 Director Gulf Solar TS1 Co.,Ltd.

2018 - 2020 Director Gulf Solar TS2 Co., Ltd.

2018 - 2020 Director Gulf TS1 Co.,Ltd.

2018 - 2020 Director Gulf TS3 Co.,Ltd.

2017 - 2020 Director WHA Eastern Seaboard NGD4 Co.,Ltd.

2016 - 2020 Director WHA Eastern Seaboard NGD2 Co.,Ltd.

2015 - 2020 Director B.Grimm Power (WHA) 1 Co.,Ltd.

2015 - 2020 Director Gulf WHA MT Natural Gas Distribution
Co.,Ltd.

2015 - 2020 Director Gulf Solar BV Co.,Ltd.

2015 - 2020 Director Gulf Solar KKS Co.,Ltd.

2015 - 2020 Director Gulf TS2 Co.,Ltd.

2015 - 2020 Director Gulf VTP Co.,Ltd.

2015 - 2020 Director Gulf NLL2 Co.,Ltd.
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2018 - 2020
2018 - 2020
2018 - 2019
2015 - 2019

Chairman of the Board of Directors
Chairman of the Board of Directors
Director

Director

Rayong Clean Energy Co.,Ltd.
Glow Hemaraj wind Co.,Ltd.
GEHCO-One Co,, Ltd.

Houay Ho Thai Co., Ltd.

Directorship in Other Listed Companies

May 2024 - Present Executive Committee

2023 - Present

2022 - Present
2023 - May 2024

2022 - May 2024

2022 - 2023

2022 - Present

2018 - Present

2016 - Present

2015 - 2018

Member of Nomination,
Compensation and Corporate

Governance Committee
Director

Member of the Risk Oversight
Committee

Member of the Technology
Committee

Member of the Corporate Social
Responsibility Committee
Independent Director,

Member of Governanace and
Nomination Committee

Chairman of the Board of Directors’

Chairman of the Executive
Committee
Chairman of the Risk

Chairman of the Risk Management
Committee

Nomination Remuneration
Committee

Vice Chairman of the Board

of Directors

Vice Chairman of the Executive
Committee

SCB X Public Company Limited

The Siam Cement Public Company
Limited

WHA Utilities and Power Public Company
Limited

Position in Other Companies / Organizations

Jan - May 2024

2020 - May 2024
2012 - Present
1993 - Present
2020 - 2022

Member of the Risk Oversight
Committee

Director

Director

Director

Director / Member of

the Technology

Committee Member of Corporate
Social Responsibility Committee

SCB 10X Co., Ltd.

WHA Holding Co., Ltd.
S and J Holding Co., Ltd.

Siam Commercial Bank Public Company
Limited
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Mr. Somsak Boonchoyruengchai

Director

Education :

s Master’s degree, Accounting, Faculty of Commerce and Accountancy, Chulalongkorn University
« Bachelor’s degree, Accounting, Faculty of Business Administration, Rajamangala University of Technology

Training :

+ Director Accreditation Program (DAP) Class 94/2012, Thai Institute of Directors

» TFRS 15 Program (Income from Contract), TFRS 16 Program (Leases), TFRS 9 Program (Classification and
Measurement), TFRS 9 (Impairment), and TFRS 9 Program (Hedge Accounting), Federation of Accounting
Professions

Work Experiences :

Position in WHA Corporation Public Company Limited

« Executive Committee Member

+  Member of Corporate Governance and Sustainable Development Committee

« Group Chief Accounting Office

+ Person Taking the Highest Responsibility in Accounting (Person Supervising Accounting)

Directorship in Subsidiaries of WHA Corporation Public Company Limited

Mar 2024 — Present Director Mobillix Co.,Ltd.

2023 - Present Director WHA Digital Venture Co.,Ltd.

2022 - Present Executive Committee WHA Industrial Development Public Company
Limited

2019 - Aug 2024 Chief Accounting Officer

2019 - Present Director WHA KPN Alliance Co.,Ltd.

2019 - Present Director WHA Real Estate Management Co.,Ltd.

2018 - Present Director WHA Venture Holding Co., Ltd.

2018 - Present Director WHA Alliance Co., Ltd.

2019 - Present Director Warehouse Asia Alliance Co.,Ltd.

Directorship in Associated Companies of WHA Corporation Public Company Limited

2019 - Present Director Central WHA Alliance Co.,Ltd.

Directorship in Subsidiaries of WHA Industrial Development Public Company Limited

Dec 2024 - Present Director WHA Industrial Zone Thanh Hoa Joint Stock
Company

2021 - Present Director WHA Connect Co.,Ltd.

2018 - Present Director WHA Industrial Building Co.,Ltd.

2017 - Present Director WHA Industrial Zone Nghe An Joint Stock
Company
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Position in Other Companies / Organizations

2018 - Present Director S and J Holding Co., Ltd.
2004 - Present Director Honesty Auditing Co., Ltd.
1995 - Present Director / Managing Partner A. Rungroj Furniture Limited Partnership

Mr. Somsak Pratomsrimek

Independent Director

Education :

« Doctor of Accounting Chulalongkorn University, 2006
+ Master of Accounting Thammasat University, 1995
« Bachelor of Arts (Accounting), Burapha University, 1993

Training :
+ Diploma of Thai Financial Reporting Standards (DipTFR)
+ Professional Accountant Certificate (PAC)

Experiences and Expertises

» Certified Public Accountant (CPA) Thailand
» Expertise in Thai Financial Reporting Standards (TFRS)
« Consultant in TFRS for Auditors

Director / Executive For Listed Companies :

Aug 2024 - Present Independent Director and WHA Utilities and Power Public Company
Audit Committee Limited

May 2022 - Present Independent Director and Ornsirin Holding Public Company Limited
Chairman of the Audit
Committee

Director / Executive For Non-Listed Companies :

Sep 2023 - Present Independent Director WHA Real Esatate Management Co.,Ltd.
April 2023 - Present Independent Director and LTM Holding Co.,Ltd.
Chairman of the Audit
Committee
Aug 2017 - Present Managing Director CPA Solution Co.,Ltd.. (TFRS Training services)
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Positions in Other Organizations / Special Activities :

Apr 2023 - Present
Nov 2021 - Present

2019 - 2022

Jan 2017 - Nov 2017

Jan 2015 - Sep 2016
Sep 2011 - Aug 2019
2020 - Present

2010 - Present

Debt Instrument Screening
Consultant

TFRS Consultant for auditors
A Member of the 4" - 6"
Thailand Accounting Cases
Competition Working Group.
A Member of the Feasibility
study working group
establishing the SRT Asset
Co.,Ltd. (a subsidiary of SRT
that focus on the real estate
management activities for SRT
Financial Advisor

Academic Councilor

Federation of Accounting
Professions Journal

TFRS Instructor

Beyond Securities PLC.

Proud in Pro Co.,Ltd.

Thailand Federation of Accounting Professions

Ministrry of Transportation

National Housing Authority (NHA)
Suvarnabhumi Technology University

Research Exaaminer of the Federation of
Accounting

Various inhouse training sessions related to
TFRS. The training sessions were arranged for
Bank of Thailand (BOT), Department of
Business Development (DBD), Expressway
Authority of Thailand (EXAT), Industrial Estate
Authority of Thailand, Tobacco Factory,
Aeronautical Radio, Audit firms: DELOITTE, EY,
KPMG, Karin Audit, Siam Truth Audit, Bunchikij,
Fraser Thailand (FPT), Ch. Karn Chang (CK),
Nawarat Patanakarn (NWR) , Charn Issara (Cl),
Bangkok Chain Hospital (BCH), Lotus’s, etc

Past Work Experiences :

Dec 2022 - May 2023

Jul 2020 - Feb 2022

Jul 2020 - Feb 2022

Jul 2020 - Oct 2021

Apr 2012 - Apr 2021

2017 - 2018

Aug 2017 - July 2018
1999 - 2012

Board of Director and
Audit Committee

Chairman of the Board of
Director and Audit Committee

Independent Director and
Audit Committee

Independent Director and
Audit Committee

Independent Director,
Audit Committee, and
Risk Management Committee

Visiting Lecturer

Executive Director

Lecture

Takuni PLC.

Asia Wealth Asset Management Co.,Ltd.

Asia Wealth Secruities Co.,Ltd.

Asia Wealth Holding Co.,Ltd.

WHA Corporation PLC. (WHA)

Faculty of Commerce and Accountancy,
Chulalongkorn University

Bangkok Mass Transit Authority (BMTA)

Faculty of Business Administration,
Burapha University
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4.4.2 Executives

Mr. Suppasit Sitthasate'

Chief Executive
Officer

Master of Economics
(Major : Financial
Economics)

National Institute of
Development
Administration

Experience related to investment or

properties management

1. Study the feasibility and analyze
the marketing plan. To plan new
real estate development Including
contacting customers in business
development.

2. Analyze the returns and costs of
Investing in Real Estate Business
Development.

3. Organize Financial Structures and
coordinate with relevant agencies for
incvesting in new assets of the REIT.

Ms. Anakkasuda
Singwongsa

Senior Accounting
and Operations
Support Manager

Bachelor of Business
Administration
(Accounting),
Thammasart University

Prepare the financial statement and
financial and operating results report and
to hold unitholder meeting and support
all operation.

Ms.Chuthamas
Adulyarattanapan

Accountng and
Operations Support
Manager

Bachelor of Business
Administration (B.A.) in
Accounting
Srinakharinwirot
University

Prepare the financial statement and
financial and operating results report and
support all operation

Ms. Athika Mahasuwan?

Investor Relation and
Business
Development
Manager

Master of Business
Administration
(Finance)

Assumption University

1. Feasibility Study and Analysis on
investment return in new potential
assets for Trust which include
investing in domestic and international
assets.

2. Financial Structure and coordinate
with the related parties for funding
such as capital increase and lending.

Mr. Nipat
Payungitsombat

Investor Relation and
Business
Development
Manager

1. Master of Science
(Investment
Management)
University of
Reading,United
Kingdom

2. Master of Science
(Real Estate)
Business ,
Thammasat
University

1. Feasibility study and analysis on
investment return in a potential real
estate

2. Analysis and evaluate the price of
financial assets such as bonds,
common stocks and various trusts
,both domestically and abroad
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Experience related to investment or

properties management

Ms. Nawanrinee Senior Asset Man- 1. Master of Science 1. Managed and procured tenants for
Sooviniswong agement Manager Faculty property office buildings, retail shops and
manager of residences in Bangkok and other
Architecture provinces , prepared annual budget
Facility Management 2. and Managed Supervised the property
Branch, manager
Chulalongkorn 3. Managed and procured highest
University benefits from invested assets and
2. Master of Business controlled revenue budget
Administration,
Ramkamhaeng
University
Mr.Saksit Ungdang® Assistant Compliance  Bachelor of Business Formulate strategies as per policies
and risk management  Administration (B.BA.) specified by the Board of Directors and
Manager Managerial Accounting,  examine the company’s internal control
Kasetsart Univiersit and risk management releated to

management and investment . As well as
audit performance of the REIT Manager
and Property Manange

' Appointed to the Chief Executive Officer since 22 March 2024
* Appointed to the Investor Relation and Business Development Manager since 2 May 2024

Appointed to the Assistant Compliance and Risk Management Manager since 1 June 2024

The directors and executives who have the authority to manage the company in their capacity as REIT
managers shall not be subject to prohibitions as prescribed by the Securities and Exchange Commission’s
regulations regarding the prohibition characteristics of personnel in the securities market business. In this regard, the
details of the scope of authority, duties, and responsibilities of the board of directors, independent directors, and
chief executive officer, as well as relevant departments, shall be in accordance with the operational manual and
internal control system of REIT managers as approved by the Office of the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Scope of Authority, Duties, and Responsibilities of the Board of REIT Managers

The board of directors of the company plays a pivotal role in providing approval for the vision, mission,
strategy, direction, and policies of the company concerning its operations and business plans, both in the short
and long term. It sets financial policies, risk management, and overall organizational image. It oversees, examines,
and evaluates the company’s operations and the performance of employees in efficiently carrying out their duties
as REIT managers in accordance with the policies and business plans set forth under the terms of appointment
of the REIT manager, the Trust deed, prospectus, objectives and regulations of the company, resolutions of the
board of directors, resolutions of unitholders’ meetings, and relevant laws, considering the maximum benefits
of the REIT and unitholders as significant.

The board of directors also has a significant role in supervising compliance with the requirements regarding
operations and disclosure of information of listings that may have conflicts of interest, according to the criteria
of the Office of the Securities and Exchange Commission, the Stock Exchange of Thailand, and relevant
regulatory bodies.

(@) Fulfill duties in accordance with the laws, objectives, and regulations of the company, as well as

resolutions of the company’s board of directors and resolutions of unitholders’ meetings, with honesty
and integrity (Duty of Loyalty), diligence (Duty of Care), accountability, and ethics.
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Responsible for managing the business operations of the company and the Trust under the supervision
of the Trustee, including establishing long-term business strategies and plans, organizing appropriate
organizational structures, and supervising business operation policies, such as Trust investments, Trust
performance, annual budget drafts, and Trust business plans. Evaluate risk factors that may affect the
Trust’s benefits, operations of various departments, and consider listings that may cause conflicts of
interest, among others.
Implement necessary monitoring and provide advice to ensure that the work of managers and employees
aligns with the relevant contracts and regulations regarding the duties of REIT managers.
Continuously monitor various aspects of the company’s operations as a REIT manager, providing
necessary advice to ensure that the company’s operations align with set goals and can effectively
address any challenges or issues that arise.
Consider, monitor, and provide necessary recommendations to ensure that the company has an
effective internal control system and operational system in place as a REIT manager.
Consider, monitor, and undertake necessary actions to review and improve important policies and
plans related to the duties of REIT managers to keep them up-to-date and suitable for the business
environment consistently.
Evaluate, monitor, and assess the performance of the company’s management, including providing
necessary recommendations to ensure that managers fulfill their duties competently and comply with
the criteria and requirements in relevant contracts for the benefit of the Trust.
The board of directors may assign one or more directors or other individuals to perform any operation
on behalf of the board. However, such delegated authority shall not include actions that may result
in conflicts of interest or benefits contrary to those of the Trust.
Provide approval regarding investment decisions and management of the Trust to ensure compliance
with the law, the Trust deed, and relevant announcements or regulations, including:
(1) Investing or acquiring additional assets or leasehold rights
Investing in additional assets or leasehold rights and deriving benefits from such assets or leasehold
rights, the company’s REIT manager shall ensure that the Board of Directors has reviewed and
ensured that the company, acting as the REIT manager, has examined relevant information and
evaluated the property value by a qualified property appraiser, and has also complied with
the investment criteria in assets according to the regulations of the Office of the Securities and
Exchange Commission as follows:
(1.1) In terms of content, the transaction shall be characterized as follows:

(1.1.1) In accordance with the Trust deed and relevant laws.

(1.1.2) For the best interests of the Trust.

(1.1.3) Reasonable and fair pricing.

(1.1.4) Transaction expenses charged to the Trust (if any) are at a fair and reasonable rate.
(1.1.5) Parties with special interests in the transaction do not participate in the

decision-making process for the transaction.
(1.2) Regarding the approval system, it must pass the following procedures:
(1.2.1) In cases where individuals conducting transactions on behalf of the company are

not related parties to the company:

(1.2.1.1) Approval is obtained from the Trustee that the transaction complies with
the Trust deed and relevant laws.

(1.2.1.2) In cases where the value of acquired principal assets is less than 10%
(ten) of the total asset value of the Trust, approval must be obtained
from the CEO.

(1.2.1.3) In cases where the value of acquired principal assets is 10 percent (ten)
or more of the total asset value of the Trust, approval must be obtained
from the Board of Directors.
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(1.2.1.4) In cases where the value of acquired principal assets is 30 percent (thirty)
or more of the total asset value of the Trust, approval must be obtained
by a resolution of the unitholders’ meeting with at least 3 out of 4 (three
out of four) votes in favor from the total votes of attending unitholders
entitled to vote.

(1.2.2) In cases where individuals conducting transactions on behalf of the company are
related parties to the company:

(1.2.2.1) Approval is obtained from the Trustee that the transaction complies with
the Trust deed and relevant laws.

(1.2.2.2) In cases where the transaction value is less than or equal to 1 (one)
million baht or less than 0.03 percent (zero point zero three) of the net
asset value of the Trust, approval must be obtained from the CEO.

(1.2.2.3) In cases where the transaction value exceeds 1 (one) million baht or
0.03% (zero point zero three) of the net asset value of the Trust, approval
must be obtained from the Board of Directors.

(1.2.2.4) In cases where the transaction value is 20 (twenty) million baht or more,
or exceeds 3 percent (three) of the net asset value of the Trust, approval
must be obtained by a resolution of the unitholders’ meeting with at
least 3 out of 4 (three out of four) votes in favor from the total votes of
attending unitholders entitled to vote.

(1.2.2.5) The company is required to engage financial advisors to provide
opinions on the analysis of the property data mentioned above, in
order to facilitate investment decisions and ensure accurate disclosure
of information.

In cases where a resolution must be sought at the unitholders” meeting,
the invitation letter to convene the meeting must include the financial
advisor’s opinion supporting the proposed resolution.

(2) Procurement and contracting activities of the company are conducted in accordance with
the guidelines specified in the operations manual and internal control system.

Consideration and approval regarding the sale of Trust assets and equipment must be in accordance

with the law, Trust deed, and relevant announcements or provisions. The company’s board of directors

must review and ensure that the company, acting as the REIT manager, has undertaken the following
actions:

(1) Prior to the sale of existing assets, an assessment of the asset’s value must be arranged and
disclosed, with the details of the transaction and approval system as specified above.

(2) The sale of existing assets must adhere to the stipulated provisions regarding the sale of said
assets in (j) and must also be a case of necessity and appropriateness, approved by the company’s
board of directors.

(2.1)  Selling existing assets before the expiration of 1 (one) year from the date the Trust acquired
the assets.

(2.2) Selling existing assets back to their original owner, provided that the Trust acquired
the ownership rights to said assets.
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4.4.3 Independent Directors

(1

2

In the selection of independent directors of the company, acting as the manager of the Trust, independent

directors must possess at least the following qualifications:

(1.1) Holding shares not exceeding 1 percent (one) of the total voting shares in the company, including
major shareholders, subsidiaries, affiliates, or persons who may have conflicting interests (including
related persons as defined in Section 258 of the Securities and Exchange Act).

(1.2) Not being or having been involved in the management as a director, employee, consultant receiving
regular salaries from the company, subsidiaries, affiliates, major shareholders, or persons who may
have conflicting interests, without any benefits or interests for a period of at least 2 (two) years.

(1.3) Not being a person related by blood or registered according to the law as a parent, spouse, sibling,
child, or spouse of a child of other directors, executives, major shareholders, or persons proposed to
be directors, executives, or controlling persons of the company or its subsidiaries.

(1.4) Not having or ever having any business relationships, financial interests, or benefits, directly or indirectly,
in the financial and managerial aspects of the company, subsidiaries, affiliates, major shareholders, or
persons who may have conflicting interests that may obstruct independent judgment.

(1.5) Not being or ever being an auditor of the company, subsidiaries, affiliates, major shareholders, or
persons who may have conflicting interests, and not being a shareholder with material interest or
control power or a shareholder of the accounting office which audits the accounts of the company,
its subsidiaries, affiliates, major shareholders, or persons who may have conflicting interests, unless
exempted from such characteristics for a period of at least 2 (two) years.

(1.6) Not being or ever being a professional service provider, including legal or financial advisors, receiving
remuneration exceeding 2 (two) million baht per year from the company, subsidiaries, affiliates, major
shareholders, or persons who may have conflicting interests, and not being a shareholder with material
interest, controlling power, or ownership of the professional service provider for a period of at least
2 (two) years, unless exempted from such characteristics for a period of at least 2 (two) years.

(1.7) Not being appointed as a representative of the directors of the company, major shareholders, or
affiliated shareholders.

(1.8) Not engaging in similar businesses that compete directly with the company or its subsidiaries, not being
a shareholder with material interest in partnership shares, and not being a co-manager, employee,
regular consultant receiving salaries, or holding shares exceeding 1 percent (one) of the total voting
shares of another company, which engages in businesses competing directly with the company or its
subsidiaries.

(1.9) Willing to exercise independent judgment and, when necessary for the benefit of the company, willing
to oppose actions of other directors or management.

(1.10) Able to attend meetings of the company’s board of directors to make decisions on significant activities
of the company.

(1.11) Possessing suitable knowledge and experience or having high potential and acceptability.

(1.12) Not being listed in the blacklist of persons deemed unfit to be directors according to the regulations
of the securities market.

(1.13) Not having been adjudged guilty of violations under securities laws, capital market business laws,
securities and exchange business laws, commercial banking laws, insurance laws, anti-money laundering
laws, or similar financial business laws, whether Thai laws or foreign laws, by the competent authority,
especially for unfair actions related to securities trading or fraudulent or deceptive management.

(1.14) Not having any other characteristics that would prevent providing independent opinions on the company’s
operations.

Scope, Duties, and Responsibilities of Independent Directors

(2.1) Consider, monitor, and provide necessary advice to the company to ensure accurate, complete, reliable,
and timely processes and disclosures in the financial reports of the company and the Trust.
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(2.2) Consider, monitor, and provide necessary advice to the company to ensure appropriate internal control
systems and operational systems in performing duties as REIT managers.

(2.3) Review and provide opinions on interrelated transactions or transactions that may conflict with the
interests of the Trust, ensuring compliance with relevant laws and regulations, to ensure that such
transactions are reasonable and maximize benefits for the Trust.

(2.4) Perform other tasks assigned by the company’s board of directors for the benefit of the Trust.

(2.5) Regularly review and acknowledge for necessary advice on the following matters:

(2.5.1) Interrelated transactions or transactions that may conflict with the interests of the trust.
(2.5.2) Weaknesses and areas requiring improvement related to internal control systems and operational
systems in performing duties as the REIT manager and reporting progress in addressing these

issues.

4.4.4 Board Meetings

(1)

2

40

Meeting Composition and Voting Procedures

In every company board meeting, the quorum must consist of directors present in person exceeding more

than half of the total number of directors. A unanimous vote of the board shall require the affirmative votes

of more than half of the total number of directors attending the meeting. In the voting process at the board
meeting, directors who have a conflict of interest, whether direct or indirect, shall not have the right to vote
and must abstain from the meeting during the consideration of such agenda items.

During company board meetings, the chairperson shall provide an opportunity for all directors to express

their opinions openly before voting, and summarize the resolutions of each agenda item. The company

shall prepare written minutes of the board meetings, keeping the original copy together with the meeting
invitations and meeting documents, and maintain copies in electronic format for the convenience of directors
and related parties for review.

The company’s board of directors must hold regular board meetings every quarter, at least once per quarter,

to allow the board of directors to review, acknowledge, and approve necessary actions for the company’s

operations, especially in the following matters:

(2.1) The Company and the Trust Performance

(2.2) The draft annual budget of the Trust, business plan, and business strategies formulated by the company
as the REIT manager, with the cooperation and support of the asset managers.

(2.3) Progress in executing the business plan and marketing plan set forth by the company, with collaboration
and support from the assets management in providing benefits to the Trust, including issues and
obstacles encountered and approaches to addressing such issues and obstacles.

(2.4) Measures to mitigate risks or any other issues that may impact the operation of the Trust.

(2.5) Performance of various departments within the company, including the Audit and Compliance
Department, Asset Management Department, and Accounting and Operations Support Department,
including issues and obstacles encountered in operations and approaches to addressing such issues
and obstacles.

(2.6) Procedures for handling significant disputes and complaints regarding the operation of the Trust, which
must be considered by the company’s board of directors.

(2.7) Weaknesses in the internal control system and operational systems of the company in the role of
REIT manager, including approaches and progress in remediation.

(2.8) Interrelated transactions and any transactions that may cause conflicts of interest with the Trust’s
operations.

(2.9) Any matters that require consideration and approval at the Trust unitholders’ meeting.

(2.10) Other significant matters related to the company’s operations and the Trust.
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(3) Conflict of Interest

The company’s board of directors acknowledges the importance of conflicts of interest and the potential for
associated interests related to the Trust and the company with relevant individuals. Therefore, the company’s
board of directors has a policy regarding preventing conflicts of interest, adhering to the principle that all
business activities and operations of the company must be conducted solely for the maximum benefit of
the Trust. They should avoid actions that may cause conflicts of interest. Furthermore, both the board of
directors and the company’s management have a responsibility to report their interests and the interests of
related persons that are related to the management of the Trust or the company, in order to inform about
the relationships and interests of those involved in the aforementioned matters.

For individuals related to the board of directors and management of the company, in this context, the term

“related person” shall have the meaning as defined in Section 89/1 of the Securities and Exchange Act,

which includes:

(@) In the case of natural persons, “related person” shall mean spouses, children, or adopted children
who have not yet reached legal age of the directors and executives.

(b) In the case of juristic persons, “related person” shall mean juristic persons of which the spouses,
children, or adopted children who have not yet reached legal age of the directors and executives
have control.

The term “control” shall mean having one of the following characteristics:

(1) Holding shares with voting rights in the juristic person exceeding 50 percent (fifty ) of the total
voting rights, or

(2)  Having the power to control the majority of votes at the shareholders’ meeting of a juristic
person, whether directly or indirectly, or

(3) Having the power to appoint or dismiss directors, either directly or indirectly, of at least half of
all directors.

4.5 Compensation for REIT Manager

Throughout the term of the appointment contract as the REIT manager, the REIT manager shall receive a
fee for performing the duties of being the REIT manager, at a rate not exceeding 0.75% of the Net Asset Value
(NAV) of the REIT per annum, as of the last business day of the preceding month before the payment of the
compensation specified in the REIT manager appointment contract.

Acquisition Fee of Trust Assets

In the case of assets related to the REIT manager: not exceeding 0.75 percent of the value of the acquired

Trust assets.

In the case of other assets: not exceeding 1.00 percent of the value of the acquired Trust assets.

Disposal fee of Trust Assets

Not exceeding 0.50 percent of the value of the disposed Trust assets.
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4.6 Policies or strategies in managing the Trust as entrusted by the Trustee
4.6.1 Duties and Responsibilities of the Company as the REIT Manager

The company, as the REIT manager, has primary duties and responsibilities for managing the Trust, including
investing in the Trust assets and overseeing the duties of assets executives. In its capacity as the REIT manager,
the company shall act under the supervision of the Trustee, with the following duties and responsibilities:

General Duties

a) The REIT manager shall perform duties with professionalism, prudence, integrity, and trustworthiness
for the overall benefit of the unit holders, in accordance with the Trust deed, the REIT manager
appointment contract, relevant laws, as well as additional obligations specified in disclosure documents
for the purpose of offering units to investors and resolutions of unit holders. Additionally, the REIT
manager shall not engage in any activities that conflict with or oppose the interests of unit holders
and investors collectively.

b) The REIT manager shall adhere to business conduct principles as follows:

(1) Ensure sufficient funds for business operations and potential liabilities arising from duties as the
REIT manager on a continuous basis.

(2) Disclose, provide opinions, or provide important and relevant information sufficiently clear and not
misleading for investors’” investment decisions, ensuring the communication of such information
does not distort or misrepresent its significance.

(3) Not misuse information obtained from REIT manager duties for personal benefit or to cause harm
or impact on the overall benefits of the Trust.

(4) Carry out duties with due diligence to avoid conflicts of interest, and in cases of conflicts of
interest, ensure that investors receive fair and appropriate treatment.

To prevent conflicts of interest between the Trust and the REIT manager that may arise in the

performance of duties under the REIT manager appointment contract, the REIT manager agrees

to the following actions:

(4.1) No other benefits shall conflict with the best interests of the Trust, and if there are cases
that may cause conflicts of interest, it must be demonstrated that there are mechanisms
to ensure that REIT management is carried out for the best interests of the Trust and unit
holders collectively.

(4.2) In cases where the REIT manager manages other Trusts, the principal assets of the Trust
proposed for unit offering must not be of the same type as the principal assets of other
Trusts, unless there are changes to appoint a new REIT manager due to the inability of the
former REIT manager to maintain the fund as declared by the announcement no. 29/2555
of the SEC.

(5) Comply with the Securities and Exchange Act, the Trust Act, and other laws related to Trust
operations, as well as ethics and professional standards prescribed by associations related to
the securities business or organizations related to the securities business recognized by the SEC,
and not support, order, or cooperate with any person in violating such laws or provisions.

(6) The REIT manager shall cooperate in the performance of duties of the Trustee or the SEC, including
disclosing information that may significantly impact Trust management or other information that
should be disclosed, especially including the following duties:

(6.1) Prepare and maintain data and documentary evidence related to management, internal
control, and disclosure of information about the Trust. When the Trustee wishes to verify
management in any matter, the REIT manager must cooperate in providing data and
documentary evidence, including allowing inspection at the location of the assets subject
to the Trustee’s request, to ensure the Trustee can verify with confidence that the REIT
manager does not violate laws or provisions of the Trust deed or fail to safeguard the
interests of unit holders.
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o)

d)

k)

(6.2) Before the establishment of the Trust, the REIT manager has a duty to send information and
documents related to the structuring of the Trust, leasing methods, revenue and expense
collection methods that can be collected from the Trust, contracts between the Trust and
companies or individuals, etc., to allow the Trustee to efficiently plan supervision, internal
control, and disclosure of information related to the Trust.

The REIT manager must comply with the criteria for managing the fund of the mutual fund company

as stipulated in the Mutual Fund Management Announcement, in accordance with relevant laws.

In transactions related to assets for the Trust, the REIT manager must adhere to the following criteria:

(1) Ensure that the sale, transfer, or entering into contracts related to assets for the Trust is carried
out correctly and enforceably under the law.

(2) Ensure that investments in assets for the Trust are appropriate, including at least the following:

(2.1) Assess their own readiness to manage investments in the respective assets before being
appointed as the REIT manager or before making additional investments in said assets for
the Trust, as the case may be.

(2.2) Analyze, study the possibilities, and conduct due diligence on the assets according to
criteria and practices in managing funds and Trusts investing in assets as announced by the
SEC or the Office of the SEC, including risk assessments related to various risks that may
arise from investing in such assets, and provide risk management guidelines accordingly,
including risks related to development or construction of assets (if any), such as risks arising
from construction delays and inability to derive benefits from the assets.

The REIT manager must convene unit holders” meetings as stipulated in the Trust deed.
The REIT manager is responsible for increasing the Trust’s capital and reducing the Trust’s paid-up
capital as necessary and as specified in the Trust deed.
When there is a change in the REIT manager, the new REIT manager must proceed and cooperate as
necessary to ensure smooth transition of duties to the incoming personnel.
In cases where consultants are appointed to provide advice or recommendations regarding investments
in assets and assets management, the REIT manager must adhere to the following criteria:
(1) Ensure that consultants disclose any conflicts of interest in the matters under consideration.
(2) Do not allow consultants with conflicts of interest in the matters under consideration, directly
or indirectly, to participate in such matters.

The REIT manager must prepare the company’s financial statements in accordance with accounting
practices as prescribed by the Investment Management Association, with approval from the SEC
office, and submit such financial statements to the SEC office within three (3) months from the end
of the accounting period. The financial statements must be audited and commented on by an auditor
approved by the SEC office.
Prepare and disclose information about the Trust, including information according to Section 56 and
Section 57 of the Securities and Exchange Act, as well as other information as specified in the Trust
deed and the REIT manager appointment contract.
Prepare and disclose information about the Trust to unit holders, the SEC office, the stock exchange,
and relevant parties according to the Securities and Exchange Act, other related laws, and the Trust
deed, including submitting annual reports of the Trust and sending notices of annual general meetings
to unit holders. Additionally, the REIT manager is responsible for explaining and providing documents
or evidence related to actions or waivers of actions as ordered or requested by the SEC office.
Avoid situations that may raise doubts about the independence of the REIT manager, especially
in selecting or trading assets or securities, and providing any services to the Trust, where the REIT
manager, directors, executives, managers of the REIT manager, and REIT manager staff are prohibited
from receiving brokerage fees or soft commissions or any other benefits from the original assets
owner, sponsor, securities seller, service provider, or brokerage company as income or benefits for
themselves.
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m) The REIT manager is responsible for disclosing the income and benefits received by the REIT manager
and related persons from the company or persons dealing with the Trust in the statement of
transactions, meeting invitations for various transactions’ approval, and annual reports of the Trust
for investors and Trustees to consider the independence of the REIT manager in conducting various
transactions for the Trust.

Income or benefits that must be disclosed for consideration include creditors, debtors, guarantors, or
guaranteed parties, shareholding relationships, major shareholders, or members of the same group of

managers, transactions between them, and various expenses paid to each other.

Responsibilities in managing the Trust

(@)

(b)

(@

(d)

44

To efficiently oversee and manage the Trust in accordance with the law, regulations, and the appointment

agreement of the REIT manager, while also maintaining the benefits of the Trust and unit holders overall.

The REIT manager is responsible for ensuring a quality system is in place and capable of fully supporting its

responsibilities.

Manage the Trust in accordance with the provisions of the Trust deed and safeguard the interests of unit

holders.

Conduct thorough due diligence on assets investments to be undertaken by the Trust, ensuring completeness

and prudence. This includes documenting and storing information and evidence related to due diligence

and investment decisions for the Trust’s records. Additionally, due diligence on assets investments must

adhere to the practices in managing funds and Trusts investing in assets.

Undertake various operations to ensure that the financial management and economic value of the Trust’s

assets are professionally managed and for the benefit of unit holders, such as

(1) Define investment strategies and risk management policies that are effective and in line with the obligations
specified in the Trust deed.

(2) Define borrowing limits and leverage on the Trust’s assets and control not to exceed the limits set forth
in the Trust deed.

(3) Invest in assets that aligns with the investment objectives of the Trust.

(4) Manage the cash flow of the Trust.

(5) Consider distributions of returns to the Trust.

(6) Ensure insurance coverage to protect against potential damage to the Trust’s assets, as well as liability

insurance for third parties, within adequate and appropriate limits. This coverage should be sufficient to
restore the Trust’s assets to their original condition, enabling the Trust to continue generating benefits
as before and receiving no less compensation than before.

(7) Develop plans to manage the tenant mix and service users.

(8) Supervise tenants and service users to comply with lease and service agreements.

(9) Monitor compliance with regulations applicable to the assets in which the Trust invests.

(10) Manage and administer leased space, such as controlling the release of space, negotiating with tenants
on lease agreements, reviewing rental rates or prices, terminating or renewing lease agreements, and so
forth.

(11)Evaluate past leasing performance to determine conditions for leasing and service, prepare suitable
lease and service agreements, and assess the accuracy of rent and expense collection records to record
doubtful debts, write off bad debts, or record recoverable bad debts (in cases where collections are
made after bad debts are written off).

(12) Establish a system to ensure the security of the Trust’s invested properties, such as fire alarm systems,
communication systems, and emergency response management.
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(13) Establish policies and work plans for the management, maintenance, and improvement of the buildings
and structures in which the Trust has invested.

(e) Ensure that the Trust holds valid rights in the assets or leases that the Trust will invest in, including
all agreements entered into by the Trust, which are accurately prepared in accordance with the law
and are enforceable under the conditions specified in such agreements.

(f) Establish a system to manage the collection of all documents related to the operations of the Trust,
including unit holder meeting invitations, data listings, invitations, Trust annual reports, financial
statements, and accompanying documents of the Trust’s accounting records and compliance with
various regulations applicable to the Trust and invested assets. Ensure that the information and
documents are accurately, completely, and sufficiently maintained and retrievable for a period of
at least five (5) years from the date of preparation of such documents or information.

(g) Prepare and disclose financial statements and any other information related to the Trust accurately

and completely and disclose within the timeframe stipulated in the Trust deed, including the
regulations of the securities market.
In this regard, the REIT manager, as well as the committee and executives responsible for preparing
and disclosing information about the Trust, must jointly ensure that there is an audit system that
ensures that the information disclosed in the data listings, invitations, unit holder meeting invitations,
advertising materials, or other published documents has been reviewed for accuracy, completeness,
and no significant omissions, and provides sufficient information for investment decisions and
complies with applicable laws, regulations, and securities market regulations.

(h) Ensure that unit holders receive accurate, complete, and sufficient information before exercising
voting rights to approve various matters, and receive such information in advance of the timeframe
specified in the Trust deed and securities market regulations.

(i) Ensure that the Trust operates in compliance with laws or guidelines issued by government agencies
or other regulatory organizations related to the operations of the Trust, including securities market
regulations.

(j) Distribute returns to unit holders of not less than ninety percent (90) of the net profit adjusted for
the accounting period, which includes the net profit referenced to the Trust’s cash status (which may
deduct repayment of principal from borrowing and other liabilities due by considering cash status,
if any). Payments shall be made within ninety (90) days from the end of the accounting period or
the accounting period in which the returns are paid, as the case may be. However, in the event that
the Trust still has accumulated losses, no returns shall be paid to the unit holders of the Trust.

Responsibilities delegated from the REIT manager to the Property Manager:
In cases where the REIT manager intends to delegate property management tasks to the Property Manager,
the REIT manager is responsible for meticulously selecting the Property Manager, as well as supervising and
reviewing their management activities adequately. This ensures that the appointed Property Manager possesses
the qualifications, knowledge, abilities, and experience in managing the assets of the Trust, while also overseeing
and monitoring the performance of the Property Manager’s duties. This is to ensure that the duties and
responsibilities are carried out in accordance with the provisions stipulated in the Trust deed, the Trust Act, as
well as relevant regulations, to uphold the best interests of unit holders and general investors. The following
actions must be taken:
(1) Selection of Property Managers:
Appointment of Property Managers as managers to manage the assets in which the Trust invests, such as
overseeing sales, marketing, and daily operations of the real estate. The REIT manager must ensure that at

least the following actions are taken:
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(@)

(0)

(d)

Evaluate and analyze the reputation and track record of past experiences of the Property Managers, in
terms of their ability to procure tenants, service users, debt collection, property maintenance within
the building, lease management systems, tenant service, and expenditure control, to prevent revenue
leakage, and to ensure that the internal control systems of the Property Managers are consistent with
the practices in managing the funds and Trusts investing in assets, as announced by the Office of the
Securities and Exchange Commission.

Consider the appropriateness of the compensation rate for the Property Managers, which must be set in
line with their competency levels in performing duties. The pricing should be reasonable when compared
to market prices.

Establish a mechanism to allow the Trust to change Property Managers in cases where the Property
Manager fails to comply with conditions or their management results are unsatisfactory.

Implement a system to regularly monitor, inspect, and evaluate the internal control systems of Property
Managers to ensure their effectiveness in preventing and detecting misconduct or non-compliant practices.
For example, require auditors of Property Managers to assess their internal control systems during audits
and report any weaknesses or deficiencies to the REIT Manager for further action.

In both cases, the REIT manager may consider specifying in the appointment contract that Property
Managers are liable for damages incurred by the Trust due to their negligence in performing their duties
within the established control systems.

In instances where the REIT manager discovers actions or omissions by the Property Manager that
undermine trust in their performance according to the appointment contract, the REIT manager must
terminate the appointment contract of said Property Manager. This enables the REIT manager to either
take over operations directly or select a new Property Manager to replace the former one.

Supervision of Property Manager’s Operations

The REIT manager is responsible for overseeing the management and operations of Property Managers to

ensure the best interests of the Trust and unitholders are maintained. This involves the following actions:

(a)

(b)

(0)

(e)

(9)

The REIT manager must prepare and approve the annual budget plan for the Trust, which details the
expected revenues and expenses for each month. This aims to avoid unnecessary expenses and sets
targets for Property Managers to manage income and expenses according to the established budget
plan.

The REIT manager must establish motivating conditions for Property Managers to attempt to increase
the value and yield for the Trust while reducing risks for unitholders.

The REIT manager must supervise and monitor Property Managers to ensure they operate in line with
the Trust’s management strategy and policies, aiming to increase income and reduce rental income
volatility. Property Managers must adhere to the established strategy.

The REIT manager must establish policies and procedures for acquiring new tenants by Property Managers,
including evaluating tenant selection criteria and planning tenant mix, and ensure that Property Managers
operate in line with these guidelines to limit annual income volatility.

The REIT manager must review or consider rental policies to ensure rental rates are appropriate for
the current market conditions and service offerings. Property Managers must operate in line with these
policies.

The REIT manager must inspect the expense control system for maintaining or repairing Property Managers’
equipment or buildings to assess the suitability of repairs or replacements, ensuring that expenses are
not wasted and genuinely benefit the Trust.

The REIT manager must assess the appropriateness of Property Managers’ procurement control systems
to ensure the Trust receives value for money, and expenses are not unreasonably charged to the Trust,
within the framework set out in the Trust deed and prospectus.
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(h) The REIT manager must monitor and control the collection of revenues by Property Managers to ensure
the Trust receives complete rental income.

(i) The REIT manager must ensure that Property Managers track and manage the accurate payment of
various taxes by tenants and service users as required by law.

() The REIT manager must analyze irregularities in the management practices of Property Managers and
randomly inspect their operations without prior notice.

(k) The REIT manager must monitor, inspect, and evaluate the internal control systems of Property Managers
regularly.

() The REIT manager must hold regular meetings with Property Managers to assess the Trust’s performance
and find appropriate solutions to any operational issues that arise.
Investment Decision-Making Process and Management of the Trust
In the future, if the Trust intends to invest in additional assets or lease rights and seeks benefits from
these investments, the company, acting as the REIT manager, will conduct operations in accordance
with the Trust’s investment policy as specified in the Trust deed.

4.7 Internal Control Systems and Operational Processes for Preventing or Managing

Conflicts of Interest
Division of Work and Responsibilities of Each Department in the REIT Manager

4.7.1 Segmentation Based on Job Details

The company was established with the objective of conducting REIT management business in accordance with
the Trust Act as its core business. The company divided its departments into four main divisions to ensure
that the duties of being the REIT manager are carried out in accordance with the Trust deed, the appointment
agreement of the REIT manager, resolutions of unitholders, and laws, as well as relevant regulations.

The departments and the scope of work and responsibilities of each department can be summarized as follows:
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Audit and Compliance

Risk Management
Department

Investor Relations and
Business Development
Department

Asset Management
Department

Accounting and
Operational Support
Department

Establish organizational
structures and operational
guidelines to maximize the
benefits of the Trust and unit
holders overall when conflicts
of interest arise.

Ensure that personnel
involved in Trust operations
possess suitable qualifications
for their respective roles and
comply with relevant laws.
Evaluate the performance and
conduct of personnel.
Review Trust operations to
ensure compliance with the
Trust deed and relevant laws,
providing assurance that the
Trust and involved individ-
uals are aware of any legal
changes.

Consider and approve special
or out-of-budget expenses.

Develop plans, strategies,
and execute operations
to procure benefits,
including overseeing
the management of the
Trust.

Establish competitive
strategies to achieve
targeted returns.

Plan the selection and
evaluate investment
plans in assets of the
Trust, including invest-
ments in other assets.
Ensure there are
processes for reviewing
or auditing assets data
the Trust intends to
invest in.

Research and analyze
the assets market condi-
tions to inform investment
decisions.

Select appraisers.
Manage investment-
related risks of the Trust.
Oversee policies and
borrowing arrangements
of the Trust (if applicable).
Communicate with and
manage unit holders.
Handle complaints and
dispute resolution.
Arrange for consulting or
expert advice as needed.
Prepare and disclose
information to regulatory
bodies, such as the
SEC, SET, Trustee, and
counterparties, as
stipulated in the Trust
deed, relevant laws,
regulations, or contracts,
including unit holder
meetings, annual reports,
and financial statements,
as well as information
regarding REIT managers
and the Trust.

Manage the liquidity of
the Trust.

» Actin the sale of assets.

Establish plans and
strategies and execute
operations to procure
benefits, including
overseeing the
management of the
Trust.

Develop strategic plans
to procure benefits from
assets.

Plan marketing strategies
and promote sales
through public relations.
Manage assets sales
activities.

Prepare revenue and
expense forecasts for
the Trust.

Monitor, supervise,
and review the work of
assets management
executives.

Ensure the proper use,
cleanliness, and security
of Trust assets.
Manage tenants and
service users.
Efficiently manage Trust
expenses.

Arrange for consultants
and experts with
relevant knowledge and
expertise.

Prepare financial
budgets and reports
regarding financial
status and operational
results.

Control, coordinate, and
oversee tasks assigned to
external service providers
(outsourced tasks), such
as preparing documents
for the registrar, unit
holders, and benefit
payments.

Control and manage
assets.

Organize the storage
of documents and
evidence related to the
Trust.

Provide support for
operational activities,
such as personnel
management, information
technology and computer
management, general
administration, and
procurement.
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4.7.2 Controlling of The Usage Internal Information

The System for Controlling the Trading of Employee Trust Units.

In accordance with the Corporate Governance Principles regarding company information disclosure and

transparency, and aligning with the Regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission, Thailand, WHA Real

Estate Management Co., Ltd., as the trust manager, establishes the following policy for controlling the trading

of trust units by company employees and for related disclosures:

1)

2)

3)

a)

This applies to the following individuals who may have access to inside information that could impact

the unit price: Directors and Executives of Trust managers and persons holding management positions

at the department manager level or above, or their equivalents, and related workers. Trading of trust

units will be suspended for a period of at least two weeks before the public disclosure of the REIT’s

financial statements. Trading will resume 24 hours after the information is made public.

Directors and Executives of the REIT manager are required to report their holdings and changes in trust

unit holdings directly to the SEC Office. Following SEC Announcement No. SorChor. 54/2018, dated

October 4, 2018, and effective January 1, 2019. This reporting duty also extends to holdings and changes

in trust unit holdings of persons with relationships with them as follows;

2.1) Spouse / cohabiting couple

2.2) Minor child

2.3) Legal entity in which the reporting person, spouse or cohabiting couple and minor children
collectively hold shares at an amount exceeding 30 percent of the total voting rights as the largest
shareholder(s) in such legal entity

Exemptions from Reporting

3.1) Obtaining trust units through a right offering: When trust units are offered to existing unitholders
in proportion to their current holdings (Rights Offering).

3.2) Acquiring trust units by inheritance

Reporting Periods

4.1) IPO Purchases: Within 7 business days from the closing date of the offering.

4.2) Other Transactions (buying, selling, transferring, or receiving a transfer): Within 3 business days
from the date of the transaction
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Details of Existing Assets invested by the Trust
(1) WHA Ladkrabang D.C.

e

Location Klong Sampravet, Ladkrabang, Bangkok

Freehold rights in land, 1 warehouse and office building including freehold right of the

Type of Investment : .
yp working system, tools and equipment.

Investment Date 15 December 2014 (Initial Investment (IPO))

(2) WHA Mega Losgistics Center Bangna-Trad Km.18

L

Location Bang Chalong, Bang Plee (Bang Plee Yai), Samutprakarn Province

Leasehold rights in land, freehold right in 7 warehouse and office buildings and roof area
Type of Investment including freehold right of the working system, tools and equipment with remaining leasehold
right of 16 years 7 months 4 days (from December 31, 2024)

Investment Date 15 December 2014 (Initial Investment (IPO))

(3) WHA Mega Losgistics Center Bangna-Trad Km.23 Project 1

B

Location Bang Saothong, Bang Plee (Bang Plee Yai), Samutprakarn Province

Freehold rights in land, 3 warehouse and office buildings and roof area including freehold

Type of Investment right of the working system, tools and equipment

Investment Date 15 December 2014 (Initial Investment (IPO))

(4) WHA Mega Logistics Center Chonlaharnpichit Km.4

e

Location Bang Pla, Bang Plee, Samutprakarn Province

Freehold rights in land, 5 warehouse and office buildings and roof area including freehold

U T right of the working system, tools and equipment

Investment Date 29 December 2015 (First Capital Increase)

(5) Mega Logistics Center Wangnoi 61

B

Location Bo Ta Lo, Wang Noi, Ayutthaya province

Leasehold rights in land, freehold rights in 5 warehouse and office buildings and roof area
Type of Investment including freehold right of the working system, tools and equipment with remaining leasehold
rights of 17 years 4 months (from December 31, 2024)

Investment Date 29 December 2015 (First Capital Increase)
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(6) WHA - Hitachi SIL / WHA Mega Logistics Center Saraburi

B

Location Nong Pla Mo, Nong Khae, Saraburi Province

Freehold rights in land, 3 warehouse and office buildings and roof area including freehold

Type of Investment right of the working system, tools and equipment

Investment Date 29 December 2015 (First Capital Increase)

(7)  WHA Mega Logistics Center Chonlaharnpichit Km.5

B

Location Bang Pla, Bang Plee, Samutprakarn Province

Leasehold right in land, freehold rights in 5 warehouse and office buildings roof area and
Type of Investment care parking area including freehold right of the working system, tools and equipment with
remaining leasehold rights of 18 years 3 months 1 day (from December 31, 2024)

Investment Date 7 December 2016 (Second Capital Increase)

(8) WHA Mega Logistics Center Ladkrabang

B

Location Klong Sampravet, Ladkrabang, Bangkok

Freehold rights in land, 8 warehouse and office buildings roof area and care parking area

QUESCHestnet including freehold right of the working system, tools and equipment

Investment Date 7 December 2016 (Second Capital Increase)

(9) Mega Logistics Center Bangna-Trad Km.19

B

Location Bang Chalong, Bang Plee, Samutprakarn Province

Leasehold right in land, freehold rights in 14 warehouse and office buildings including
Type of Investment freehold right of the working system, tools and equipment with remaining leasehold right
of 16 years 10 months 24 days (from December 31, 2024).

Investment Date Transfer from WHAPF and Third Additional Investment.

(10) WHA Mega Logistics Center Chonlaharnpichit Km.3 Project 1

T S

Location Bang Pla, Bang Plee, Samutprakarn Province

Leasehold right in land, freehold rights in warehouse and office building, roof area, car
park area from WHA Corporation including freehold right of the working system, tools and

Type of Investment equipment with remaining leasehold rights of 22 years 10 months 29 days (from December
31, 2024) with the promise of WHA Corporation that gives WHART Trust the right to extend
the lease for another 30 years.

Investment Date 29 November 2017 (Third Additional Investment)
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(11) WHA Mega Logistics Center Lum Luk Ka

B

Location

Lam Luk Ka, Lam Luk Ka District, Pathum Thani Province

Type of Investment

Freehold rights in land, factory office building cold room and car parking area including
freehold right of the working system, tools and equipment

Investment Date

29 November 2017 (Third Additional Investment)

(12) WHA General Zone Factory Rayong

B

Location

Amata City Industrial Estate, Map Yang Phon, Pluak Daeng, Rayong Province

Type of Investment

Freehold rights in land, factory and office building including freehold right of the working
system, tools and equipment

Investment Date

29 November 2017 (Third Additional Investment)

(13) Kao D.C.

B

Location

Don Hua Lo, Mueng Chonburi, Chonburi Province

Type of Investment

Freehold rights in land, 3 warehouse and office buildings including freehold right of the
working system, tools and equipment

Investment Date

29 November 2017 (Transfer from WHAPF)

(14) WHA Mega Logistics Center Panthong Chonburi

L

Location

Pan Thong Nong Kakha, Phan Tong, Chonburi

Type of Investment

Freehold rights in land, 4 warehouse buildings including freehold right of the working sys-
tem, tools and equipment

Investment Date

29 November 2017 (Transfer from WHAPF)

(15) WHA Freezone Factory Rayong

T S

Location

Amata City Industrial Estate, Map Yang Phon, Pluak Daeng, Rayong Province

Type of Investment

Freehold rights in land, 2 factory and office buildings including freehold right of the working
system, tools and equipment

Investment Date

29 November 2017 (Transfer from WHAPF)
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(16) WHA - DKSH Consumer Goods / WHA - Inthanon

B

Location

Sisa Chorakhe Yai, Bang Sao Thong (Bang Plee), Samutprakan Province

Type of Investment

Leasehold right in land, freehold rights in 1 warehouse and office buildings, 4 warehouse
buildings and 1 office building including freehold right of the working system, tools and
equipment with a remaining leasehold right of approximately 14 years, 1 month, and 6 days
(from December 31, 2024)."

Investment Date

29 November 2017 (Transfer from WHAPF)

(17) Sripetch D.C.

B

Location

Bang Chalong, Bang Plee (Bang Plee Yai), Samutprakarn Province

Type of Investment

Freehold rights in land, 2 warehouse buildings, air conditioning system including freehold
right of the working system, tools and equipment

Investment Date

29 November 2017 (Transfer from WHAPF)

(18) DKSH CG Bangpa-in

B

Location

Bang Pa-In Industrial Estate, Klong Chik, Bang Pa-In, Ayutthaya Province

Type of Investment

Freehold rights in land, warehouse and office building including freehold right of the working
system, tools and equipment

Investment Date

29 November 2017 (Transfer from WHAPF)

(19) WHA - DSGT Distribution Center Saraburi

B

Location

WHA Industrial Development Saraburi, Nong Pla Mo and Bua Loi, Nong Khae, Saraburi
Province

Type of Investment

Freehold rights in land, warehouse factory and office building including freehold right of the
working system, tools and equipment

Investment Date

29 November 2017 (Transfer from WHAPF)

(20) WHA Mega Logistics Center Rama Il Km.35

T S

Location

Bang Krachao, Amphoe Mueang Samut Sakhon, Samut Sakhon Province

Type of Investment

Leasehold rights in land, warehouse, factory office building, roof area and car park area
from WHA Corporation including freehold right of the working system, tools and equipment
with remaining leasehold rights of 23 years 11 months 3 days (from 31 December 2024)
with the promise of WHA Corporation that gives WHART Trust the right to extend the lease
for another 30 years.

Investment Date

4 December 2018 (Third Capital Increase)
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(21) DSGT Saraburi

B

Location Bo Ta Lo and Lam Ta Sao, Wang Noi, Ayutthaya province

Freehold rights in land, warehouse and office building including freehold right of the working

Type of Investment :
P system, tools and equipment

Investment Date 4 December 2018 (Third Capital Increase)

(22) WHA Central Mega Logistics Center Wangnoi 63 Project 1 and Project 2

B

Location Bo Ta Lo and Lam Ta Sao, Wang Noi, Ayutthaya province

Freehold rights in land, warehouse and office building including freehold right of the working

Type of Investment :
i system, tools and equipment

Investment Date 4 December 2018 (Third Capital Increase)

(23) WHA-KPN Mega Logistics Center Bangna-Trad Km.23 Project 2 (Building A,B)

B

Location Bang Saothong, Bang Saothong District, Samutprakarn Province

Leasehold rights in land, 2 warehouse, office buildings and roof area from WHA KPN Alli-
Type of Investment ance including freehold right of the working system, tools and equipment with remaining
leasehold rights of 19 years 3 days (from 31 December 2024)

Investment Date 4 December 2018 (Third Capital Increase)

(24) WHA Mega Logistics Center Chonlaharnpichit Km.3 Project 2

B

Location Bang Pla Subdistrict, Bang Sao Thong District, Samut Prakan Province

Freehold rights in land, 4 warehouse, factory and office buildings including freehold right

Type of Investment - ;
P of the working system, tools and equipment.

Investment Date 11 December 2019 (Fourth Capital Increase)

(25) WHA Roechling Factory

T S

Location Khao Khansong Subdistrict, Si Racha District, Chonburi Province

Freehold rights in land, warehouse, factory and office buildings including freehold right of

Type of Investment ) ’
P the working system, tools and equipment.

Investment Date 11 December 2019 (Fourth Capital Increase)
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(26) WHA DTS Draexlmier Automotive Systems

B

Location

Bo Win Subdistrict, Si Racha District, Chonburi Province

Type of Investment

Freehold rights in land, warehouse, factory and office building including freehold right of
the working system, tools and equipment.

Investment Date

11 December 2019 (Fourth Capital Increase)

(27) WHA-KPN Mega Logistics Center Bangna-Trad Km.23 Project 2 (Building C,E,H)

B

Location

Bang Sao Thong Subdistrict, Bang Sao Thong District, Samut Prakan Province

Type of Investment

Leasehold rights in land, 2 warehouse, factory and office buildings from WHA KPN Alliance
including freehold right of the working system, tools and equipment with remaining leasehold
rights of 19 years 3 days (from 31 December 2024)

Investment Date

11 December 2019 (Fourth Capital Increase)

(28) WHA Mega Logistics Center Chonlaharnpichit Km.3 (Unilever)

B

Location

Bang Pla Subdistrict, Bang Sao Thong District, Samut Prakan Province

Type of Investment

Leasehold rights in land, warehouse, factory, office building, roof area and car park area
from WHA Corporation including freehold right of the working system, tools and equipment
with remaining leasehold rights of 22 years 10 months 29 days (from 31 December 2024)
with the promise of WHA Corporation that gives WHART Trust the right to extend the lease
for another 30 years.

Investment Date

11 December 2019 (Fourth Capital Increase)

(29) WHA Mega Logistics Center Leamchabang Project 1 (Building A)

B

Location

Nong Kham SubDistrict, Sri Racha District, Chonburi Province

Type of Investment

Freehold rights in land, warehouse, factory and office building including freehold right of
the working system, tools and equipment

Investment Date

3 December 2020 (Fifth Capital Increase)

(30) WHA Mega Logistics Center Leamchabang Project 2

T S

Location

Bueng Sub-District, Sri Racha District, Chonburi Province

Type of Investment

Leasehold right in land, freehold rights in warehouse and office building including freehold
right of the working system, tools and equipment with remaining leasehold rights of 23 years
5 months 8 days (from 31 December 2024)

Investment Date

3 December 2020 (Fifth Capital Increase)

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 59



(31) WHA-KPN Mega Logistics Center Bangna-Trad Km.23 Project 2 (Building D,I,F,G)

B

Location Bang Sao Thong Subdistrict, Bang Sao Thong District, Samut Prakan Province

Leasehold rights in land, 4 warehouse, factory and office buildings from WHA KPN Alliance
Type of Investment including freehold right of the working system, tools and equipment with remaining leasehold
rights of 19 years 11 months 2 days (from 31 December 2024)

Investment Date 3 December 2020 (Fifth Capital Increase)

(32) WHA Mega Logistics Center Bangna-Trad Km.23 Project 3 (Building A)

B

Location Bang Sao Thong Subdistrict, Bang Sao Thong District, Samut Prakan Province

Leasehold rights in land, warehouse, factory and office building including freehold right
Type of Investment of the working system, tools and equipment with remaining leasehold rights of 26 years 4
months 28 days (from December 31, 2024)

Investment Date 2 December 2021 (Sixth Capital Increase)

(33) WHA Mega Logistics Center Wangnoi 62

B

Location Bo Ta Lo and Lam Ta Sao, Wang Noi, Ayutthaya province

Leasehold right in land, freehold rights in 3 warehouse, office buildings and roof area in-
Type of Investment cluding freehold right of the working system, tools and equipment with remaining leasehold
rights of 23 years 1 day (from December 31, 2024)

Investment Date 2 December 2021 (Sixth Capital Increase)

(34) WHA E-commerce Park

B

Location Bang Samuk Subdistrict, Bang pakong District, Chacheongsao Province

Leasehold rights in land, 2 warehouse and office buildings from WHA Venture Holding in-
cluding freehold right of the working system, tools and equipment with remaining leasehold
rights of 27 years 1 day (from 31 December 2024) with the promise of WHA Venture Holding
that gives WHART Trust the right to extend the lease for another 30 years.

Type of Investment

Investment Date 2 December 2021 (Sixth Capital Increase)

(35) WHA Mega Logistics Center Bangna-Trad Km.23 Project 3 (Building B, C, D)

S

Location Bang Sao Thong Subdistrict, Bang Sao Thong District, Samut Prakan Province

Leasehold rights in land, 3 warehouse and office buildings including freehold right of the
Type of Investment working system, tools and equipment with remaining leasehold rights of 26 years 4 months
28 day (from December 31, 2024)

Investment Date 1 December 2022 (Seventh Capital Increase)
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(36) WHA Signode Factory

B

Location

Khao Khan Song Subdistrict Si Racha District Chonburi Province

Type of Investment

Leasehold rights in land, warehouse, factory and office building including freehold right of
the working system, tools and equipment with remaining leasehold rights of 27 years 11
months (from 31 December 2024) with the promise of WHA Corporation that gives WHART
Trust the right to extend the lease for another 30 years.

Investment Date

1 December 2022 (Seventh Capital Increase)

(37) WHA Mega Logistics Center Theparak Km.21 (Building I, J)

B

Location

Bang Sao Thong Subdistrict, Bang Sao Thong District, Samut Prakan Province

Type of Investment

Leasehold rights in land, 2 warehouse and office buildings including freehold right of the
working system, tools and equipment with remaining leasehold rights of 26 years 4 months
24 day (from 31 December 2024)

Investment Date

1 December 2022 (Seventh Capital Increase)

(38) WHA KPN Mega Logistics Center Bangna-Trad Km.23 Project 2 (Building J, K, L, M, N)

B

Location

Bang Sao Thong Subdistrict, Bang Sao Thong District, Samut Prakan Province

Type of Investment

Leasehold rights in land, 5 warehouse, factory and office buildings including freehold right
of the working system, tools and equipment with remaining leasehold rights of 19 years 3
day (from 31 December 2024)

Investment Date

1 December 2022 (Seventh Capital Increase)

(39) WHA Central Mega Logistics Center Wangnoi 63 Project 3 and Project 4

B

Location

Bo Ta Lo and Lam Ta Sao, Wang Noi, Ayutthaya province

Type of Investment

Leasehold rights in land, 3 warehouse distribution center and office buildings including
freehold right of the working system, tools and equipment with remaining leasehold rights
of 27 years 11 months (from 31 December 2024) with the promise of Central WHA Alliance
that gives WHART Trust the right to extend the lease for another 30 years.

Investment Date

1 December 2022 (Seventh Capital Increase)
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(40) WHA Mega Logistics Center Theparak Km.21 (Building B, E, F, G, H)

B

Location

Bang Sao Thong Subdistrict, Bang Sao Thong District, Samut Prakan Province

Type of Investment

Leasehold rights in land, 4 warehouse and office buildings and solar roof area on building B
including freehold right of the working system, tools and equipment with remaining leasehold
rights of 26 years 4 months 24 days (from 31 December 2024)

Investment Date

25 December 2023 (Eighth Capital Increase)

(41) WHA Mega Logistics Center Leamchabang Project 1 (Building B1, B2, B3, B4)

B

Location

Nong Kham SubDistrict, Sri Racha District, Chonburi Province

Type of Investment

Freehold rights in land, warehouse and office building including freehold right of the working
system, tools and equipment

Investment Date

25 December 2023 (Eighth Capital Increase)

(42) WHA Mega Logistics Center Bangna-Trad Km.23 Project 3 (Building E, F, G)

B

Location

Bang Sao Thong Subdistrict, Bang Sao Thong District, Samut Prakan Province

Type of Investment

Leasehold rights in land, 3 warehouse, factory and office buildings including freehold right
of the working system, tools and equipment with remaining leasehold rights of 26 years 4
months 28 days (from 31 December 2024)

Investment Date

25 December 2023 (Eighth Capital Increase)
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5.2 Value Obtained for the Appraisal Report or Latest Review of the Appraisal Report

5.2.1 Appraisal Value of the Main Investment Assets

The price from the valuation report of the main investment assets of the trust according to the details
specified in Section 5.1, Investment Assets of the Trust.

Methods of Appraisal

As to the full appraisal and review of the appraisal reports for the year 2023, Edmund Tie & Company
(Thailand) Co., Ltd., Graphic A Appraisal Co., Ltd., Siam City Appraisal Co., Ltd., Asian Engineering Valuation
Co., Ltd. and Bangkok Property Appraisal Co., Ltd. have considered using the Income Approach as their
appraisal criterion for preparing the appraisal reports.

Summary of Key Assumptions
The key assumptions used by the appraiser for appraising the value of WHART’s assets are summarized

as follows.

(1) Projects around Bangna-Trad Area

Valuation Period Freehold Leasehold

Occupancy Rate 80% - 95% 95% - 100%

Market Rental Ra.te (Baht per square' meter per Baht 170 - 245 Baht 162 - 400

month) as of the investment date which shall be or sauare meter per or sauare meter per

used for calculation after the termination of the lease persq P persq P
month month

agreement

Increase by 3% every year
Increase by 10% every 3
years

Increase by 10% every 3
years

Growth of Market Rental Rate

Discount Rate 9.00% 9.00% —9.50%

Capitalization Rate 7.00% -

(2) Projects around Chonburi - Rayong

Valuation Period Freehold Leasehold
Occupancy Rate 90% - 100% 95%
Market Rental Rate (Baht per square meter per
month) as of the investment date which shall be Baht 160 - 260 per square  Baht 175 - 205 per square
used for calculation after the termination of the lease ~ meter per month meter per month
agreement
0, O,

Growth of Market Rental Rate Increase by 10% every 3 Increase by 10% every 3

years years
Discount Rate 9.00% 9.00% - 9.50%
Capitalization Rate 7.00% -
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(3) Projects around Ayutthaya-Saraburi Area

Valuation Period

Freehold

Leasehold

Occupancy Rate

70% - 95%

90% - 95%

Market Rental Rate (Baht per square meter per
month) as of the investment date which shall be
used for calculation after the termination of the lease
agreement

Baht 125 - 450
per square meter per
month

Baht 155 - 175
per square meter per
month

Growth of Market Rental Rate

Increase by 10% every 3
years

Increase by 10% every 3
years

Discount Rate

9.00%

9.25% - 9.50%

Capitalization Rate

7.00%

(4) Projects around Rama Il, Samut Sakhon

Valuation Period

Leasehold

Occupancy Rate

60% - 100%

Market Rental Rate (Baht per square meter per
month) as of the investment date which shall be
used for calculation after the termination of the lease
agreement

Baht 305 per square meter per month

Growth of Market Rental Rate

Increase by 10% every 3 years

Discount Rate

9.50%

Remark: * 1) The total expenses for repair and maintenance of the assets is 2-1% of total revenue. Reserves for
asset improvement is 1% of total revenue. Property Manager Fee is the amount as specified throughout
the period of the Agreement Appointed the Property Manager.

2)  The assumption of WHA Ladkrabang D.C. with respect to the rental of the State Railway of Thailand
for the installation of electricity poles is reference in the latest lease agreement which states the

rental shall increase by 5% every year.
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6 Detail of the Assets Invested or Sold in the Accounting Period

6.1 Detail of Investment in Inmovable Properties or Leasehold Rights

- None -

6.2 Details of the Disposal of the Assets and Leasehold Rights

- None -

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 65



7.

Investment Policy of the Trust

Investment Policy

In the case that WHART will additionally invest in freehold or leasehold assets and generate the return

from them, as the REIT manager, it has to operate in accordance with the investment policy following guidelines
indicated in the Trust deed;

7.1

Investment in immovable properties

The Trust will focus on the investment in freehold or leasehold rights (including rights through sub-leasing

in real estate) and properties that are parts of the real estate. The type of the assets which the trust can invest

will be as follows;

66

(1

Built-to-Suit warehouse, distribution center, and factory in all areas including but not limited to In-

dustrial estates, industrial zones or industrial parks established, invested and/or developed by WHA

Industrial Development Public Company Limited and/or its subsidiaries (such areas collectively called

“WHA Industrial Development Areas”);

General warehouse, distribution center and factory which are not located in the following areas;

(a) industrial estates, industrial zones or industrial parks established, invested and/or developed by
WHA Industrial Development (such areas collectively called “Industrial Areas”);

(b) areas developed by WHA Industrial Development and/or its subsidiaries located next to the
Industrial Areas, or, if not next to the Industrial Areas i.e. the areas which are close to or in the
vicinity of Industrial Areas, to accommodate or support the business or expansion of ready-built
business in the Industrial Areas of WHA Industrial Development; and

(c) the areas other than (a) and (b) which WHA Industrial Development and/or its subsidiaries has sole
ownership or possession rights or joint ownership or possession rights between WHA Industrial
Development and subsidiaries of WHA Industrial Development before 13 October 2015 and still
holds the ownership or possession at all times. The said areas can be operated for industrial
business under the zoning laws. In this regard, the said areas shall be in the documents disclosed
to the trustee and REIT Manager.

Roof area and any part of building area according to the criteria in Clause (1) and (2)
Self-Storage
Other real estate properties associated with supporting and encouraging the real estate development
and rental business. And other properties which may promote investment in Trust properties, as well
as other properties mentioned previously.
The real estate in which the Trust invests must undergo a comprehensive valuation process, includ-
ing a thorough examination of title documents. This process serves the public interest by disclosing
information to investors and must be completed within six (6) months prior to the day of submitting
the application for the sale of Trust units. The valuation is conducted by at least two (2) appraisers,
as determined by the REIT manager and financial advisors (if any). These appraisers assess whether
the valuation is suitable and capable of reliably reflecting the true value of the property. Additionally,
the valuation must adhere to the following characteristics:

6.1 The appraiser must be approved by the Securities and Exchange Commission.

6.2 In the case of real estate investments in foreign countries, the appraiser may be an individual
listed in the official records or supervised by the regulatory authorities of the country where
the real estate is located. If such records are unavailable, the appraiser must meet one of the
following criteria:

6.2.1 A professional in the field of property valuation with widely recognized expertise in the
country where the real estate is located.
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6.2.2 An individual with standards of operation and systems for property valuation that are
internationally recognized.

6.2.3 An appraiser with an extensive global network (international firm).
The acquired real estate must have a total value of no less than five hundred million (500) Thai Baht.
In cases where the amount to be raised through the sale of Trust units falls below the desired invest-
ment value in real estate, the REIT manager is required to demonstrate the availability of alternative
funding sources for the acquisition of the specified real estate.
In instances where investments are made to acquire ownership rights through sub-leasing real estate,
buildings, or structures, and the lessor is not the title owner according to the land deed or the party
with possessory rights according to the benefit certificate, the REIT manager will arrange for an insur-
ance company to serve as the indemnifier against potential damages resulting from the termination
of contracts by the owner of the real estate or the aforementioned possessor. If, for any reason, the
REIT manager does not arrange for insurance coverage to protect against potential damages, the REIT
manager is obligated to disclose risks to investors. This information will be provided in the information
sheet/draft invitation, detailing the potential impact on WHART Trust in the event of the termination of
contracts by the title owner according to the land deed or the party with possessory rights according
to the benefit certificate.
If WHART Trust acquires ownership rights to real estate and the REIT manager plans to derive benefits
by leasing it back to the original owner, the rental fee will be established in accordance with normal
commercial practices. The REIT manager will set the rental fee in a fair and equitable manner, treating

the transaction as if it were with an external party.

7.2 Indirect Investment of the Principal Assets and Equipment

1.

Investment in main assets and equipment through indirect means must take one of the following

forms:

1.1 Investment through companies established with the objective of conducting operations similar
to the Trust, whether by a single or multiple companies, by holding shares or securities issued
by such companies, or by entering into agreements resembling loans with such companies. In
all cases, these companies must adhere to the criteria outlined in Clause 2.

1.2 Investment in other Trusts with the objective of investing in the main assets of Trust.

In the case of seeking authorization to offer Trust units for capital enhancement, it must adhere

to the criteria outlined in Clause 3.

The company in which the Trust invests in underlying assets indirectly must adhere to the following

criteria:

2.1 The company is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the trust

2.2 In cases where the entity intending to sell, transfer, lease, or grant rights in the aforementioned
underlying assets is not an affiliated party with the REIT manager, it must fall under one of the
following categories:

2.2.1 A company in which the Trust holds no less than seventy-five percent (75%) of the total
issued shares and no less than seventy-five percent (75%) of the total voting rights of
that company.

2.2.2 A company in which the Trust or company described in 2.2.1 collectively hold no less
than seventy-five percent (75%) of the total issued shares and no less than seventy-five
percent (75%) of the total voting rights of that company.

2.2.3 A company in which shares are held in succession by no less than seventy-five percent
(75%) of the total issued shares and no less than seventy-five percent (75%) of the total
voting rights of that company, starting from the shareholding specified in 2.2.1 or 2.2.2.
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2.3

The shareholding in the company mentioned in the first paragraph must have voting rights
not less than the number prescribed by the law of the country where that company is
established for passing significant resolutions when calculated on a pro rata basis. In the
last tier of shareholding, when calculated on a pro rata basis, the Trust must hold no less
than fifty-one percent (51%) of the total shares sold by that company.
A company that the Trust cannot hold shares in proportion to items 2.1 or 2.2 due to legal
restrictions. In this case, the Trust or the company under items 2.1 or 2.2 collectively must hold
shares totaling no less than the higher limit specified by law, which should not be less than forty
percent (40%) of the total voting rights of that company. It must also demonstrate that the Trust
has a participatory role in managing that company, at least proportionate to the shareholding

in that company.

In the case of seeking authorization to offer Trust units for capital enhancement, investments in un-

derlying assets indirectly by the Trust must adhere to the following criteria:

3.1

3.2

33

In cases where the Trust intends to invest in underlying assets indirectly through investments
in debt securities or entering agreements resembling loans with companies as per item 2, any
company, if the proportion of such investments or loans exceeds the proportion collectively
held by the Trust and other companies as per item 2, must adhere to the following criteria:
3.1.1 Obtain approval from the Trust to invest or enter into the aforementioned agreements.
3.1.2 Receive approval from the Trust unitholders’ meeting for the investments or agreements.

The notice of the meeting sent to the unitholders must include information as stipulated

in the Trust deed, essential information influencing the unitholders’ decision-making, and

the following information:

- Reasons and necessity for the investments or agreements.

- Rationality of the interest rate.

- Conditions for principal repayment.

In cases where the Trust intends to invest in underlying assets indirectly by holding shares in

companies as per items 2.2 or 2.3, it must obtain approval at the Trust unitholders’ meeting

for the proposed investments. The notice of the meeting sent to the unitholders must include
information as stipulated in the Trust deed, essential information influencing the unitholders’
decision-making, and the following information:

3.2.1 Risks associated with the investments through holding shares.

3.2.2 Details regarding key terms of the joint investment, profit sharing, and benefits between
the Trust and other shareholders of the company, enforceability of agreements between
the Trust and other shareholders of the company, restrictions on the sale of shares by
the company held by the Trust, and legal opinions on these matters.

In cases where the Trust intends to invest in underlying assets indirectly through investments in

other Trusts with the objective of investing in the main assets of the Trust as per item 1.2, it must

obtain investment approval from the Trust or approval from the Trust unitholders’ meeting, as

per criteria in either 3.1 or 3.2, depending on the circumstances, with due consideration.

The REIT manager is required to demonstrate the implementation of a supervisory mechanism to

ensure effective management and control over the company mentioned in 1.1, investors in other

Trusts, or Trusts established for the Trust’s indirect investments as per 1.2. The supervisory mecha-

nism must operate consistently with the criteria set for Trusts that directly invest in main assets. The

following criteria must be met based on the circumstances, with due consideration of the Trust:

4.1

In the case where the Trust invests indirectly through companies as per 2, it is imperative to
establish a supervisory mechanism for such entities, meeting the following criteria:
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Appointment of individuals as directors of the mentioned companies, proportional to their
shareholding in that company, with bylaws or provisions requiring approval from the REIT
manager’s committee.

Clear definition of roles and responsibilities of the appointed directors per 2.1, including:

- Explicit delineation of discretionary powers with significant impact on the decisions
requiring the approval of the REIT manager’s committee before voting at the compa-
ny’s important meetings.

- Monitoring and disclosure of financial status and operational results of the mentioned
companies, including intercompany transactions, acquisitions or disposals of assets,
with completeness and accuracy.

- Oversight to ensure that the directors and executives of the mentioned companies
fulfill their duties and responsibilities as required by law.

Establishment of management guidelines in case of disputes between the Trust and other

shareholders of the mentioned companies.

A mechanism to oversee transactions with related parties, acquisitions or disposals of sig-
nificant assets by the mentioned companies, ensuring that such transactions are deemed
significant and approvals are obtained from the REIT manager’s committee or unitholders’
meeting before undertaking them. Consideration should be given to transactions similar to
those requiring approval from the committee of the REIT manager or unitholders’ meeting
under the trust’s founding agreement.

A supervisory mechanism with consequences for any amendments or changes that may
significantly affect the Trust’s share or unitholders’ interests. Examples include changes
in important documents, cessation or alteration of business operations, changes in capital
structure, issuance of securities, borrowing, provision of guarantees, and transfer or sale
of assets. These changes must be approved by the Trust. The supervisory mechanisms in

4.1.4 and 4.1.5 shall not apply to companies per 2.3 held jointly by the Trust and com-

panies per 2 (if any), unless they collectively hold less than 50% of the total voting rights

of those companies.

4.2 In the case where the Trust invests indirectly through investments in other Trusts as per 1.2, the

company must demonstrate that there is a supervisory mechanism for investors in those Trusts

or Trusts established for the Trust’s indirect investments, as follows:

4.2.1

4.2.2

A mechanism comparable to the supervisory mechanism for companies as per 4.1.4 and
4.1.5, and in cases where this mechanism is insufficient to supervise efficiently for the
benefit of the Trust, additional necessary mechanisms must be established.

A supervisory mechanism for the preparation of consolidated financial statements for the
Trust, required as per financial reporting standards.

In the case where the Trust has a policy to provide loans to companies under Section 2 or investors

in other Trusts, including Trusts established for the indirect investment of the Trust as mentioned in

Section 1.2, regardless of the format, there must be operational procedures for granting such loans

in accordance with the criteria announced by the SEC Notification No. 49/2555. The objectives of

providing such loans are as follows:

5.1
52
53
54

55

Invest in real estate or leasehold rights in addition to the main properties.

Invest in other assets as specified by the SEC, the Committee, and/or the market regulator.

Manage the Trust’s properties.

Upgrade or repair real estate, the main property of the Trust, to maintain good condition and

readiness for use, including improving the appearance.

Upgrade, repair, or replace real estate or equipment related to real estate, the main property of

the Trust, to maintain good condition and readiness for use.
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5.6

5.7

58
59

Remodel or construct additional buildings on existing land, the main property of the Trust, for
the benefit of the Trust.

Contribute to the working capital of the company under Section 2 or other Trusts under Section

1.2.

Repay loans or liabilities of the company under Section 2 or other Trusts under Section 1.2.

Refinance existing loans or liabilities.

5.10 Restructure the capital of the company under Section 2 or other Trusts under Section 1.2.

5.11 Hedge against foreign exchange and/or interest rate risks arising from borrowing or issuing debt

instruments.
5.12 Pay benefits to Trust unitholders.

5.13 Any other necessary actions deemed appropriate by the REIT manager for managing the Trust.

6. There must be a valuation based on the specified criteria.

7.3 Methods for acquiring the main assets and additional tools of the trust

Methods for acquiring the main assets and additional tools of the trust must be in accordance with the

rules as follows;

70

1. The REIT Manager shall perform the following actions before each acquisition of the main assets;

1.1. Examine or collate (applying of Due Diligence) information and other agreements which relating

1.2.

with main assets and tools (if any) for instance financial information and the law of state of the

immovable properties to be invested and capability of trust to acquire and possess of immovable

properties according to the law of that country in case of when the invested immovable properties

are located in oversea in order to support investment decisions and accurate disclosure which

is in case of when the owner of the lessor or the lease assignor of the immovable properties is

a connected person with the REIT Manager, the REIT Manager shall also arrange for a financial

advisor to provide the opinions on the analysis of such information.

Appraise the main assets at least according to the following requirements;

1.2.1.

1.2.2.

1.2.3.

1.2.4.

1.2.5.

The appraisers must be the persons who have been approved by the SEC in accordance

with the notification of the Office of the SEC in which relating to the approval for the

assets appraise company and the main appraisers.

The appraisal must not be done by the same appraiser for more than two (2) consecutive

times.

Obtaining the full-fledged appraisal which having a verification in the certificate of ownership

and comply with the public purpose, in the following cases;

- When the trust shall acquire or dispose of the main assets which can be assessed in
advance for a period of not more than one (1) year.

- When it reaches Two (2) years maturity from the last full-fledged appraisal.

- When an incident appears or any changing that may significantly affect the impairment
of the immovable properties in which invested by the trust.

- When trustee or auditor requested.

Obtaining the Due Diligence of the appraisal in every One (1) month since the latest

full-fledged appraisal.

In the case where the REIT has indirectly invested in immovable properties which includes

the case if such indirect investment is relaying holding shares of the company, there must

be an appraisal of immovable properties by appraising the value of the aforesaid trust

classification by considering the shareholding proportions of the trust, taxation of the

company in which trust is as its shareholder and other factors that may affect the price

of immovable properties as well.
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1.2.6. The appraisal in the class of the company that holds the ownership or ownership rights
in the immovable properties must be appraisal according to the criteria in Clause 1.2.1 to
1.2.4 mutatis mutandis.

1.2.7. The appraisal of other assets in which company that trust is as its stockholder and the other
companies that have been relaying held the stocks (if any) have invested in accordance
with the designated criteria in the trust deed and the Notification of the SEC’s Board of
Directors or the relevant SEC offices.

1.2.8. In the case where the trust having invested in debt securities or a contract which
considered as an indirect immovable properties investment, there must be an appraisal
of the instruments or aforesaid contract in accordance with the criteria as designated in
the trust deed as well as the notifications of the SEC’s Board of Directors or the relevant
SEC offices.

1.3. In the case where the REIT shall invest in the leasehold of immovable properties in a sublease
manner, it shall provide measures to prevent the risks or remedies for any damages that may
arise from breach of lease or failure to enforce according to the leasehold rights.

The acquisition of additional main assets or the disposal of the main assets must have the substance

of the transactions and the system for approval including the consent process from trustee or the

meeting’s resolution of the trust units as the case may be, for being in accordance with and comply
with the trust deed and the relevant announcement of the SEC or the SEC Office.
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8.2

72

Key Events Related to the Operation of the Trust

Important events regarding the operations of the trust during the fiscal year

In year 2024, the General Meeting of Trust Unitholders of the WHA Premium Growth Freehold and
Leasehold Real Estate Investment Trust No. 1/2024 held on June 19, 2024, resolved not to approve the
additional investment in the freehold, leasehold and sub-leasehold rights of immovable properties and
other assets in relation to the additional investment assets.

Social Responsibility

The REIT manager and the WHA Group emphasize conducting business that coexists harmoniously
with the surrounding community and environment, striving to collaborate sustainably, dedicating to
providing customers with globally standardized solutions and instilling confidence in delivering the highest
quality of service. This commitment extends towards social responsibility, environmental conservation,
and a steadfast adherence to ethical principles of which the REIT manager and the WHA Group are acutely
aware, with the following details:

8.2.1 Sustainable Management in the Social Dimension

The WHART Trust focuses on investing in quality core real estate, aiming not only to maximize
customer satisfaction but also to show concern for the environment and society. Additionally, the WHART
Trust considers the well-being of those who work or reside in the properties in which it invests, such as
individuals working in warehouses, office buildings, and industrial estates developed by the WHA Group.
The goal is to provide convenience, comfort, a high quality of life, and good health. The Trust is also
committed to avoiding any environmental impact or pollution within its projects or buildings that could
affect the health of users. Therefore, the properties considered for investment by the WHART Trust are
accompanied by measures and guidelines in the design and construction of various projects and buildings.
This approach ensures a balance between maximizing economic benefits from customer business operations
and enhancing the quality of life for users; ultimately, creating sustainability across all sectors.
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The CSR activity that WHART had participated is the CSR project of WHA Group. WHA Group has
reaffirmed its commitment to supporting the education of Thai youth by providing educational supplies
to over 75 schools and early childhood development centers located near its 12 industrial estates. For
the 26™ consecutive year, this initiative has benefited over 26,000 students. This activity is in collaboration

with various operators in the WHA industrial estates and business partners.

8.2.2 Sustainable Management in the Environmental Dimension

Currently, the primary properties in which the Trust invests take into account environmentally
friendly warehouse design. The focus is on meeting the specific needs of each customer while minimizing
environmental impact. For example, warehouses are designed to accommodate solar panel installations
on the roof, providing sufficient natural light during operations and maintaining suitable temperatures to
conserve energy.

Furthermore, in 2023, the Trust invested in “Green Building” by LEED Gold (Leadership in Energy &
Environmental Design), which reflects the awareness of using environmentally friendly construction materials,
such as energy-efficient and recycled materials. The building avoids materials that may release harmful
gases, such as Volatile Organic Compounds, refrains from using or producing asbestos, and avoids materials
with hazardous components. Additionally, the building has installed solar panels to help subtenants save
energy and reduce carbon dioxide emissions, a major contributor to global warming. This approach ensures
direct benefits for tenants through efficient and sustainable building usage.

WHART invested in WHA Mega Losgistics Center, Thepharak Km. 21, Building B, which received LEED
Gold certification under version 4.1 BD+C for warehouses and distribution canters. The LEED (Leadership
in Energy and Environmental Design) version 4.1 standard is the latest green building standard established
by the U.S. Green Building Council and represents the future standard for sustainable green building design
and construction practices.
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8.2.3 Sustainable Management in the Ethical Dimension

74

The REIT manager and the WHA Group are steadfast in conducting business based on ethical principles,
which form the essential foundation for sustainable business growth. To ensure efficient business operations,
they have established guidelines for overseeing the Trust, as per the regulations set by the Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC) and the Stock Exchange of Thailand (SET), as well as international standards.
The group has implemented a Performance Management System to monitor and ensure that all employees
adhere to business ethics. Notably, there were no reported cases of misconduct or violations of business
ethics in the year 2023.

Furthermore, the REIT manager and the WHA Group are committed to cultivating a responsible work
culture among employees, emphasizing honesty and integrity. This positive impact on business operations
is sustained through continuous training and instilling a corporate culture that opposes corruption and
encourages transparency. Any form of corruption or collusion is deemed unacceptable within the group
of companies. Consequently, an “Anti-Corruption Policy and Practices” has been developed and regularly
reviewed to remain current. This policy applies to all personnel within the group to prevent misuse of
power, curb fraudulent behavior, and establish a framework for lawful business conduct. Detailed provisions
are outlined in the business ethics and anti-corruption policy.

The group has effectively communicated the anti-corruption and corporate practices policy to all
employees, including various penalties in case of violations. Each employee acknowledges and accepts
these policies as an integral part of the company’s work regulations. Furthermore, regular training sessions
are organized to review and reinforce the understanding of the anti-corruption and corporate practices
policy each year.

In the year 2024, the ESG100 ranking, complied by Thaipat Institute’s ESG Rating unit, which is the
developer of sustainability businesses data in Thailand, since 2015. The Thaipat Institute announced that
WHART has been selected as a listed security in the ESG 100 for the year 2024 from 920 companies, funds,
and investment trusts based their ESG (Environmental, Social, and Governance) performance data publicly
disclosed. The ESG100 ranking highlights companies with outstanding sustainability practices, serving as a
valuable resource for investors aiming for long-term returns.
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9. Loan Policy and Details of the Loan as of the Ending Date of Accounting Year

9.1 Summary of key conditions of the loans
As of 31 December 2024, WHART Trust had been obliged the loan from financial institution and bond in

amount of THB 15,385,000,000 which convert to loan to value at 28.14 percent. The details are shown
in below

1) Loan from financial Institutions
As of 31 December 2024, WHART Trust had been obliged the loan from financial institution in amount of
THB 4,565,000,000. The details are the following:

[\ [o Type of Loan Limit (millions) Term of loan Starting date
1 Short Term Loan 380.00 Not more than 2 years 14 Aug 2024
2 Short term Loan 1,000.00 Not more than 2 years 1 Dec 2024
3 Short term Loan 1,800.00 Not more than 4 years 25 Dec 2023
4 Long Term Loan 1,385.00 Not more than 3 years 1 Dec 2022
2) Bonds

As of 31 December 2024, WHART had been obliged the bond in the amount of THB 10,820,000,000. The
details are the following:

Amount Coupon rate Term

Unsubordinated and Unsecured 1,200.00 30 Mar 2018
with a debentureholders'
representative

2 Unsubordinated and Unsecured 500.00 2.90 7 4 Dec 2019
with a debentureholders'
representative

3 Unsubordinated and Unsecured 1,500.00 2.70 5 14 May 2021
with a debentureholders'
representative

4 Unsubordinated and Unsecured 1,000.00 2.50 7 26 Aug 2021
with a debentureholders'
representative

5) Unsubordinated and Unsecured 950.00 2.85 5 28 Jan 2022
with a debentureholders'
representative

6 Unsubordinated and Unsecured 1,700.00 2.93 2 14 Feb 2023

with a debentureholders'
representative 300.00 3.00 g 14 Feb 2023

300.00 3.20 4 14 Feb 2023
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Amount Coupon rate Term

Type of bond (millions) - ) Bond issuing
7 Unsubordinated and Unsecured 300.00 2.81 2 years 4 days 5 Apr 2023
with a debentureholders'
representative
8 Unsubordinated and Unsecured 800.00 3.11 & 10 May 2023
with a debentureholders’
representative 200.00 3.30 4 10 May 2023
9 Unsubordinated and Unsecured 850.00 3.24 2 years 11 30 Jan 2024
with a debentureholders’ months 30
representative days
10  Unsubordinated and Unsecured 280.00 3.15 2 9 Aug 2024
with a debentureholders’
representative 940.00 3.52 4 9 Aug 2024

Summary of the Long-term Loan Agreement(s), Details of the Loan Securities and Issuance of the
Debentures

One or many of financial Institutions of Thailand which can provide loan to Real Estate
Lender Investment Trust such as life Insurance or non-life insurance which might be related
person with Trustee.

Kasikorn Asset Management Company Limited as the Trustee of WHA Premium Growth

Borrower
Freehold and Leasehold Real Estate Investment Trust (“WHART”)
Interest Rate and - Interest rate at Minimum Loan Rate (MLR) minus fixed rate per annuum or any other
Fees relating to loan rate specified in the agreement except in the case of default whereby the default
procurement interest rate will be equal to the highest interest rate as declared by the Lender,
change of laws, market conditions, or financial situations or any rules and regulations
- Fees will be relied on the Facility Agreement
- The trust will control the Loan to Value (LTV) which not more than the rate determined
in the Facility Agreement.
Key Financial - The trust will control funded interest bearing debt to EBITDA ratio (Funded
Covenants Interest-Bearing Debt to EBITDA Ratio) which not more than the rate determined
in the loan agreement. The calculation detail is informed in the Facility Agreement.
Collateral Depending on the Lender requirement.

WHART might reserve the cash for the loan repayment in case the lender asks the trust to repay. The reserved
cash will be deducted from the adjusted net income before distributing the distribution to unitholders.
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9.2 Relationship and Necessity of the Loan from Related Persons and Opinion on

Conditions of the Loan Agreement
9.2.1 Relationship between the Trustee and the Lender

Except where the Trust is prohibited to loan from the Trustee’s related persons by the notifications
of the SEC or other authorities, the Trust may partially or wholly loan from the Trustee’s related persons
who hold 99.99% of voting shares of the Trust. In doing so, the Trust shall operate in accordance with
the relevant notifications.

9.2.2 Reason and Necessity of the Loan from the Trustee’s Related Persons

The Company is of the opinion that the loan from related persons of the Trustee must be reasonable
and must not affect the benefit of the Trust. It shall be carried out by considering the conditions under
the loan agreement which are normal business conditions and benefit the Trust. Moreover, the Lender
must have a good understanding of businesses and assets in which the Trust will invest.

9.2.3 Opinion on Conditions under the Loan Agreement

The loan transaction is a transaction with specific characteristics provided to the Trust. For example,
terms and conditions under the loan agreement are in conformity with the specific characteristics of the
Trust, reasonable and have no effect to the benefits of the Trust. The conditions under the loan agreement
are specified at arm’s length basis whereby comparing such a loan agreement to general conditions of other
loan agreements which the Trust entered with other lenders who are not related persons of the Trustee,
essence of the agreements are similar. Moreover, the agreements share similar types of securities for debt
repayment. This indicates that the conditions of the loan agreement as well as the loan transaction are
consistent with normal business practice and do not affect the benefits of the Trust. In this regard, the
Trustee is not allowed to interfere or manipulate the approval process and stipulation of the loan agreement.

Moreover, the fact that the lender who is not a related person to the Trustee accepts the conditions
under the loan agreement indicates that such conditions are consistent with normal business practice and
do not affect the benefits of the Trust.
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10. Market overview of Thailand Industrial Property Market

10.1 Economic

The world economy in the fourth quarter of 2024, the world economy continued to expand from
the previous quarter, driven by sustained growth in major economies such as the United States and
the Eurozone, along with China’s economy, which accelerated at its fastest rate in six quarters. The key drivers
of this growth included improved domestic consumption and service sector expansion, supported by a strong
labor market and rising real wages. Additionally, many countries continued to lower their policy interest rates
to stimulate economic activity. However, the industrial production sector remained sluggish, particularly in
major economies, as reflected in the Manufacturing Purchasing Managers’ Index (PMI), which averaged 49.7
in the fourth quarter of 2024, staying below 50 for the second consecutive quarter, indicating contraction.
Meanwhile, the Newly Industrialized Economies (NIES) and the ASEAN economies continued to expand, supported
by strong export growth. This way partly due to accelerated exports to major economies ahead of expected
trade projection measures, including higher import tariffs, which are anticipated to be implemented after the
new U.S. president takes office in early 2025. This aligns with rising inventory levels in major economies, while
lower inflationary pressures in many countries have prompted several central banks to continue reducing policy
interest rates to support economic growth.

In the fourth quarter of 2024, Thailand’s economy expanded by 3.2 percent year-on-year (%YoY),
accelerating from 3.0 percent in the third quarter. This growth was driven by increased government spending,
public investment, and exports of goods and services, while private consumption continued to expand.
However, government consumption slowed, and private investment declined further. On the production side,
the agriculture sector returned to growth for the first time in five quarters. The accommodation and food services
sector, wholesale and retail trade, and the construction sector saw accelerated growth compared to the previous
quarter. Meanwhile, the manufacturing and transportation & storage sectors continued to expand. After seasonal
adjustments, Thailand’s economy grew by 0.4 percent quarter-on-quarter (%QoQ SA) in the fourth quarter of
2024 compared to the previous quarter. Overall, in 2024, the economy expanded by 2.5 percent, accelerating
from 2.0 percent in 2023.
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The Thai economy in the fourth quarter of 2024 expanded by 3.2 percent (%YoY), accelerating from
a growth of 3.0 percent in the previous quarter. After seasonally adjusted, the Thai economy in the fourth quarter
of 2024 expanded by 0.4 percent from the third quarter (%QoQ SA) with the important factors as follows.
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10.2 READY-BUILT WAREHOUSE MARKET FOR RENT

Government efforts to promote infrastructure development in Thailand in recent years, such as
the development of large-scale transportation infrastructure including roads, railways, ports, and airports in various
areas, as well as the establishment of new industrial estates by the Industrial Estate Authority of Thailand (IEAT),
have had positive effects on the transportation business. This has led to increased convenience in connecting
transportation networks, thereby covering more comprehensive areas.

The warehouse market in Thailand has rapidly developed over the past decade. Originally, warehouses
were typically family-owned businesses with low ceilings not exceeding 7 meters and located at ground level.
However, considering the process of transporting goods by trucks, when goods are to be stored in warehouses,
if the warehouses are at ground level, it requires time and labor to transport the goods for storage. Subsequently,
there has been development to raise the level of warehouse floors for added convenience in storing goods.
Warehouses are now elevated by 1.3 to 1.5 meters to match the height of trucks. Additionally, the distance from
the floor to the ceiling ranges between 9 to 12 meters to efficiently store a large volume of goods. Furthermore,
modern warehouses are equipped with good ventilation systems.

However, in the last 3 to 4 years, the growth of the ready-built warehouse for rent market has been gradual,
both in terms of rental demand and the development of new warehouse spaces. Warehouse businesses support
various industries such as retail, export, and manufacturing, which require warehouse spaces for storing and
distributing goods both domestically and internationally. Moreover, warehouse businesses also support emerging
business types such as E-Commerce, which demand significant warehouse space for storing and distributing
products to consumers.

The development of new warehouses within the country primarily focuses on expanding businesses
in existing potential areas. New warehouses entering the market mostly feature modern facilities for product
management and logistics management systems. Additionally, there’s a growing demand for temperature-controlled
warehouses in the market. The development models increasingly consider environmental impacts and
energy-saving measures.
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10.2.1 Supply

At the end of 2024, warehouse supply totaled 7,230,607 square meters, with a total new supply of
approximately 482,790 square meters. The new warehouse supply during the past year was developed in key
areas, including the Eastern Economic Corridor, Samut Prakarn, and Pathumthani.

Ready-Built Warehouse Supply 2020-2024

8,000,000

7,000,000 482,790 —
456,997 —
473,503~
6,000,000 264,704
152,784~
5,000,000
4,000,000
3,000,000 — 5,399,829 — 5,552,613 — 5,817,317 — 6,290,820 — 6,747,817
2,000,000
1,000,000

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

@ Existing Supply @ New Supply

Source: Knight Frank Thailand Research & Consulting Department
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Currently, the majority of warehouse supply is in Samutprakarn, accounting for 36.28 percent of total
supply. The second highest warehouse supply is in Chonburi, comprising of 24.51 percent of total supply.
Ayutthaya ranks third with the supply of 11.75 percent, followed by Chachoengsao with the supply of 11.40

percent of total supply.

Warehouse Supply by Location in 2024

0.22% 0.66%
(o)
0.16% 0.78% Samutprakarn 36.28%
0.18% ati Chonburi 24.52%
3.84% _
4.18% — i Ayutthaya 11.75%
y 36.28%
— & Chachoengsao 11.40%
11.40% Bangkok 5.18%
Rayong 4.18%
Pathumthani 3.84%
11.75% Khon Kaen 0.18%
Lamphun 0.16%
Prachinburi 0.22%
Saraburi 0.65%
24.52%
Surat Thani 0.66%
@ Samutprakarn @ Chonburi ® Ayutthaya Samutsakorn 0.78%
@ Chachoengsao Bangkok @ Rayong
© Pathumthani ® Khon Kaen @ Lamphun Nonthaburi 0.20%
Prachinburi @ Saraburi @ Surat Thani
@ Samutsakorn @ Nonthaburi Source: Knight Frank Thailand Research & Consulting
Department

Warehouse Supply by Type of Location in 2024
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@ Industrial Estate @ Non-Industrial Estate

Source: Knight Frank Thailand Research & Consulting Department
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10.2.2 Demand

At the end of 2024, the total occupied space was 6,263,534 square meters out of 7,230,607 square meters.
The newly occupied space increased in 2024 from 2023 by 577,709 square meters. The occupancy rate at
the end of 2024 has increased to 88.6 percent, comparing to 84.3 percent in 2023.

Supply, Demand and Occupancy Rate of Warehouse 2020-2024

8,000,000 86.6% 90.0%
84.6% D50 84.3% i 0
83.8% s o70
7,000,000 85.0%
6,000,000 80.0%
5,000,000 75.0%
4,000,000 70.0%
3,000,000 65.0%
<
2,000,000 ) i) 9 ~ 3 9 N ~ 3 5 60.0%
< o o o - @D o @ 3 o
7o) o © ~ o =) 7o) ~ 8 o
8 r) P by 5 t5 ] N N & 55.0
1,000,000 < S < < S < < S © N 0%
o 50.0%
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

@ Supply ® Demand == Occupancy Rate

Source: Knight Frank Thailand Research & Consulting Department

Warehouse Demand by Type of Location 2024

46%

54%

@ Industrial Estate @ Non-Industrial Estate

Source: Knight Frank Thailand Research & Consulting Department

Regarding the occupancy rate of warehouse space in the study area by province, it was still found that
the warehouse area with the highest rental demand as of 2024 was Samutprakarn at 2,368,917 square meters,
followed by Chonburi at 1,385,816 square meters.
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The table illustrates supply, demand and occupancy rate of warehouse
by location at the end of 2024

Province Supply Demand Occupancy Rate
Samutprakarn 2,623,386 2,368,917 90%
Chonburi 1,772,144 1,385,816 78%
Ayutthaya 849,445 720,329 85%
Chachoengsao 824,495 706,010 86%
Bangkok 374,326 370,020 99%
Rayong 301,960 286,300 95%
Pathumthani 278,015 241,110 87%
Khon Kaen 12,938 12,940 100%
Lamphun 11,809 11,810 100%
Prachinburi 16,039 16,040 100%
Saraburi 47,231 27,347 58%
Surat Thani 47,615 47,615 100%
Samutsakorn 56,710 56,180 99%
Nonthaburi 14,496 13,100 90%

7,230,607 6,263,534

Note: Table arranged by the highest to the lowest supply
Source: Knight Frank Thailand Research & Consulting Department
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10.2.3 Rental Rate

The rental rate varies depending on location. At the end of 2024, the highest rental rate was observed
in Samutprakarn, at approximately 230 baht per square meter. This was followed by Chonburi, Chachoengsao,
and Rayong which are located in the Eastern Economic Corridor, with the asking rental rate of approximately
200, 200, and 180 baht per square meter, respectively. However, the warehouse rental rate varies due to various
factors such as the condition of the warehouse, age of buildings and specifications.

Minimum and Maximum Asking Rental Rate by Location, 2024

Nonthaburi 180 |
Samutsakorn 120 I 155
Surat Thani 135 |
Saraburi 110 N 145
Prachinburi 145 |
Lamphun 110 |
Khon Kaen 135 |
Pathumthani 140 N 180
Rayong 130 I 180
Bangkok 135 [N 190
Chachoengsao 120 I 200
Ayutthaya 120 I 175
Chonburi 130 I 200
Samutprakarn 110 I 230

Source: Knight Frank Thailand Research & Consulting Department

10.2.4 Outlook

The overall of ready-built warehouse for rent business has continued to experience steady growth throughout
2024, with sustained demand for rental warehouse space. This sector plays a crucial role in driving the expansion
of the logistics industry and supporting supply chain operations across various industries, including manufacturing,
distribution, retail, and transportation. The demand for warehouse space is expected to grow at an average rate
of 5-6 percent per year. While global economic challenges have impacted Thailand’s export sector, conditions
are expected to improve in 2025.

By the end of 2024, the ready-built warehouse supply indicates an expansion of warehouse space across
strategic transportation hubs, including the Eastern Economic Corridor (EEC) and Samut Prakan. This growth is
driven by the recovery of both the global and Thai economies, leading to increased international trade activities.

For the current development trends, to enhance efficiency and align with future trends, some developers
are shifting towards automated warehouses, which optimize space management, minimize losses, and improve
systematic inventory storage. Additionally, technological innovations such as smart storage systems are being
integrated to improve warehouse management efficiency.

Another significant trend is the shift towards environmentally friendly warehouse operations, emphasizing
the use of renewable energy to minimize environmental impact. This aligns with sustainability standards such
as ESG (Environmental, Social, and Governance) principles. These adaptations not only enhance competitive
advantages but also ensure that businesses can effectively meet the evolving demands of the warehouse market
in the future.
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11. Information about the income guarantee and the person giving guarantee

1) Information about income insurance and income guarantors

Foo making the confidential to the unitholders of WHA Premium Growth Freehold and Leasehold Real
Estate Investment Trust. WHA Corporation Plc. agrees to undertake the rental for the unoccupied area. As of
December 31, 2024, the details of current main assets that are undertaken by WHA Corporation Plc. are as follows:

Period under
the undertaking
agreement

No. of
Investment

Undertaking

Rental Rat
area (Sq.m.) I

Project Name

1 Sixth Capital WHA Mega Logistics 14,519.00 According to 3 years from
Increase Center Wangnoi 62 the undertaking the date of
agreement Investment'
2 Seventh WHA Mega Logistics 14,344.00 According to 3 years from
Capital Increase  Center Bangna-Trad the undertaking the date of
Km.23 Project 3 (Building agreement Investment?
B,C, D)
3 Seventh Capital  WHA Mega Logistics 21,039.00 According to 3 years from
Increase Center Theparak Km.21 the undertaking the date of
(Building I, J) agreement Investment?
4 Seventh Capital  WHA KPN Mega Logistics 2,851.00 According to 3 years from
Increase Center Bangna-Trad Km.23 the undertaking the date of
Project 2 agreement Investment®
(Building J, K, L, M, N)
5 Eighth Capital WHA Mega Logistics 26,212.00 According to 3 years from
Increase Center Theparak Km.21 the undertaking the date of
(Building B, E, F, G, H) agreement Investment®
6 Eighth Capital WHA Mega Logistics 12,969.00 According to 1 year from
Increase Center Leamchabang the undertaking the date of
Project 1 (Building B1, B2, agreement Investment®
B3, B4)
7 Eighth Capital WHA Mega Logistics 1,972.00 According to 1 year from
Increase Center Bangna-Trad the undertaking the date of
Km.23 Project 3 agreement Investment®
(Building E, F, G)
According to 3 years from
25,752.00 the undertaking the date of
agreement Investment®

1

2

WHART invested in Seventh additional assets (Sixth capital increase) on December 2, 2021.
WHART invested in Eighth additional assets (Seventh capital increase) on December 1, 2022.

* WHART invested in Ninth additional assets (Eighth capital increase) on December 25, 2023.
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2) Guaranteed income from income guarantor

31 December 2024 | 31 December 2023

Difference (%)

(Million Baht) (Million Baht)
Income from the undgrtakmg ggreement for 111.64 49.65 124 85
rental area in the project building
Income from the undertaking agreement for 16.78 15.36 9.04

rental roof area in the project building

3) Credit rating and summary of revenue guarantor
Credit rating of WHA Corporation Plc.

Company rating A-

Credit outlook Stable

Remark Information from Tris Rating no. 203/2024 on 5 November 2024

Financial summary of WHA Corporation Plc. during 2022-2024

Statements of Financial Position 31 Dec 22 31 Dec 23 31 Dec 24
(unit : THB million) (Audited) (Audited) (Audited)
Total assets 86,302 90,225 101,541
Total liabilities 50,690 52,903 63,030
Equity attributable to the owners of the parent 32,050 33,487 34,832
Non-controlling interests 3,562 3,835 3,679
Total equity 35,612 37,322 38,511

Total liabilities and equity 101,541

Statements of Comprehensive income 31 Dec 22 31 Dec 23 31 Dec 24

(unit : THB million) (Audited) (Audited) (Audited)
Revenues from leases and services 2,031 2,191 2,604
Revenues from sales of real estate 9,733 10,479 6,454
Revenues from sales of goods 1,965 2,204 2,277
Total revenue 13,729 14,875 11,335
Costs of leases and services (1,056) (1,130) (1,377)
Costs of sales of real estate (5,362) (5,531) (2,511)
Costs of sales of goods (1,174) (1,307) (1,326)
Gross profit 6,137 6,908 6,120
Other income 1,253 644 1,271
Selling expenses (407) (465) (363)
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Statements of Comprehensive income 31 Dec 22 31 Dec 23 31 Dec 24

(unit : THB million) (Audited) (Audited) (Audited)
Administrative expenses (1,575) (1,640) (1,607)
Finance costs (1,126) (1,235) (1,378)
Share of profit from associates and joint 585 1,496 1736
ventures
Profit before income tax 4,867 5,708 5,779
Income tax expenses (546) (659) 977)
Profit for the year 4,321 5,050 4,802
Other comprehensive expense for the year, (312) (512) (312)

net of tax

Total comprehensive income for the year

Statements of Cash Flows 31 Dec 22 31 Dec 23 31 Dec 24
(unit : THB million) (Audited) (Audited) (Audited)

Net cash generated from (used in) operating 4,422 4,998 2,926
activities
Net cash generated from (used in) investing (39) (3,767) (5,050)
activities
Net cash from (used in) financing activities (818) (1,914) 3,854
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash 3,565 (683) 1,730
equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning SISIS 7,148 6,450
of the year
Exchange rate effect on cash and cash 10 (15) (4)
equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of

the year

Remark: the financial statements have been audited by Mr.Chanchai Chaiprasit Certified Public Accountant
(Thailand) No. 3760 and Mr. Boonrueng Lerdwiseswit Certified Public Accountant (Thailand) No. 6552 from
PricewaterhouseCoopers ABAS Ltd, approved by SEC.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 87



2024 Management Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) of WHA corporation Plc.

Macroeconomic & Company Overview

Thai Economic Performance

On 18" December 2024, the Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) foresees the Thai economy is projected to
expand by 2.7 and 2.9 percent in 2024 and 2025, respectively. Tourism and domestic demand continue to be
the main drivers, as well as exports of electronics and machinery in line with the expected recovery in the global
technology cycle. However, the economic recovery remained uneven across sectors. Whereas tourism-related
services improved, the recovery for SMEs and certain manufacturing industries faced pressures from declining
competitiveness. This resulted in uneven income recovery for households. The Committee voted unanimously
to maintain the policy rate at 2.25 percent, deeming the current rate is consistent with the economic trajectory
close to potential, inflation moving towards the target range, and safeguarding long-term macro-financial stability.
Headline inflation is projected at 0.4 and 1.1 percent for 2024 and 2025, respectively. Meanwhile, core inflation
is forecast at 0.6 percent and 1.0 percent in 2024 and 2025, respectively.

SCB EIC forecasts the Thai economy to expand by 2.7% in 2024, driven by continued momentum from
export, government spending, and the tourism sector. However, the economy is likely to feel the impact of
Trump 2.0’s trade protectionist measures since H2/2025. As Thailand is more likely to face a significant risk of
being subjected to U.S. import tariffs. Moreover, China’s overcapacity issues will put additional pressure on the
competitiveness of Thai products both domestically and internationally, leading to an export slowdown. This
will further exacerbate the challenges facing Thailand’s manufacturing sector, which has yet to recover, even
with the anticipated additional fiscal stimulus next year. Additionally, SCB EIC forecasts that the Monetary Policy
Committee (MPC) will lower the policy rate by 0.25% in February 2025 to 2.0% and maintain at this level for
the rest of the year, while the estimated headline inflation rate for the year 2024 and 2025 stands at 0.6% and
1.0%, respectively.

At the same time, Kasikorn Research Center (KResearch) forecast the Thai economy is expected to grow at
2.4% in 2025, due to reduced momentum from tourism as the number of tourists approaches pre-COVID levels,
as well as slower export growth due to the impact of the trade war, both directly through the US export market
and indirectly through other markets competing with Chinese goods. However, public investment will expand
better than the previous year due to continuous budget disbursement, while private investment will improve
from the contraction in 2024, in line with FDIs flowing into the automotive and electronics industries. KResearch
expects the Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) may further cut the policy rate by approximately two times in
2025 (currently at 2.25%), amidst heightened economic risks, particularly stemming from US trade policies. The
average headline inflation may rise to 0.7 percent in 2025 as domestic energy prices are likely to remain close
to current levels, while the base prices during 1H24 were low.

For the Vietnamese Economy, the General Statistics Office (GSO) revealed that Vietnam’s GDP in 2024
expanded by 7.09% compared to the previous year, which is higher than the 5.05% growth in 2023. This growth
was driven by strong exports and inflows of foreign direct investment (FDI). Considering foreign direct investment
(FDI), one of the key economic drivers of Vietnam, the value in 2024 reached approximately 38,226 billion USD,
an decrease of 3.0% compared to the same period last year. Kasikorn Research Center (KResearch) estimates
Vietnam’s GDP growth for 2025 to be 6.8%, amidst the risks of a new round of trade wars.

Investment and Foreign Direct Investment Applications

In 2024, there was historical highest growth, there were a total of 3,137 projects applying for investment
promotion, an increase of 40 percent, with an investment value of 1,138,508 million baht, an increase of 35
percent compared to the same period last year with the highest level over ten years. This reinforces investor
confidence in Thailand’s readiness in terms of infrastructure, stable and sufficient industrial electricity supply with
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potential for clean energy, qualified personnel, a comprehensive supply chain, reasonable business costs, and
various government support measures, especially in high-tech industries such as semiconductors and advanced
electronics, smart appliances, data centers and cloud services supporting Al and advanced digital technologies,
electric vehicles and key components, and the biotechnology industry. These industries are crucial for enhancing
Thailand’s competitiveness and restructuring its economy, further strengthening the existing industrial base,
creating value from modern technology, generating jobs, and creating opportunities for Thai entrepreneurs. For
applications for promotion in the targeted industries, there were 1,616 projects with a total value of 786,618
million baht, accounting for 69 percent of the total value applied for promotion. Most of them are invested in
the digital industry (total highest investment value of 243,308 million baht), the electrical and electronic industry.
(the investment value over 231,710 million baht), the automotive and parts industry (total investment value of
102,366 million baht), including agriculture and food processing (total investment value of 87,646 million baht),
and the petrochemicals and Petrochemicals & Chemicals industry (total investment value of 49,061 million
baht), respectively.

For applications for foreign investment promotion (FDI), in 2024, there were 2,050 projects, an increase
of 51 percent, with investments of 832,114 million baht, an increase of 25 percent. Singapore is the country
with the highest investment value of 357,540 million baht, with 305 projects. The second place is China with
an investment of 174,638 million baht, with 810 projects. The third place is Hong Kong with an investment
of 82,266 million baht, with 177 projects. While Taiwan ranked fourth with an investment of 49,967 million
baht, with 126 projects. And Japan ranked fifth with an investment of 49,148 million baht, with 271 projects.
The significant increase in investment from Singapore is largely driven by Chinese and U.S. ownership. For the
Eastern Economic Corridor (EEC), there have been a number of promotion requests, with 1,315 projects and an
investment of 504,945 million baht.

For Vietnam, as of December 31, 2024, the total newly registered capital, adjusted and contributed capital
to buy shares, and buy contributed capital of foreign investors reached over USD 38,226 million, a decrease
of 3.0% from last year. The adjusted capital and newly registered capital continued to increase over the same
period last year. Of which (1) Newly registered capital: There were 3,375 new foreign-invested projects, an increase
1.8%, with valued at over USD 19,731 million, a decrease 7.6% (2) Adjusted capital: There were 1,539 turns of
projects registering to adjust their investment (up 11.2% year-on-year) with a total additional capital of nearly USD
13,957 million (up 50.4% year-on-year) (3) Capital contributions and share purchases: There were 3,502 capital
contributions and share purchases by foreign investors (drop 2.4% year-on-year) with a value of over USD 4,538
million (drop 48.2% year-on-year). The total value of realized capital in 2024 was worth USD 25,351 million.

Key developments in 2024

Logistics Business: In 2024, the logistics business grew continuously with the company signed
Built-to-Suit lease agreements and the addition of ready-built factories/warehouse totaling 162,177 sq.m., along
with short-term contracts with high returns totaling 115,511 sg.m. This expansion brings the total warehouse space
under WHA Group’s ownership and management to 3,108,190 sg.m. Driven by the continued high demand for
leased space, WHA Group is accelerating new project development in 2025. In Thailand, the company plans to
expand key projects in strategic locations, adding a total of 380,000 square meters of space. In Vietnam, the first
logistics warehouse project, spanning 37,000 sg.m., was completed and is scheduled to commence operations
in early 2025. WHA Group also signed a Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) with the Thanh Hoa provincial
government to explore the development of a 300-rai logistics project.

Meanwhile, WHA GC Logistics Co., Ltd (WGCL) announced to transform from a 3PL to a 4PL provider,
leveraging the combined strengths and expertise of WHA and GC to create value added in logistics business.
This involves expanding service offerings to encompass comprehensive logistics planning, design, and integration.

WHA Group’s Office Solution currently comprises 6 projects in Bangkok, totaling over 120,000 sgq.m. The
latest Qube Lifestyle Retail Space project, spanning across 3,000 sgq.m. next to the BTS Surasak station, was
opened in 2024. Additionally, a specialized medical center project in Sathorn area, covering 6,900 sg.m. is

expected to be completed in Q3/2025.
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The Company has set a target for its logistics business this year to increase assets under management to
approximately 3,309,000 sg.m. This includes new lease space of approximately 200,000 sg.m (163,000 sg.m in
Thailand and 37,000 sg.m in Vietnam). Regarding REIT, the company also plans to sell assets and/or lease rights
to WHART, totaling approximately 70,000 sg.m. with an estimated value of THB 1,500 million.

Mobility Business: In 2024, the company launched Thailand’s first fully integrated green logistics solution
under the Mobilix brand, offering three major services: EV Rental Service, On Premise & Public EV Charging
Solution, and Mobilix Software Solution - a smart digital platform. As of 2024, 330 electric vehicles have been
leased to corporate clients.

In 2025, the company aims to establish a comprehensive Built-to-Suit EV ecosystem of Logistics,
encompassing both the electric vehicle ecosystem (EV Ecosystem) and integrated services. The target is to have
1,700 EVs in its rental fleet this year, increasing to 20,000 vehicles within the next five years.

Industrial Development Business: In 2024, the company continued to see strong land sales, totaling
2,565 rai (2,453 rai in Thailand and 112 rai in Vietnam). Additionally, there are 716 rai of pending MOUs (696 rai
in Thailand and 20 rai in Vietnam). This growth was driven by rising land prices and continued relocation and
nearshoring activities following the US presidential election. As of the end of 2024, the company has a backlog
of 1,535 rai (1,530 rai in Thailand and 5 rai in Vietnam) awaiting transfer to customers.

In 2024, the company secured significant clients, including Google, which signed a land purchase agreement
to build its first data center in Thailand. Haier also established a new comprehensive air conditioner manufacturing
plant. Additionally, in Q4/2024, the company signed a land purchase agreement with global technology company
planning to build a data center in Thailand for another project. The company is currently in discussions with
several data center clients from China, Japan, and Europe for multiple projects.

As of the end of 2024, the company operated a total of 15 industrial estates (14 in Thailand and 1 in
Vietnam). In Thailand, the company has 7 projects under development and in pipeline, encompassing 8,810 rai,
to accommodate the increasing demand for land from investors. In Vietnam, two projects totaling 2,297 rai (368
hectares) have received Investment Registration Certificates (IRC), and one project of 1,094 rai (175 hectares) is
pending approval. In January 2025, the company signed a Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) with the Thanh
Hoa provincial government to develop two industrial zones totaling 4,000 rai. (640 hectares)

The company has set a land sales target of 2,350 rai (1,700 rai in Thailand and 650 rai in Vietnam) for
the year. The focus is on attracting foreign investment in target industries such as automotive, electronics, and
other high-technology sectors.

Utilities Business: In 2024, total water sales and management volume, both domestic and international,
reached 166 million cubic meters for the full year. This growth was driven by increased sales across all water
product segments, particularly value-added water products, which saw higher demand. Additionally, water
sales in Vietnam from the Duong River Project continued to rise due to the expansion of service areas for both
existing and new customers.

For 2025, the company targets total water sales and management volume of 173 million cubic meters
(132 million cubic meters in Thailand and 41 million cubic meters in Vietnam). The company also aims to grow
its value-added water products, with a target volume of 10 million cubic meters.

Power Business: In 2024, the company has the total accumulated signed capacity of 290 MW in Private
PPA contracts, with a total secured capacity according to its equity stake of 965 MW. This includes 701 MW of
operational capacity (of which 173 MW from renewable energy) and 264 MW of renewable energy projects are
currently under development.

The company recorded total solar energy dispatch of 158 Gwh in 2024, marking an increase of over 35%
from the previous year, with continued growth expected. Additionally, the company has ongoing construction
projects expected to be completed by 2025, with a total capacity of over 100 MW.

For 2025, WHA Group targets 1,185 MW of signed PPA contracts, comprising 657 MW of renewable energy
of which 635 MW will be solar power.
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Digital Business: Driven by a commitment to elevate organization across all dimensions, the company
has successfully achieved its goal of becoming a Technology Company by 2024. Moving forward, the company
is focused on advancing toward becoming a Technology-driven Organization while actively seeking new business
opportunities such as developing the Mobilix Software Solution for managing EVs and batteries. It targets 900
vehicles using the platform by 2025 and increase to 6,000 within the next five years. Recently, WHA officially
launched WHASApp to facilitate real-time communication between customers and WHA teams.

In 2025, WHA Digital will strengthen the Group’s businesses through advanced technologies like Al and
loT, with 12 Al Transformation projects in development and plans to launch five new applications for service
within WHA Group by 2025.

The business plan for 2025 has resulted in the company allocating a total investment budget of
approximately THB 20,000 million across five business hubs: THB 4 billion for logistics, THB 1.5 billion for mobility,
THB 9.9 billion for industrial development, THB 4.5 billion for utilities and power, and THB 450 million for digital.
This budget aligns with the Group’s five-year strategic investment plan (2025-2029) totaling THB 119 billion,
aimed at driving growth across these five business hubs.

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

During 2024, the Company had total revenue and share of profit of THB 14,341.6 mm and had net profit
THB 4,359.4 mm. If excluding FX impact and extraordinary items, the Company had the normalized total revenue
and share of profit of THB 14,303.4 mm and normalized net profit THB 4,526.3 mm. The details are as following.

Consolidated Financial Statement E 2024 -ﬂm-

Uil REEe el E e of (THBmm) 8580.4 43875 (485%) 17,0146 143416 (15.7%)

Profit

Total Cost (THBmm)  4,397.5 1,5941  (63.7%) 7,967.2 52147 (34.5%)
Gross Profit and Share of Profit (THBmm)  4,329.3 22729  (47.5%) 8,403.2 7,856.2 (6.5%)
Net Profit THBmMm) 24141  1,246.7  (48.4%) 44257  4,359.4 (1.5%)

Normalized Total Revenue and

0 0,
Share of Profit” (THBmm) 8,725.5 4,303.6 50.7% 17,002.6 14,303.4 (15.9%)

Normalized Net Profit’? (THBmm) 2,488.5 ,214. 51.3%  4,420.2 4,526.3

" Normalized Total Revenue and Share of Profit = Total Revenue excluding FX impact and extraordinary items

? Normalized Net Profit = Net Profit excluding FX impact and extraordinary items

KEY HIGHLIGHTS

« For 2024, the Company reported total revenue and share of profit for THB 14,341.6 mm and net profit for
THB 4,359.4 mm. This statutory figure consists of the normal business operation and FX impacts, which
was mainly unrealized gain/loss. If focusing on normal business operation, the Company’s normalized total
revenue and share of profit for 2024 was THB 14,303.4 mm and normalized net profit was THB 4,526.3 mm.

+ Revenue from Rental Property & Property Management and Green Logistics Business for 2024 was THB 1,632.7
mm increased by 23.1%, compared 2023, mainly due to higher leasable area and occupancy rate, as well
as start having rental income from Green Logistics Business in year 2024.

+ Revenue and share of profit from investments in joint venture from Land Business and Sale of Investment
Properties for 2024 was THB 7,116.0 mm, which decreased by 32.8% compared to 2023. This was consisting of;
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0 Revenue and profit sharing from Land Business for 2024 was THB 6,186.8 mm, which decreased by 19.19%,
compared to the same period of previous year. In 2024, the Company had land transfer totaling of 2,019.8
rai, a decrease from 2,196.8 rai in 2023. The land transfer in 2024 consisted of the Company’s owned land
in the amount of 1,369.7 rai (which the Company recognized as revenue from sales of real estate) and the
joint venture’s owned land in the amount of 650.1 rai (which the Company recognized as share of profit
from investment in joint venture).

o Revenue from Sales of Investment Properties for 2024 amounted to THB 929.2 mm, decreased by 68.5%
from 2023, due to the asset monetization to WHAIR in 2024 was having smaller size than the asset
monetization to WHART in 2023.

»  Revenue and normalized share of profit from investments in utilities business for 2024 was THB 3,040.0 mm,
increased by 6.9% from 2023, due to an increase in domestic and international water sales volume, especially
sales of value-added products, as well as an increase in share of profit from SDWTP.

« Revenue and normalized share of profit from investments in power business for 2024 was THB 1,392.4 mm,
decreased by 22.9% from 2023, mainly due to negative energy margin recognition from Gheco-One power
plant, despite an increase in revenue from solar power business by 19.4% from previous year.

» Financial costs for 2024 were THB 1,378.0 mm, increasing by 11.6% compared to previous year, due to having
new loan funding to support business expansion. The weighted average cost of fund increased from 3.16%
as of year-ended 2023 to 3.27% as of year-ended 2024, this is in line with market conditions.

+ The Company had a net profit for 2024 of THB 4,359.4 mm, a decrease of 1.5% from 2023, and a normalized
net profit for 2024 of THB 4,526.3 mm, an increase of 2.4% from 2023, mainly due to a higher profit margin
of the Land Business and Sales of Investment Properties, an increase in revenue from the Rental Property &
Property Management and Green Logistics Business, and an increase in revenue from the Utilities Business.

PERFORMANCE BY BUSINESS

Rental Properties Business

Consolidated Financial Statement 2023 2024 - 2023 m-

Revenue from Rental Property & (THB mm) 387.5 412.7 6.5% 1,326.6 1,504.3 13.4%
Property Management

- Rental and Service Revenue (THB mm) 291.6 327.5 123% 1,026.4  1,202.8 17.2%
- Management Income”” (THB mm) 95.9 852  (11.2%) 300.3 301.5 0.4%
Gross Profit (THB mm) 279.6 271.4 (2.9%) 907.4 1,002.6 10.5%
Gross Profit Margin (%) 72.2% 65.8% n.a. 68.4% 66.7% n.a.
GPM before adjustment with PPA” (%) 72.2% 65.8% n.a. 68.5% 66.7% n.a.
Revenue from Green Logistics (THB mm) - 44.3 n.a. - 128.4 n.a.
Gross Profit (THB mm) - 17.6 n.a. - 45.3 n.a.
Gross Profit Margin (%) - 39.8% n.a. - 35.2% n.a.

Revenue from Rental Property

& Property Management and
Green Logistics

' Management income from Property Fund and REIT

2 Excluding accounting impact of Purchase Price Allocation (PPA)
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1. Revenue from Rental Property & Property Management and Green Logistics Business for 2024 was
THB 1,632.7 mm which increased by 23.1% from previous year.
- Revenue from Rental Property & Property Management Business for 2024 was THB 1,504.3 mm,
increased by 13.4% from 2023, due to higher leasable area and occupancy rate.
- Revenue from the Green Logistics Business was THB 128.4 mm in year 2024, which is the year of
operation started.

2. Gross profit margin from Rental Property & Property Management and Green Logistics Business
for 2024 was 64.2%, down from 68.4% in 2023.
- Gross profit margin for Rental Property & Property Management Business for 2024 was 66.7%, down
from 68.4% in 2023.
- Gross profit margin for Green Logistics Business in 2024 was 35.2%.

Land Business and Sale of Investment Properties

Consolidated Financial Statement 4Q 2023 | 4Q 2024
Land Transfer - Company’s (Rai) 1,189.5 351.2 (70.5%) 2,196.8 1,369.7 (37.7%)
Owned Land
Land Transfer - JV's Land (Rai) - 97.9 n.a. - 650.1 n.a.
Total Land Transfer (Rai) 1,189.5 449.1 (62.2%) 2,196.8 2,019.8 (8.1%)
Land Sale Revenue and (THB mm) 4,114.4 1,622.3 (60.6%) 7,643.4 6,186.8 (19.1%)
Share of Profit
Land Sale Revenue (THB mm) 4,123.8 1,523.3 (63.1%) 7,658.6 5,624.8 (27.9%)
Gross Profit (THB mm) 2,407 1 1,007.9 (58.1%) 4,205.1 3,367.5 (19.9%)
Gross Profit Margin (%) 58.4% 66.2% n.a. 54.9% 61.0% n.a.
GPM before adjustment with (%) 61.7% 67.9% n.a. 58.2% 63.6% n.a.
PPA”
Share of Profit from JV's Land (THB mm) 9.4) 99.0 n.a. (15.2) 662.0 n.a.
Sale
Gross Profit Margin of JV (%) - 62.3% n.a. - 63.9% n.a.
Revenue and Share of Profit  (THB mm) 2,913.1 909.5 (68.8%) 2,951.3 929.2 (68.5%)
from Sale of Investment
Properties
Revenue from Sale of Invest- (THB mm) 2,782.7 909.5 (67.3%) 2,820.8 929.2 (67.1%)
ment Properties
Gross Profit (THB mm) 740.2 573.4 (22.5%) 743.7 575.2 (22.7%)
Gross Profit Margin (%) 26.6% 63.0% n.a. 26.4% 61.9% n.a.
GPM before adjustment with (%) 26.6% 62.8% n.a. 26.4% 61.7% n.a.
PPA”
Share of Profit from Sale of (THB mm) 130.4 - n.a. 130.4 - n.a.

JV's Investment Properties

Revenue and Share of Profit
from Land Business and Sale  (THB mm) (64.0%) 10,594.7 (32.8%)

of Investment Properties

" Excluding accounting impact from Purchase Price Allocation (PPA)
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Revenue and Share of Profit from Investments in Land Business and Sale of Investment Properties for

2024 was THB 7,116.0 mm, which decreased by 32.8% compared to 2023. This was consisting of;

- Revenue and profit sharing from Land Business for 2024 was THB 6,186.8 mm, which decreased by 19.19%,
compared to the same period of previous year. In 2024, the Company had land transfer totaling of 2,019.8
rai, a decrease from 2,196.8 rai in 2023. The land transfer in 2024 consisted of (1) the Company’s owned
land in the amount of 1,369.7 rai (which the Company recognized as revenue from sales of real estate) and
(2) the joint venture’s owned land in the amount of 650.1 rai (which the Company recognized as share of
profit from investment in joint venture). Whilst the land transfer in 2023 was all recognized as revenue from
sales of real estate.

- Revenue from Sales of Investment Properties for 2024 amounted to THB 929.2 mm, decreased by 68.5% from
2023, due to the asset monetization to WHAIR in 2024 was having smaller size than the asset monetization
to WHART in 2023.

Gross profit margin from Land Business and Sale of Investment Properties for 2024 was 61.1, which increased

from 47.2% of previous year.

- Gross profit margin from Land business for 2024 was 61.0%, increased from 54.9% in 2023, which had a gross
profit margin of 54.9%, due to adjustments in domestic land sales prices.

- Gross profit margin from Sales of Investment Properties for 2024 was 61.9%, increased from 26.4% in 2023,
due to the asset monetization to WHAIR in 2024 and the asset monetization to WHART in 2023, which had
different gross profit margins.

Utilities & Power Business

1. Utilities Business

Consolidated Financial Statement 4Q 2023 | 4Q 2024 Y;Y 2023 M
(o] (]

Revenue from Utilities (THB mm) 721.1 709.8 (1.6%) 2,861.4 2,967.7 3.7%

Business

- Utilities income (THB mm) 605.1 580.6 (4.1%) 2,400.2 2,469.2 2.9%

- |IE Maintenance (THB mm) 116.0 129.2 11.5% 461.1 498.6 8.1%

Gross Profit (THB mm) 245.7 229.6 (6.6%) 1,084.1 1,157.5 6.8%

- Utilities income (THB mm) 229.1 197.0 (14.0%) 931.6 968.5 4.0%

- |E Maintenance (THB mm) 16.7 32.6 95.7% 152.5 188.9 23.9%

Gross Profit Margin (%) 34.1% 32.3% n.a. 37.9% 39.0% n.a.

- Utilities income (%) 37.9% 33.9% n.a. 38.8% 39.2% n.a.

- |E Maintenance (%) 14.4% 25.2% n.a. 33.1% 37.9% n.a.

- GPM before adjustment (%) 36.5% 34.8% n.a. 40.3% 41.3% n.a.
with PPA”

- Share of Profit from (THB mm) (7.5) 4.2 156.1% (23.8) 72.2 403.7%
Investments

- FX Gain/(Loss) (THB mm) - - n.a. (7.0) - n.a.

Normalized Share of Profit (THB mm) (7.5) 4.2 156.1% (16.8) 72.2 530.9%

from Investments in Utilities

Business’

Revenue and Normalized

Share of Profit from Invest- (THB mm) 713.5 0.1%
ments in Utilities Business

/1

Excluding accounting impact of Purchase Price Allocation (PPA
2 Normalized Share of Profit from Investments in Utilities Business = Share of Profit from Investments in Utilities Business

excluding FX impact
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Revenue and Normalized Share of Profit from Investments in Utilities Business for 2024 was THB 3,040.0

mm, increased by 6.9% from 2023.

- Utilities income for 2024 was THB 2,469.2 mm, which increased by 2.9% from previous year, due to an increase
in domestic and international water sales volume, especially sales of value-added products.

- |IE maintenance fee was THB 498.6 mm, increased by 8.1% from 2023, due to accumulated land transfer
increase.

- Normalized share of profit from investments in utilities business for 2024 was THB 72.2 mm, increased by
530.9% from 2023 as an increase in share of profit from SDWTP.

Gross profit margin from Utilities Business for 2024 were 39.0%, higher than 37.9% in 2023.

- Gross profit margin for utilities income for 2024 was 39.2%, an increase from 38.8% in previous year.

- Gross profit margin for IE maintenance was 37.9%, an increased from 33.1% from 2023.

2. Power Business

Consolidated Financial Statement 4Q 2023 | 4Q 2024 2023 m
(] (]

Revenue from Solar

. (THB mm) 84.8 141.8 67.3% 413.7 493.9 19.4%
Business
Gross Profit (THB mm) 33.4 57.2 71.2% 186.0 215.2 15.7%
Gross Profit Margin (%) 39.4% 40.3% n.a. 45.0% 43.6% n.a.
Dividend income” (THB mm) - - - 75.0 57.5 (23.3%)
Share of Profit from Invest- (THB mm) 610.6 650  (89.3%)  1,373.2 856.3  (37.6%)
ments in Power Business
- FX Gain/(Loss) (THB mm) 140.5 (102.6) (173.0%) 55.5 15.3 (72.5%)
Normalized Share of Profit
from Investments in Power (THB mm) 470.1 167.7 (64.3%) 1,317.7 841.0 (36.2%)

Business’

Revenue and Normalized

Share of Profit from Invest- (THB mm) 309.5 (44.2%) 1,806.4 (22.9%)
ments in Power Business

* Dividend income from GLOW IPP Co., Ltd.
2 Normalized Share of Profit from Investments in Power Business = Share of Profit from Investments in Power Business ex-

cluding FX impact.

Revenue and Normalized Share of Profit from Investment in Power Business for 2024 was THB 1,392.4 mm,

which decreased by 22.9% from previous year.

- Revenue from Solar Business for 2024 was THB 493.9 mm, increase by 19.4% from 2023, due to increasing
of electricity sale.

- Dividend income from Glow IPP for 2024 was THB 57.5 mm, reduced by 23.3% from 2023.

- Normalized share of profit from investments in power business for 2024 was THB 841.0 mm, decreased by
36.2% from 2023, due to negative energy margin recognition from Gheco-One power plant.

Gross profit margin from Solar Business for 2024 was 43.6% reduced from 45.0% in 2023.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 95



Other Income

YoY YoY
Consolidated Financial Statement 4Q 2023 | 4Q 2024 ; 2023 2024
(] 0

Dividend income and

. . (THB mm) 153.8 185.7 20.8% 511.9 788.9 54.1%
management Income
Others” (THBmm)  (399.9) 2920  173.1% (120.0) 356.4  397.0%
Total Other Income (THB mm) (245.6) 477.7 294.5% 391.9 1,145.2 192.2%
Normalized Others’® (THBmm)  (113.8) 105.2  192.5% (83.4) 333.2  499.4%

Normalized Total Other
Income

627.5% 428.4 1,122.0 161.9%

' Dividend income and management income excluding management income from property fund and REIT and dividend

income from GLOW IPP Co., Ltd.
2 Others compose of interest income, gain on sale of investment, loss from revaluation of long-term investment and other
income as well as FX impact.

” Normalized Others are Others excluding FX impact.

Normalized total other income for 2024 were THB 1,122.0 mm which increased by 161.9% from 2023, which

were mainly from;

- Dividend and management income during 2024 was THB 788.9 mm which increased by 54.1% from 2023,
resulting from recognition of management income of THB 188.0 mm from industrial estate development for
joint venture (WHAIER), and share of profit from investment in joint venture (WGCL) for THB 100.0 mm.

- Normalized others comprised of interest income, gain on sale of investment, loss from revaluation of long-term
investment and other income, totaling of THB 333.2 mm in 2024 increased by 499.4% from previous year.

Expense Analysis

Consolidated Financial Statement 4Q 2023 | 4Q 2024 Y:;Y 2023 Y;Y
() (]
Selling expenses (million baht) 226.5 109.8 (51.5%) 465.0 362.7 (22.0%)
Administrative expenses (million baht) 589.0 542.3 (7.9%) 1,639.5 1,607.0 (2.0%)
Finance expenses (million baht) 317.4 346.6 9.2% 1,234.7 1,378.0 11.6%

Total expenses (THB mm) 1,132.9 998.8 (11.8%)

« Selling expense for 2024 was THB 362.7 mm which decreased by 22.0% from 2023, which was mainly from
lower number of land transfer of the Company’s owned portion.

« Administrative expense during 2024 was THB 1,607.0 mm which decreased by 2.0% from previous year.

« Finance expense during 2024 was THB 1,378.0 mm, increasing by 11.6% compared to previous year, due to
having new loan funding to support business expansion. The weighted average cost of fund increased from
3.16% as of year-ended 2023 to 3.27% as of year-ended 2024, this is in line with market conditions.
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FINANCIAL STATUS

120,000 Unit: THB mm

100,000

8,000

90,225.0— 101,541.1—

~ 52,902.5 ~ 63,030.3
6,000
4,000

— 37,322.4 — 38,510.8
2,000
0

2023 2024
@ Total Assets ® Total Equity @ Total Liabilities

The changes in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of 31 December 2024 are summarized as follows.

Assets

As of 31 December 2024, the Company had total assets of THB 101,541.1 mm, which increased by THB 11,316.2
mm from THB 90,225.0 mm as of 31 December 2023. The main reasons are as follows:

1. Anincrease in Cost of real estate development (net) of THB 5,035.5 mm from the business expansion.

2. Anincrease in investment properties (net) of THB 1,867.4 mm according to the Company’s investment plan.
3. Anincrease in Property, plant and equipment (net) of THB 1,801.8 mm from the business expansion.
Liabilities

As of 31 December 2024, the Company had total liabilities of THB 63,030.3 mm, which increased by THB 10,127.8
mm from THB 52,902.5 mm as of 31 December 2023. The increase was from having a new loan funding for
business expansion and increase in weighted average cost of fund approx. 0.11% from 3.16% as at the end of
2023 to 3.27% as at the end of 2024.

Equity

As of 31 December 2024, the Company had total equity of THB 38,510.8 mm, which increased by THB 1,188.4
mm from THB 37,322.4 mm as of 31 December 2023.
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KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS

Consolidated Financial Statements 2023 m

Gross Profit Margin (%) 46.4% 54.0%
Net Profit Margin (%) 26.0% 30.4%
D/E Ratio (times) 1.4 1.6
Net IBD to Equity (times) 0.9 1.0
Average Collection Period (day) 14.6 21.9
Average Payment Period (day) 146.1 311.1
Effective Tax Rate (%) 11.5% 16.9%

Credit Terms

Average collection period for 2024 was 21.9 days which was increase a bit from the average collection period
of last year. Generally, the Company has provided to clients at 0-45 days depending on type of business. This
is attributed to the efficiency in collection management.

Average payment period during 2024 was 311.1 days which increased from 146.1 days in 2023. Besides, the
payment period determined by the credit term given by each supplier, depending on type of services/products
they provide. The Company has payment guidelines for our suppliers as each credit term and make sure that
there will be no delayed payments. The Company could manage cash efficiently. As a result, the Company did
not encounter any problems with our suppliers’ payment and was able to comply the Company policy’s credit
term. However, the average payment period mentioned above is higher than the Company policy’s credit term
because account payable items had included deposit, retention and accrued interest expenses.

Effective Tax Rate

For 2024, the Company had earnings before tax (EBT) of THB 5,779.1 mm and corporate income tax (CIT) of
THB 977.4 mm, which was equivalent to the effective tax rate at 16.9%. An effective tax rate was lower than
the corporate income tax rate at 20.0% because of difference of tax calculation between taxable items and
non-taxable items.

SUSTAINABILITY DEVELOPMENT

The Company reaffirms its position as a global and national leader in sustainability through its commitment
to responsible business operations. By integrating Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) principles into its
corporate strategy, WHA has taken concrete steps toward sustainable development. In 2024, the Company was
honored with the Best Sustainability Awards in the Sustainability Excellence category at the SET Awards 2024,
organized by the Stock Exchange of Thailand in collaboration with Money & Banking Magazine. This marks the
fourth consecutive year that WHA has received this prestigious award, reflecting its dedication to sustainable
business practices across all dimensions. The Company also secured the highest “AAA” rating in SET ESG Ratings
2024 for the second consecutive year and recognized as a Thailand Sustainability Investment stock in the Property
and Construction sector for the fifth consecutive year. This recognition, announced by the Stock Exchange of
Thailand (SET), underscores the Company’s robust sustainability standards and responsible business practices.

Furthermore, WHA has achieved global recognition by ranking in the Top 1% and securing the No.1
worldwide score in the Real Estate Management & Development sector of the S&P Global Sustainability Index.
This recognition, announced in the Sustainability Yearbook 2025 by S&P Global, marks the third consecutive year
that WHA has been included in this global sustainability index, reinforcing its position as a leader in sustainable
development on the international stage.

98 WHA PREMIUM GROWTH FREEHOLD AND LEASEHOLD REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST



The Company remains committed to advancing sustainable practices alongside strong business growth.
Beyond ensuring stable financial performance, WHA actively creates positive environmental and social impacts,
adhering to its mission: “WHA: WE SHAPE THE FUTURE.” This vision drives the Company to build a sustainable
future for all stakeholders and elevate Thailand’s position on the global sustainability stage. As part of its
sustainability goals by 2029, WHA Committed to achieving 20,000 EVs in service and target 1,200 MW of renewable
energy capacity, expected to reduce GHG emissions by approximately 683,000 tons of o, equivalent per year.
In addition, the Company aims to reduce natural water consumption by 25 million cubic meters annually,
equivalent to the household water usage of over 685,000 people. Another key initiative is achieving Zero Waste
management, ensuring no landfill disposal or incineration of waste, driving a truly sustainable future. With these
initiatives, the Company continues to shape a greener and more sustainable world, reinforcing its role as a driving
force in Thailand’s sustainable development on a global scale.

e Environment Dimension

Utilities and Power Management

The Company has a comprehensive approach to water management, beginning with sourcing, industrial
water production, wastewater treatment, and water reuse, as well as reducing water loss in the production and
distribution process. Through this approach, the Company reduces risks and complies with relevant laws, achieving
sustainable water resource management while minimizing potential impacts on surrounding communities.

The Company also utilizes advanced technology to locate new water sources to reduce dependence
on surface water and incorporates various innovations into water management processes. One key project is
the Water Reclamation project, currently having capacity of 35,320 cubic meters per day. In 2024, this project
reduced natural water source extraction by 7.8 million cubic meters. The Company aims to increase production
to 70,000 cubic meters per day, or approximately 25 million cubic meters per year, by 2029, equivalent to the
water consumption of over 685,000 people. Achieving this goal will significantly reduce natural water source usage.

Volume of Water Reclamation Cubic Meters 7,257,718 7,635,533

Reduction in Natural Water Source Extraction Cubic Meters 7,461,450 7,849,316

Additionally, the Company is committed to continually developing its products and utility services to meet
the diverse needs of its customers, adding value to its business, and supporting sustainable growth in the future.

For power business, given that the Company’s operations directly rely on natural resources, it recognizes
the importance of addressing greenhouse gas emissions and global warming. The Company focuses on minimizing
environmental impact by reducing greenhouse gas emissions through the establishment of infrastructure that
promotes sustainable renewable energy. By incorporating current technology and researching new innovations,
the Company aims to achieve tangible environmental impact reduction throughout its value chain. Since 2021,
the Company has already achieved carbon neutrality in Scope 1 and 2 greenhouse gas emissions. Nonetheless,
the Company remains committed to achieving net zero emissions by 2050 following the Science-Based Targets
Initiative (SBTI) to further support renewable energy usage. For example, the Company provides clean energy
solutions to customers, such as installing solar rooftop systems, where it invests in and installs the systems for
the customers. This comes with long-term power purchase agreements (PPA) to offer customers the benefits of
clean and sustainable energy. By the end of 2024, the Company signed private PPA solar rooftop projects with
industrial customers a total of 290 MW and the electricity produced from solar power was able to reduce Scope
2 greenhouse gas emissions equivalent to approximately 61,808 tons COZ.
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Cumulative PPAs of Solar Rooftop Projects Megawatts
Cumulative COD of Solar Rooftop Projects Megawatts 109 151
Electricity Sales from Solar Rooftop Energy Kilowatt-hour 112,920,628 157,354,758
T f
Greenhouse Gas Emissions Reduction (Scope 2) ons.o COZ 51,497 61,808
Equivalent

e Social Dimension

Corporate Social Responsibility and Sustainability Initiatives

The Company prioritizes conducting business in alisnment with sustainability principles, considering
social, environmental, and governance (ESG) dimensions to create a positive impact on communities and the
environment. The Company focuses on four key areas: education, health and quality of life, environment, and
economic community development. The following are examples of initiatives undertaken by the Company:

1. Education Development

The Company has continuously implemented programs to provide educational equipment and scholarships
to schools surrounding industrial estates, enhancing educational opportunities for youth. Additionally, the
Company has launched a teacher fellowship program to support schools experiencing an increase in student
enrollment due to industrial expansion. Another initiative is the foreign language learning program, offering
Thai language courses for Chinese nationals and Chinese language courses for Thais to enhance cross-cultural
communication skills.

2. Health and Quality of Life

The Company has supported a flu vaccination program for the elderly and high-risk community members
near its industrial estates. Additionally, it has provided medical equipment to local hospitals to improve healthcare
services. One WHA Run program, a health-focused running event, encourages employees and community members
to engage in regular physical exercise. The Company has also launched WHADbit, a health knowledge-sharing
application, and provides first aid and CPR training for employees in industrial estates.

3. Environment

The Company has implemented WeCYCLE project to promote waste separation and recycling, reducing
landfill waste and greenhouse gas emissions. This initiative involves businesses, communities, and educational
institutions in collecting used plastic, used paper, and used cooking oil to be upcycled into new products such
as school bags, educational supplies, and sustainable aviation fuel (SAF). Additionally, Shine Brighter with WHA
project installs solar rooftops in schools to encourage clean energy usage, reduce educational institutions’ energy
costs, and lower the Company’s carbon footprint.

The Company also engages in reforestation and green space conservation projects in collaboration with
government agencies and private sector partners, expanding green areas around industrial estates to absorb
greenhouse gases. WHA Clean Water for Planet project promotes constructed wetland wastewater treatment
to improve water quality in surrounding communities and facilitate water reuse.

4. Economic Community Development

WHA Pan Gan project supports local businesses and community enterprises by providing them with
opportunities to sell their products both online and offline. The Company also organizes community markets
within industrial estates and extends the initiative to WHA Pan Gan Roadshow, enabling local vendors to participate
in business fairs alongside companies operating within WHA industrial estates, such as Auto Alliance (Thailand)
Co., Ltd. This initiative increases sales opportunities and revenue streams for local businesses.
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The Company further supports community products as part of New Year gift packages for clients and
business partners. It also promotes sustainable agriculture by offering affordable land leasing for local farmers,
ensuring stable income sources while preventing deforestation and promoting eco-friendly farming practices.
Moreover, the Company operates WHA E-Job Pool project, a digital employment platform connecting job seekers
with businesses in WHA industrial estates, particularly within the Eastern Economic Corridor (EEC). Launched in
2017, this initiative has helped businesses advertise job openings and streamline recruitment. With over 300
companies investing in WHA industrial estates since 2017, the platform has played a crucial role in meeting the
growing labor demand, facilitating tens of thousands of job placements.

In 2024, the Company implemented a comprehensive CSR program covering all aspects of sustainability
education, health, environment, and economic development to enhance the quality of life for stakeholders and
contribute to a more sustainable society and economy in Thailand. This aligns with the Company’s commitment
to shaping a better future under the vision: “WHA: WE SHAPE THE FUTURE.”

3 Governance and Economic Dimension

Good Corporate Governance

The Company has always prioritized good corporate governance, recognizing that transparency, ethical
business conduct, and strict compliance with laws are fundamental to sustainable growth. With this commitment,
WHA continuously enhances its corporate governance standards to ensure integrity, accountability to all
stakeholders, and adherence to the principles of transparency, honesty, and fairness in all business operations.

WHA has established an effective risk management framework alongside promoting a corporate culture
rooted in governance principles. The Company’s business ethics serve as a guiding framework for the Board
of Directors, executives, and employees at all levels to protect stakeholders’ interests fairly and equitably.
Additionally, WHA upholds human rights principles, fosters trust among internal and external stakeholders, and
mitigates potential negative impacts that may arise from business operations.

As a result of this strong commitment, WHA received a 5-star or “Excellent” Corporate Governance (CG)
Scoring in 2024 for the seventh consecutive year from the Thai Institute of Directors (I0D), supported by the Stock
Exchange of Thailand (SET). This recognition reinforces WHA’s robust governance standards and its track record
of operations free from corruption or unethical practices. Nevertheless, the Company continues to develop and
refine its corporate governance policies to align with business transformations, technological advancements,
and sustainability trends. This ensures that its operational strategies remain relevant and effectively address
economic, social, and environmental dimensions. WHA also promotes equity and fairness within the organization,
emphasizing the establishment of policies that provide equal opportunities for all employees. Additionally,
the Company conducts regular audits and evaluations to uphold strong governance standards and reinforce
transparency in business operations.
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12.

102

Limitation on Allocation of the Trust Units

Limitation on Allocation, Holding and Transfer of the Offered Trust Units

Determine other details of the offering, and the allotment of the additional trust units, including but
not limited to, the number of trust units to be issued and offered for sale, structure of the final offering,
subscription period, allotment method, offering method, subscription ratio, offering ratio, offering price,
condition and subscription method, including other conditions and other details related to the offering,
and the allotment of additional trust units to be issued and offered for sale to the existing trust unitholders
of WHART, and the allotment method in case the existing trust unitholders subscribe to trust units in
excess of the amount they are entitled to, including offering and allotment of the outstanding trust units
from public offering to other investors, and to have its discretion to consider allotting or denying the
allotment of the additional trust units to any trust unitholders, or any investors, or trust unitholders who
are American, Canadian, Japanese or any nationality other than Thai if such offering or allotment of the
additional trust units does not comply with the regulation related to offering and allotment of trust unit
enforced in Thailand or country of the trust unitholder’s nationality, or causing unreasonable burden and

operation expenses.
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13. Policy and Limitation of Benefit Distribution

The benefit distribution policy of the Trust shall be in accordance with the following criteria:

13.1 The REIT Manager shall distribute benefits or return of not less than 90% of the adjusted net profit
for the fiscal year. The distribution of the benefit shall include annual distribution and interim
distribution (if any). The REIT Manager shall make distribution to the holders of trust units of no
more than four (4) times per year. Except, in the case that the Trust increases its capital, the Trust
is allowed to conduct the benefit distributions of more than 4 times per year for the benefit of the
holders of trust units.

Adjusted net profit means net profit referred to cash position of the Trust which is deducted loan
principal repayment and other obligations which become due by taking cash position (if any) into
consideration.

13.2 Inthe case where the Trust still has an accumulated loss, the REIT Manager shall make no distribution
to the holders of trust units.

13.3 Upon the benefit distribution to the trust unitholders in each accounting period, the REIT Manager
shall announce the distribution, close the register of trust unitholders in order to specify names
of the trust unitholders who are entitled to receive the benefit, and make distribution within the
specified period as follows:

a. For Year-End Distribution,
The REIT Manager shall distribute the benefit within 90 days from the end of the fiscal year.
Such benefit shall be distributed within the period of not over 30 days from the closing date
of the register of trust unitholders in order to determine the rights of the trust unitholders who
are entitled to such benefit.

b. For Interim Distribution,
The REIT Manager shall distribute the interim benefit (if any) within 90 days from the end of
the accounting period of the latest quarter prior to such benefit distribution. Such benefit shall
be distributed within 30 days from the closing date of the register of trust unitholders who are
entitled to the benefit.

13.4 The trust unitholders who are entitled to receive the benefit are those whose names appear in the
register of trust unitholders as of the closing date of the register of trust unitholders whereby the
benefit to be received must be proportionated to the trust unit holding of each trust unitholder. In
the case where it appears that any person(s) holds trust units in excess of the ratio specified in the
relevant SEC notifications, such person(s) shall not be allowed to receive the benefit of the trust
units which represent the portion in excess of the ratio as specified under the SEC notifications.

Cash Distribution Payment

Since the establishment of WHART on 8 December 2014, WHART has distributed the payments as follows:
- Dividend: 44 times, dividend payout ratio of 6.5199 Baht per unit, totaling to Baht 15,394.87 million
- Capital reduction: 22 times, capital reduction payout ratio of 1.0361 Baht per unit, totaling to Baht 1,163.58
million

Since the establishment of WHART until 2018, WHART paid dividends at a total rate of 2.9657 Baht per
unit. The total amount is 2,456.53 million Baht and the WHART pays capital reduction at a total rate of 0.8449
Baht per unit. The total amount is 646.28 million Baht and since 2019 onwards, WHART has a history of paying
benefits from operating results with the following details:
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Cash distribution from operation period of year 2019.

Cash Distribution (Baht/unit)

Operation Period Payment Date

Rlesnd Palijde—(:sa(f:;)?tal
1 1 January - 31 March 2019 22 May 2019 0.1460 0.0455 0.1915
2 1 April - 30 June 2019 22 August 2019 0.1715 0.0200 0.1915
3 1 July - 30 September 2019 21 November 2019 0.1715 0.0200 0.1915
4 1 October - 15 November 2019 18 December 2019 0.0965 = 0.0965
5 16 November - 31 December 2019 25 March 2020 0.0794 0.0120 0.0914

Total 0.6649 0.0975

Cash distribution from operation period of year 2020.

Cash Distribution (Baht/unit)

Operation Period Payment Date

1 1 January - 31 March 2020 2 June 2020 0.1715 0.0200 0.1915
2 1 April - 30 June 2020 27 August 2020 0.1780 0.0135 0.1915
3 1 July - 30 September 2020 23 November 2020 0.1915 - 0.1915
4 1 October — 31 October 2020 14 December 2020 0.0638 - 0.0638
5 1 November - 31 December 2020 22 March 2021 0.1195 - 0.1195

Total 0.7243 0.0335

Cash distribution from operation period of year 2021

Cash Distribution (Baht/unit)

Operation Period Payment Date - Decreasing
Paid-up Capital
1 1 January - 31 March 2021 14 June 2021 0.1915 - 0.1915
2 1 April — 30 June 2021 2 September 2021 0.1915 - 0.1915
3 1 July — 31 October 2021 8 December 2021 0.2553 - 0.2553
4 1 November - 31 December 2021 25 March 2022 0.1195 - 0.1195
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Cash distribution from operation period of year 2022

Cash Distribution (Baht/unit)

Operation Period Payment Date . Decreasing
Paid-up Capital
1 1 January - 31 March 2022 15 June 2022 0.1915 - 0.1915
2 1 April — 30 June 2022 2 September 2022 0.1920 - 0.1920
3 1 July — 31 October 2022 13 December 2022 0.2553 - 0.2553
4 1 November - 31 December 2022 24 March 2023 0.1265 - 0.1265

Total 0.7653

Cash distribution from operation period of year 2023

Cash Distribution (Baht/unlt)
Operation Period Payment Date - Decreasing .
Paid-up Capital

1 1 January - 31 March 2023 9 June 2023 0.1915 - 0.1915
2 1 April — 30 June 2023 7 September 2023 0.1930 - 0.1930
3 1 July — 31 October 2023 12 December 2023 0.2590 - 0.2590
4 1 November - 31 December 2023 22 March 2024 0.1300 - 0.1300

Total 0.7735 0.7735

Cash distribution from operation period of year 2024

Cash Distribution (Baht/unit)

Operation Period Payment Date . Decreasing
Paid-up Capital
1 1 January - 31 March 2024 07 June 2023 0.1915 - 0.1915
2 1 April = 30 June 2024 06 September 2023 0.1930 - 0.1930
3 1 July — 31 September 2024 13 December 2023 0.1930 - 0.1930
4 1 November - 31 December 2024 19 March 2024 0.1358 0.0602 0.1960

Total 0.7133 0.0602

Grand Total 6.5199 1.0361
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15. Trustee Opinion

winnswdiansnasnunansing
FHREE EE KASIKORN ASSET MANAGEMENT

¥

PB.0.025/2568
Opinion of the Trustee
13 February 2025
To Trust unitholders of WHA Premium Growth Freehold and Leasehold Real Estate Investment Trust

I, Kasikorn Asset Management Company Limited, as the Trustee of Real Estate Investment
Trust, has supervised and monitored the management of WHA Premium Growth Freehold and
Leasehold Real Estate Investment Trust (“the Trust”) managed by WHA Real Estate Management

Company Limited for the accounting period from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024.

1 am of the opinion that WHA Real Estate Management Company Limited has reasonably and
appropriately performed its duties in managing the Trust in accordance with the objectives specified
in the Trust Deed, the prospectus and provisions under Securities and Exchange Act B.E. 2535, and

Trust for Transactions in Capital Market Act B.E.2550.

Best Regards,

VN

( Mrs.Yodploy J.Kunopakorn)

Head, Property Business Management Department #2

KAsset Call Center 02-6733888 = o o ZS LJ
. 3J‘iﬂ‘l‘5°(|ﬂ‘i$6]ﬂﬂ‘5$‘ﬂﬂ1ﬂ 4 oo e
www.kasikornbank.com a witsluuddneassurensndnslne

114 WHA PREMIUM GROWTH FREEHOLD AND LEASEHOLD REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST



"ainin} U} Ul SIOPOYNUN 1SNIL BY) PUE L HVHM
0] pPeppE 8njeA 81880 ||IM puUB 8WOooU| sjeloush
01 |enuelod B 8ABY O] SB ||9M SB S8snoysiem
Aulenb-yb1y a1 JO JBUMO 8U) 8UI0D8J PUEB 1S89AUI O}
1HVHM 8I0eus [[im 1i se 8|qe1daooe sI SIUL “%26'S
punoJe s|esieidde Juspuadsepul 84} WO} pauIRlqo
senjeA pesieidde 1semo| a8yl ueyl Jeybiy si 1sniy
8y JO S18SSE Ulew Syl Ul JUSWISBAUI JO 8NnjeA 8y |

SUOI}IPUOD pue 8dlid 8y} UO JOSIAPY

Jeloueulq pue sebeuepy 1134 8y} jo uoiuido

panwi] Auedwo? 21ignd uonesodiod YHM 10 uosiad pajejal 1o/pue paywi] Auedwod o1gnd uoneiodiod VHM L' L'9L
Jabeuepy 1134 a9y} jo uosiad pajejal 1o sabeuepy |34 9yl pue isni] a8y} usamiaq uoljewojul uonoesuel] snoinald L9l

"I HVHM Jo @ouewlopad
Bunesado pue anusal |elual Jo Alljigels 8yl ul
S}NsaJ yolym anusnal aiessusb o1 |eiusiod ayl
aAey pue Auedwod Bulpes| ale s108(oid 8y JO
SJoWo01sno ulew ay| "uolierlodsues) ulew ul
pPa1e00| YoIym S18SSE |enusiod Ul JUsWISaAUl ue Se
PamaIA SI Od| WU} S18SSY UIBA 8Ul Ul JUBWISBAU|

uopoesuel]
Aued pajejay 8y} jo ajeuoijey pue A}ssedsN

(sesuadxe pue sas} Juens|al
JBU10 SE ||om Se xe) ssauisng
ol108dg pue o8} uonelsibal
‘Xel pappe anjeA Buipn|oxs)
UOI[IIN ¥2'G8¢E‘Y 1yegd

uoiljoesueld |
Aued pajejay ays jo anjep

| 108[01d £2"WH
peJ]-eubueg Jowua) sonsibo] ebolN YHM  (8)
SL'wH
peJ]-eubueg Jowua) sonsibo] ebolN YHM (2
"O°a Buegenipe vHM (1)
:ale yoiym ,dnous) WHAA,, Yim
1usWsaIby abelbLIoN 8yl pue Juswdinbs pue sj00]
‘wisisAs Allnn e Jo JusWwealBy 8seydind pue ajes syl
‘JusWwealby ases Bulp|ing pue pueT ayi ‘Bulping
pue pue| Jo JusWaalby aseyoind pue a|es ayi ol
Jo1Ud ||eys 1YVHM 1o Jleyag uo Bunoe aa1sni|
7102 Ul Bupieyo @o1d [efu|
a8y} WoJy s18ssy uleN 8y Jo aoud aseyoind (L1

uonoesuel] Aed pajejay ay jo adA L

1SNJ] 8y} JO S1esse ulew ul JuswisaAul (|

'SMOY|0J Se pazeul

-WINS 2Je SUOIDBSURIY 243 JO S)1e1oQ “ISNi] 2yl JO IaSeuewl | |3y 2y se Sunde Auedwod) syl pue 1sni| oyl usamiaq suoidesuel) Aued paiejas pey 1snil syl ‘4z0z Ul

pue Jabeuepy 1|34 9y} Jo suosiad pejejal Jo Jebeueyy 1134 8yl pue isni] 8y} UsaM}aq uoljew.lojul uooesuel] ‘9|

labBeuely 1134 @y Jo uoluido

115

ANNUAL REPORT 2024



"8inin} 8y} Ul
SJspjoyluN 1snil syl pue | 4YHM 01 peppe snjeA
818840 ||IM pue 8Wwoou| 8lessusl 01 |enusiod e
aAeY 0] Se ||lom se saesnoyalem Aljenb-ybiy ayy Jo
JBUMO 8} 8W098g pue 1SaAUl 01 | HYHAM o|qeus
[IiM )1 se 8|qe1dad2e sI SIUL %0 | Uey) s8] INg %G
s|esiesdde Juspuadepul 8y) WOoJ} paulelgo san|eA
pasieidde 1semo| ayy uey Jeybiy sI g ou S19ssy
UlB\l [BUOCIHIPPY 8U} Ul JUBWI1SaAUI JO 8njeA ay |

"SJep|oyHuUN puUe 1SNJ1 8Y} 01 Jjeuaq ag pinOM YoIym
oljoj1od 8y Jo enuanal 8y} AjIsJeAIp Os|e e alay |
"1snJ1 8y} 01 8ouewWIopad puUB BNuBAdJ B|gelS Bul
ajesausb osje s1osfoud ay] ‘puejieyl ul sonsIBoT
JO J81U80 8yl ale yolym peoy Hyolduleyejuoyd
Buojyydel] pue 1od Buegeyd wee ‘uodily
[BUOREBUIBIU| IWNYJEUJIeANS 8y} Jeau uoneuodsuesy
AQ 8|qIssa00e Ajjus|uaAuod aJe s108foid 8y 1sni|
a1 Ag paisenul s108(o.ud Jayio se swes Alljenb ybiy
aJe s108foud Jo Aljenb ay] 'slewolsno enusiod AQ
pajual pue paroniisuod Aj@ie|dwoo ale s1osefoid
8y 'S19Sse |enualod Ul JUBWISAAUl UB SB PaMBIA
S| 20U S18SSY UlE\ [BUORIPPY Ul Ul JUBWISaAU|

(sesuadxe pue ses) JuBAB|Bl
JBU10 SE ||om Se xe) ssauisng
ol108dg pue o8} uonelisibal
‘Xe] pappe anjeA Buipn|oxa)
UoI|IIIN 00°06 ‘v 1uyed

Bueqgelspe] Jewua) sonsibo] ebalN VHM — (2)
Gy

Hyoiduseyejuoyg JeeQ sonsibo] eBeN YHM (1)

:8Je yoiym ,dnots YHM,, Uim

JuBWsaIby abebLIoN 8yl pue Juswdinbs pue sj00]

‘wielsAs AN e Jo 1uaWaalBy 8seyoind pue sjes aui

‘Juswealby ases Buip|ing pue pueT ayi ‘Buipiing

pue pue| Jo 1UsWaaIBy 8seydind pue s|es ayl Ol

J21U8 |[eys IHVHM 1O jleyaq uo Bunoe as1sni|
910g Ul g'ou aseasou| [endeD 8yl Woly g'ou

s1essy UIg)\l [eUONIPPY 8u1 Jo sold eseyoind (€71

'8In1n} 8y} Ul SISpjoyHuN isniL syl
pue | HHA 01 Pappe anjeA 81ea.d [|IM PUe auooU|
a1eJousb 01 [enusiod B 8AeY O] SE ||oM SB S9SNOYSIEM
Ayjenb-ybiy aui JO JoUMO 8Y} BULODSQ PUB 1SSAU| O}
LHVHM @[qeua |im ) se 8jqeideode si sIYL "%ES'8
punoJe sjesieidde juspuadspul 8y1 WOJL pauleiqo
soen|eA pasieldde 1semo| ayy ueyy Jeybiy si L-ou
S19SSY UIBA| [BUORIPPY ©U} Ul JUSWISaAUL JO 8njeA sy L

SUOIIPUOD pue 89lid 3y} UO JOSIAPY

|e1oueuld pue Jabeuey 1134 8y} jo uoiuido

1HVHM Jo 8ouew.opad
funelado pue snusaal |elual JO Alljigels 8yl ul
S}NsSaJ Yolym anusnai aiessusb o1 eiusiod syl
aAey pue Auedwod Buipes| ale s1o8(oid sy JO
SJOWOISND Ulew 8y "uonepodsuel; ulew Ui pajeao)
yolym sjasse [enusjod Ul JUSWISOAUl UB SB PAMBIA
S| |"OU S18SSY Ul [BUORIPPY Ul Ul JUBWISaAU|

uonoesue.]
Aued palejay ayy jo ajeuoney pue A1ssadaN

(sesuadxe pue ses) JueAd|al
JBU10 SE ||om Se Xe] ssauisng
ol108dg pue a8} uonelisibal
‘Xe1 pappe anjeA Buipn|oxsa)
UOI[IIN L6°G¥9‘Y 1yed

uonoesuel]
Aued pajejay ays jo anjep

lINgeJes Jejuan
sonsiBo eBaN VHM / TIS 1UoeUH - YHM  (€)
19 loubuep Jeyus) sonsifoT eBON YHM  (2)
A
uyoiduseyejuoyg JeieQ sonsibo] eBoN YHM (1)
:81e yolym ,dnot) wHM,, Yim
JusWsaIby abebLIoN 8yl pue Juswdinbs pue sjo01
‘waisAs Ajnn e Jo Juswisalby 8seyoind pue ajes ayl
‘Juswealby ases Buip|ing pue pueT ayi ‘Buip|ing
pue pue| Jo 1UsWaaIBy 8seydiNd PUe S|eS 8yl 01Ul
J21Usd |leys IHVHM 1O jleyaq uo Bunoe as1sni|
G1OZ Ul |'ou aseasou| [ende) a8y} wodj |"ou
S18SSY UIBIA [eUORIPPY 8yl JO &oud aseyoind (gL

uonoesuel] Aued paie|ay ay} jo adA}

WHA PREMIUM GROWTH FREEHOLD AND LEASEHOLD REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST

116



"2Inin} U} Ul SIOPOYNUN 1SNIL BY) PUEB L HVHM
0] PeppPE 8Nn[eA 818810 ||IM pUBR SWOooU| sjeloush
01 |enuslod B 8ABY O SB ||9M S S8snoysiem
Allenb-yBiy 8y JO JSBUMO 8] BLI0D8J PUR ISSAU| O]
LHVHM 8[qeus [im 1) se 8|qe1daooe sI sIy1 "%’/
punoJe s|esieidde Juspusdsepul 8y} WO} paulelqo
sen|ea pesieidde 1semo| 8yl ueyl Jaybly si yoiym
UOIIIN OS'¥9Y' ¥ 1yeg si g ou asealou] [ended syl
WO} S18SsY UlBl\ &Y} Ul JUSWISOAUI JO 8NnjeA oy

'sJepjoyiun pue
Isn} 8y} 01 Jyousg 89 PINOM Yolym ojjojuod au}
JO @nuanal 8yl AJISIBAIp OS|e aJe a1ay] "1snJi aul
0] 9ouewlopad pue anusAal d|gels 8yl sielausb
os|e s108foid 8y ‘uoneuodsuel) Ag 8|qisseooe
Ajusiuaauod ale syoelold ay] “1snJl ayy Ag peisanul
s108fo4d Jaylo se swes Aijenb ybiy ate syosfoid
JO Aljenb ay] ‘siswioisno |enusiod AQ peiusl pue
pa1onJ1suoo Ajg1e|dwoo aJe s1oefold ay] ‘siosse
[eUS10d Ul JUBWIISOAUI UB SB POMBSIA S| £'0U 85880
-U| [eydeD ey} WO} S19SSY UIBA 8l Ul JUBWISaAU|

(sesuadxe pue ses) JuBAB|Bl
JBU10 SE ||om Se Xe) ssauisng
ol108dg pue 88} uonelisibal
‘Xe] pappe anjeA Buipn|oxa)
UOI[IIN 0G'¥9v ‘Y 1yeg

ungeles 19sa  (v)
(@'v Buipling) g 108[0id £2' W pel]-eubueg
leluey sonsibo] eB6ON NdAM-VHM (€
¢ 109loid pue | 108lold £9
JouBuBAA J8juaD) sonsIBo] ebal leluaD VHM  (2)
GE'Wy || euwiey Jowus) sonsibo eBolN YHM (1)
:aJe yoiym ,dnot) YHM,, Yim
JusWsaIby abebLIoN 8yl pue Juswdinbs pue sjo0]
‘wielsAs Al e Jo WuaWwaalBy 8seyoind pue sjes aui
‘Juswealby ases Buip|ing pue pueT ayi ‘Buip|ing
pue pue| J0 1UsWaaIBy 8seydINd PUe 8|ES 8yl Ol
J21Ud |[eys IHVHM JO jleyaq uo Bunoe as1sni|
810z Ul £'0u aseasou| [eydeDd ayi Wodj 7°ou
S18sSY UIBA [eUORIPPY 8u} JO 9o1d aseyoind (G|

"aInin} 8y} Ul
SJspjoyiuN 1snJL 8yl pue 1HYHM 01 PeppE anjeA
81E840 [|IM pue 8Wwodul aiessusb 0} |enusiod e
aAeY 0] Se ||om se sasnoyalem Alljenb-ybiy ay1 Jo
JBUMO 8} 8W098q pue 1S9AUl 01 | HWYHM o|qeus
[IM 1 se ajgerdadoe sI SIy L "% | pPunoJe sjesieidde
1uUspuadapul 8yl WOoJy paulelqo sanjeA psesiesdde
1s9MO| B} LB} JayBly s1 JUsUISSAUL [BUORIPPE PAIU}
BU1 WOJJ S19SSY UIB|A BU1 Ul JUSWI1SSAUI JO SNjeA 8y |

SUOI}IPUOD puk 89lid 3y} UO JOSIAPY
|eloueuld pue Jabeuepy 1134 8y} jo uoiuido

'SJep|oyun pue
Isni} 8y} 01 Jypuag 89 PINOM Yolym oljojuod au}
1O 8NuUBA8J BU} AJISIBAIP OS|e 8Je 848y "1SnJ1 8y} 01
2oueWwIoMad pue BNUBAaJ 8|gels 8y} alelausb os|e
s108foud ay] 1snJl ayi Agq paiseAul s1osefold Jsyio
se awes Ayjenb ybiy ale syosfoid jo Aljenb syl
'SIswWoIsSNo |enuslod AQ paiual pue pa1onJisuod
Al@19|dwoo aJe s1o8foid ay] "siesse |enusiod ul
JUSWISSAU| UB SB PMBIA S| JUBWISSAU| [BUORIPPE
pJIYl 8yl WoJdj S18ssy Ule|\ 8yl Ul JUSWISaAU|

uonoesue.]
Aued palejay ayy jo ajeuoney pue A1ssadaN

(sesuadxe pue ses} JueAB|Bl
JBU10 SE ||om Se Xe] ssauisng
ol108dg pue 88} uonelsibal
‘Xe1 pappe anjeA Buipn|oxs)
UoI|IIIN 00°060°E 1ued

uonoesue.]
Ayied pejejey ayi jo anjep

Buohey Aioroed vHM (1)
B} YN win Jeus) sonsibo eBoN YHM  (€)
(N Buipling pue O Buipling) 61" W
pel]-eubueg Jowuan sonsibo] ebaN YHM (@)
| 108[01d £'WH
uyoiduseyejuoyd 4o sonsibo] eeN YHM (1)
:81e yoiym ,dnot) wHM,, Yim
1usWsaIby abebLIoN 8yl pue Juswdinbs pue sjoo1
‘waisAs Ajnn e Jo Juswisalby 8seyoind pue ajes ayl
‘Juswealby ases Buip|ing pue pueT ayi ‘Bulping
pue pue| Jo 1UsWaaIBy 8seydINd PUe S|ES 8yl 01Ul
J21Ud |[BysS IHVHM JO j|eyaq uo Bunoe as1sni|
/10¢ Ul g'ou woly
S18SSY UIB|A [eUONIPPY 8y} JO 801ud aseydind (1|

uonoesuel] Aued paie|ay ay} jo adA}

117

ANNUAL REPORT 2024



"JUBWISSAUI IO} B|qeINS
8q 01 pauido JosiApe [eloueUl) JUspuadapul 1eyl
abueJ 81 Ul 0S|e S| 8NjeA JUBWISBAUI SIY | "8Jning 8yl
ul siepjoyiun isnil eyl pue [ HYHM O} peppe
an|eA 81880 [|IM pue awooul 8jessusb 0] lenusiod
e aAeY 0] Se ||om se sasnoyalem Ayljenb-ybiy syy
JO JBUMO 81 8W028Q pue 1S8AUl 01 | HYHM d|qeus
[I1M 1l se 8|geldeoode sI sIy "%0 | punoJe sjesieidde
Juspuadapul 8y} WoJ} paulelqo sanjea pasieldde
1S8MO| 8y} Uey} Jaybiy S| G'ou asealou] [eyde) syl
WOoJy S18SSY UIBJ\l 8Y} Ul JUBWISSAUL JO anjeA ay |

'sJepjoyiun pue
Isn} 8y} 01 Jyeusg 89 PINOM Yolym ojjojuod au}
JO @nuanal 8yl AJISIBAIp OS|e aJle a1ay] "1snJi eyl
0] 9ouewlIopad pue anusAal 8|gels 8yl siesausb
os|e s109(oid ay] ‘uoneuodsuel AQ 9|qISseooe
Ajpusiuaauod aJe syoeloid ay] “i1snJ ayy Ag peisanul
s108fo4d Jay1o se swes Aljenb ybiy ae syosfoid
JO Aljenb ay] ‘siswioisno |enusiod AQ peiusl pue
pa1onJ1suoo Ajg1e|dwoo aJe s1oefold ay] ‘siosse
[eUS10d Ul JUBWUISOAUI UB SB POMBSIA S| G'OU 85880
-u| [eydeD a8y} woJ) S18SSY UIB|A 8U1 Ul JUSWISBAU|

(sesuadxa pue ses) 1uens|al
JBU10 SE ||om Se xe) ssauisng
ol108dg pue o8} uonelisibal
‘Xe] pappe anjeA Buipn|oxa)
UOIIIIN 26 €€2'E 1ued

®41'a
Buip|ing) g 109loid g2 wy pes-eubueg
leluey sonsibfo] eB6oN NdM-VHM (€
2 109oid
Buegeyowesa] Jajua) sonsibo] ebaN VHM  (2)
(v Buiping) | 108f0id
Buegeyowesa] Jajua) sonsibo] ebaN VHM (1)
:ale yoiym ,dnot YHM,, Yim
JuBWsaIby abebLIoN 8yl pue Juswdinbs pue sjo0]
‘wielsAs AN e Jo 1uaWaalBy 8seyoind pue sjes aui
‘Juswealby ases Buip|ing pue pueT ayi ‘Bulpiing
pue puej Jo Juswealby aseydind pue a|es ayi ojul
J21U8 |[eys IHVHM 1O jleyaq uo Bunoe as1sni|
020gZ Ul G'ou asealou| [eydeD ay) WoJy g "ou

S18SSY UIB|A [BUOOLIPPY 8yl Jo 9oud eseyoind (/'

"aJnin} 8y} Ul
sJepjoynuN 1sni| 8yl pue | HVHAA 01 peppe anjea
81e840 ||IM puUB SWOoOoU| 8leisusl 01 |enusiod e
aAeY 0] Se [|om se sesnoysalem Alljenb-ybiy sy Jo
JBUMO 8} 8W098q pue 1SaAUl 01 | HYHAM o|qeus
[IM 1 se 8|gerdadoe sI SIy L "% | PunoJe sjesieidde
1uspuadapul 8yl WOJ) paulelqo senjeA pasiesdde
1S8MO| 8Y} Uey} Jaybly si #°ou asealou] [eydeD aur
WOJy S19SSY UIBIAl 8Y} Ul JUBWISSAUL JO aNnjeA a8y

SUOIIPUOD pue 89lid 3y} UO JOSIAPY

|e1oueuld pue Jabeuey 1134 8y} jo uoiuido

'SJep|oyiun pue
Isn} 8y} 01 Jypuag 89 PINOM Yolym ojjojuod au}
JO 8nuanal 8yl AJISIBAIp OS|e aJe aJay] "1snJi aul
0] 8ouewlopad pue anusAal d|gels 8yl siesausb
os|e s109(oid ay] ‘uoneuodsuely AQ o|qisseooe
Ajpusiuaauod ale syosfoad ay] “i1snJl ayr Ag peisanul
s108(oud Jsylo se swes Ayjenb ybiy s.e syoslfoid
JO Aljenb ay] 'siawoisno |epusjod AQ pajual pue
pa1onJ1suoo Aj@1e|dwoo aJe s1oefoud ay] ‘siosse
[EUS10d Ul JUBWIISOAUI UB SE POMBIA S| 7"0U 85880
-u| [eydeD a8y} woJ) S18SSY UIB|A 8U Ul JUSWISBAU|

uonoesue.]
Aued palejay ayy jo ajeuoney pue A1ssadaN

(sesuadxs pue ses) Juens|al
JBU10 SE ||om Se Xe] ssauisng
ol108dg pue a8} uonelisibal
‘Xe1 pappe anjeA Buipn|oxsa)
UOIIIIN G2 088°‘Yv 1ued

uopoesuel |
Aued pajejay ayi jo an

(H3'D Buip|ing) g 108l01d £ WM pes -eubued
leluep sonsibo] eB6aN NAM-VHM (9
g éseyd g'w
uyoiduseyejuoyg 4o sonsibo] eBoN YHM (1)
(fonajiun) g W
uyoiduseyejuoyg 4o sonsibo] eBoN YHM  (€)
Aioyoed Bulyosoy YHM  (2)
SwalsAg eanowoIny Jelwixeeld S1d YHM (1)
:81e yolym ,dnot) wHM,, Yim
JusWsaIby abebLIoN 8yl pue Juswdinbs pue sjo01
‘waisAs Ajnn e Jo Juswisalby 8seyoind pue ajes ayl
‘Juswealby ases Buip|ing pue pueT ayi ‘Buip|ing
pue puej Jo Juswealby aseydind pue a|es ayi ojul
J21Usd |leys IHVHM 1O jleyaq uo Bunoe as1sni|
6102 Ul f'0u aseasou| [eydeDd ayi WoJy Gou
S18SSY UIB\ [BUORIPPY Ul Jo 8o1d 8seyoind (97|

uonoesuel] Aued palejay ayl jo adA |

WHA PREMIUM GROWTH FREEHOLD AND LEASEHOLD REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST

118



"uonelooe aney
[llm sJspjoynun O} sHjeuad 8y} eyl pajoadxe
SI 1 ‘IsnJ] 8y} ‘/ "ou aseasou| eudeD sy Jeuy

"JUBWISSAU] JO} B|gelNS 8q 0} pauldo Jos|Ape
[e1oueul Juspuadapul 1ey: ebuel sy} ul Os|e S|
pue 8|geuoseal Se PaMSIA S| YoIym (sesuadxa
pUE S99} JUBAS|SJ JBU1O SE ||oM Se XE] Ssauisng
o1J108dg pue 88} uoielisibal ‘Xel pappe anjeA Jo
BAISN|OXd S| 98} [EMBUSJ YONS pUe pjoysses| syl
MBUSBJ 0] S8PI0BP 1SNJ] 8yl uaym Ajuo a|qehied)
000°'000°0G2 e JO 98} [emdual Yum sieak 0g
JBYI0UE 10} P|OYases| 8yl mauai 0} 1ybL aaey
[I1M 1SNJ1 8y} ‘198[01d Med 82JewwoD-3 YHM
104 *(sesuadxe pue sa8) JUBAS|8J JBYIO SE ||om
Se Xxe} ssauisng oW10adg pue as) uolelisibal
‘Xe) pappe snjeA Bulpn|oxa) UOIIIN 02.67S'G
1yeg uey} 8J0uWl 10U JO JUBWISSAUI JO 8NnjeA 8yl
"81nInJ 81 Ul sI9pjoyluN 1SNJL 8yl pue 1HVHA
01 PePPE 8NjeA 818a.90 [|IM PUE 8WODU| 81elausb
01 [enualod e aAeY O] SE [|oM SE sasnoyalem
Allenb-ybly ayi Jo JoUMO 8y} SwW0o8q pue
1S8AUI 01 ] HVHAM 9]|gBus [|IM 1l Se 8|qe1dadde S|
sIy] ‘s|esiesdde yuspusdapul 8yl WO pauleiqo
sonjen psesieldde 1samo| sy} Jeybiy usoled Q|
Alsrewixoidde s| yolym UOI|IN 022 61S'S ued
UBy} 8JOW 10U S| / 0U 8seasou| [endeD syl woy
S19SSY UIBJAl ®Yl Ul JUSWIS8AUl JO dnjeA ayl

SUOI}IPUOD puk 89lid 3y} UO JOSIAPY

|eloueuld pue Jabeuepy 1134 8y} jo uoiuido

"SJSP|OYHUN pUE 1SNJ} 8y} 01 juaq &g PINom
yolym oljojiod ayy Jo anuanal syl Alsiaaip disy
OS[e pue 1SnJ] 8y} 0} dnuaAal S|gels a1elauab |jim
yolym ases| wis-Buo| Yyim Os|e aie pue ssauisng
Buimolb pue |geis Uo aJe s}esse uleul asayl Jo
S1UBUS]} 8Ul ‘uolippe U] “Ja1usd A0 Moxbueg 01
$S800B ASea sMmO|je yolym (1unquoyn-eubueq)
Aepn ssaldx3 esyiaedelng 01 1usoelpe s| 1l se
AJisSnpul 80J8WWO09-8 10} snosbeluenpe S| j|asl
108f04d 8y} ‘OS|Y "SSBUISNQ 92J8UWWO0D-8 10} 8U0Z
OlLIOUO0D8 |ejoads aq 0} paounouue osje si198(oid
BY} pUE BaJy JOPIIOD OlWOoU0OT ulelsed o Ued
S| yolym aouinoad oesbusoyoeys Jo Led e S| ealy
Buoxedbueg *Anunoo sy} Jo sued uleises-yuou
pue uisyuou 0} s1osfoid Buirnguisip Jo) eale Aay
BU} SI pPUB S81E1SS [BLISNPUI JO SJegquinu 8y} pue
MoyBueg 0} 8S0|O S| J|9S)l eale 8y "eale yoybueq
uJayuou Jo} uoieoo| Asy eyl sl ealy IouBUBAA 'Speo.
ulew Jayio 01 8|qISS829. AJUsIUSAUOD S| pue LodJy
ILUNYQBUUBANS 01 8SO[0 Pa1ed0| S1 1 Se uonepodsuesy
pue so11s160| 40} Uolled0| O1b8lellS Byl S| eale
peoy peJ ]| -eubueqg ‘uoneuodsuely Ag 8|gisseooe
AJUSIUBAUOD 8Je pue SU0BO0| O1681e11S Ul Pa1ed0|
ale snJ] ayl Ag paiseaul s1o8fold Jaylo se swes
Aijenb ybiy Jo ale s1osloid € 8y 's1esse |enuslod se
PaJapISUOD S| / "OU S18SSY UIB\ SU} Ul JUSWISOAU|

uonoesue.]
Aued palejay ayy jo ajeuoney pue A1ssadaN

(sesuadxe pue ses} JueAB|Bl
JBU10 SE ||om Se Xe] ssauisng
ol108dg pue 88} uonelsibal
‘Xe1 pappe anjeA Buipn|oxs)
UOIIIIIN 02/ 6¥G‘G 1yed

uonoesue.]
Ayied pejejey ayi jo anjep

MIed 92J8WWOD-3 YHM  (€)
(v Buipiing) g 108l01d £2"WH
pel]-eubueg Jowuan sonsibo] ebaN YHM (@)
29 louBuep Jeus) sonsibo e6sN YHM (1)
:81e yoiym ,dnot) wHM,, Yim
JusWwsaIby abebuol syl pue uswdinba pue ‘sjooy
‘walsAs Aujnn Jo 1uswealfy aseyoind pue ajes syl
‘Juswealby ases Buip|ing pue pueT ayi ‘Bulping
pue pue| O JuswWaalbfy aseyoind pue ssjes ayi
01Ul J81UB ||eYS | HVHM JO JBysq uo Bunoe a81sni|
1 20g Ul (9 "ou aseaJou| [eudeD) J *OuU 4O}
S19SSY UIB|A |eUONIPPY 8y} JO 801ud 8seydind (8|

uonoesuel] Aued paie|ay ay} jo adA}

119

ANNUAL REPORT 2024



'2In1n} 8y} Ul SISpjoyHuN 1sniL syl
pue | HHA 01 PappPe anjeA 81ea.0 ||IM PUe auooU|
alessusb 01 |enuslod e aAey O] Se ||om se soNsIBo|
10} uoneoo| o1bs1elIs 8y} 1e PejedO| 8Je S)esse 8y |
‘Jueus) sy} pue Bulp|ing a8y yioq Aljenb aaey
UOIyM S80110 puUe S81I010e) sasnoyalem siosfod
Bunnguisip Ul 188AUl 01 1HVHA 8|qeus ||im 1
se o|geldsooe s| siyl ‘s|esiesdde juspuadspul
83Ul WoJ} paulelgo senjea pasiesdde 1samo| syl
Jaybiy wsolad Q| Ajprewixoidde si yoiym uol||iA
098°'0S0‘t 1yeg Uey} 80w Jou s| 8sealou| ended
U} WOJ} S19SSY UIBA SU} Ul JUBWIISBAUL JO dNnjeA 8y |

‘AloAnoadsal ‘000°000°901 PUE 000'00G'8 L
1yeg Jo 99} |[emausl yium siesk Qg Jayloue
10} ployases| sy} mauas 0} ybll oAy [|IM 1SNJ |
Byl ‘89 loubuepp Jelua)) sonsibo ebaly [enusd
VHM pue Aiojoe 8poubis YHA 404 ‘Uolippe Uj

"Alenoadsal ‘Jyeq /60°186° 1 pue 1yeq
¥21',16'96 [e10} poliad oses|gns sy} Inoybnoly}
1S00 asea|gns pue |enuue Aed 0} 8a4be isni] syl
‘6108[01d £Z'Wy peJl-eubueg Jeius) sonsIBoT
ebo|N VHM PuUe g w3 Meleday] Jajuad) sonsiboT]
ebo|N YHM 404 *(Sesuadxa pue ses) 1ueAs|al J8ylo
SE ||oM Se Xe} sseauisng o110ads pue 88} uonesiba.
‘Xe} pappe anjea Buipn|oxa) "S18SSe jueAs|al
pue sbuip|ing ul uawdinba ‘sjo0y ‘waisAs Aljin
ul Buiseyoind ‘|eiual JO 1SISUOD Yolym (asealoul
[exdeo Jo s1ep sy} uiyim JuswWAed) UOIIIN 0980501
1yeg ueyl 8Jow 10U S| g'0u asealou] [eydeDd syl
WOJ) S1I9SSY UIBIAl &Y} Ul JUBWISSAU] JO 8njeA ay |

SUOI}IPUOD pue 89lid 3y} UO JOSIAPY

|eloueuld pue Jabeuely 1134 3y} jo uoiuido

"}snJ] 8yl O} enusAal 8|gels Jo Buisealoul sy}
ul }nsaJ wJusl-Buo| ul polad |eluss abelaAe aney
os|e ‘selsnpul a|gels pue ymolb uiyum ayesado
pue |ejuaiod aAey sjueus) ayl ‘elowlsyin4
'SJep|oylun pue 1snJi 8yl 01 1jsusq 8q P|NOM Ydlym
oljojuod sy} Jo enuaAal syl Ajisienip djay pue isni |
By} O} dNuUdASJ B|gelS dleJdaushb [|IM Yolym ases|
we1-buo| yum os|e ale pue ssauisng Buimolb
pue 8|geIsS UO 8Je S1eSSe Ulew 8say} JO Sjueusl
B8yl ‘sedivwo|y Gz Alerewixoidde pod Buegeyd
wiee WOoJj JUBISIP YIM S8SNOyaiem pue Sali0joe)
|eLiisnpu| 8)esado 0} BaJe 8|geUNS S| YJIYM g d1e1sg
[elISNpU| pJeOCESS UISISET YHA 1B Paledo) s eale
eyoellS ul108(oid ‘uonippe uj ‘Aiunod sy} Jo sued
uJlaisea-yuou pue ulsyuou o} syosfold Bunnguisip
1o} Bale Aoy 8yl S| pue sa1elsa [elsnpul JO siequinu
2y} pue Moxbueg 0} 9S00 S| J|os) eale ay] ‘eale
MoxbBueg uleypou Joj Uoieo0| Aey 8y} S| 8dUIN0Id
eAeynnAy IS uoyyeN elyd ul 10L1sig loubuep
"SPEOJ Ulew Jaylo 0} 9|qISSed9ke AJJUSIUSAUOD
S| pue Jodily [wWNYgeuueAnS 0} 8S0|0 Paledo|
S| 1l se uojenodsuely pue sofisibo| 10} uoledo|
oI681e.1S BU} S| 80UINOIH UBseld Inwes ul 1011sId
Buoy oeg Bueg ‘uonenodsueldy Ag 8|qIssed0e
AJJUSIUBAUOD 8JE puB SUOIIBO0| OIf81e]S Ul Pa1edo|
ale 1snJu] ayl Ag paiseaul s1o8fold Jayio se swes
S814010B) pUE S8sNoyaem ‘s1osfosd Buinnquisip 4o}
Ayjenb ybiy Jo ale s1o8loid G 8y 's1esse |enusiod se
[PaJBPISUOD S| § "OU S18SSY UIB|A Y} Ul JUSWISSAU|

uonoesue.]
Aued palejay ayy jo ajeuoney pue AlssadaN

(sesuadxs pue ses) Juens|al
JBU10 SE ||om Se Xe] ssauisng
olj108dg pue a8} uonessibal
‘Xe1 peppe anjea Buipn|o
-X®) UO[[IIIN 098°0S0'Y 1yed

uopoesuel |
Aued pajejay ayi jo an

1 109[0.d pue ¢ 10980id £9
JouBuBAA J81uaD) sonsIBo eBal |elluaD VHM  (S)
(N ‘N 1M ‘P Bulpling) g 109(0id £2" W
pes | -eubuegq JejusD sonsibo eBSIN NdM VHM — (7)
(r ‘I Bupiing)
L2 Wy Meseday | Jejuag sonsibo ebeN YHM  (€)
Aioyoe4 spoubis YHM  (2)
(@ ‘0 ‘g buipiing) € 108(0id £Z" W
pel]-eubueg Jowuan sonsibo] ebaN VHM (L)
184 YoIym ,dnoun) YHM,, Yum uswdinba pue ‘sjooy
‘weisAs Aunn Jo weweslby aseyoind pue a|es
By} pue uswaaiby asea Bulp|ing pue puet ayi
01Ul JBIUS [[BYS 1HVHM JO Jleyaq uo Buioe asisni|
2202 Ul (2 "ou asealou| |eydeD) g "ou Jo}
S18SSY UIB\ [BUORIPPY U} Jo 8oud aseyoind (17|

uonoesuel] Aued palejay ayl jo adA |

WHA PREMIUM GROWTH FREEHOLD AND LEASEHOLD REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST

120



"UONBIO0. BARY ||IM SIBPJOYLUN O} S1iduaq 8yl 1eyl
pa1oadxe si 1l ‘1snJ| 8yl ‘g ‘ou asealou| jeude) ayl
JBYY "JUBWISOAUI JO} B|gelNS 8q 01 pauldo JosiApe
|eloueul 1uspuadapul 1eyl abues 8yl Ul Os|e si
aNjeA 1UBWISAAUI SIY] ‘JOA0BIOI "lUBUS) BY) pue
Buipiing ey yiog Auenb eney yolym seoo pue
S8110108) SESNOyaiem s108(04d BunNqUISIp Ul 1SaAUl
01 IMVYHM ®e|geus |Im 1 se s|geidsode si siyl
24NN} 8y} Ul sIspjoyuuN 1sniL eyl pue JYvHAM Ot
pappe anjeA 81ea1d ||IM pue swoduUl d1elausab 01
[enualod e aAey O} Se ||om Se sONIsIB0| 10} UONReOO|
01691e.1S 8U) 1B PA1EDO| SJE S}9SSE Y| JUBUS] 8y}
pue Bulpiing eyl y1og Alllenb eney yolym seo1o
pue sal010.) sasnoyalem s1098(oid Bunngquisip ul
1S8AUI 0} | HYHM ©|qeus [im 1l se o|geidaooe si sy L
‘s|esiesdde Juspuadapul 8y} WO} PaUIelgqo senjea
psasieiddeisemolayriaybiyiusoied Q| Aje1ewixoidde
SI YdIym UOIIIN 000'98%°99G°C yed ueyl aiow
10U S| 8sealou| [ende) syl Woly S1I9SSY UIB|N 841 Ul
JuswWIsaAUL JO 8njeA 8y L "UONIIIA #9G° LOE‘68 | 1yed
[e101 polad ases|gns ayi 1NoybBNOoJIY1 1S0D 8ses|gns
pueT |enuue Aed 01 @aibe 1sni] 8yl (H'O‘4‘3'g
Buip|ing) Lz wy Mededay] Jo1ua) sonsifo ebo
VHM 104 ‘(Sesuadxs pue sos} 1ueAs|al Jaylo se
[[oM Sk Xe] ssauisng ou0adg pue 998} uoneslsifal
‘xe] pappe anjeA Buipnoxe) 'S19SSe JueAs|al pue
sBulp|ing ul luswdinbs ‘sjoo1 ‘Bulp|ing pue puej ul
Buiseyoind ‘leluai JO 1SISUOD YoIym (8sealoul jended
40 @1ep 8y} ulyum uswiAed) UOI|IIN 000987995 C
1yeg ueyl 840w 10U S| g'OU 8sealou| |eyde) ayl
w0} S18SSY Ul SUl Ul JUBWISAAUI JO dnjeA ay |

SUOIIIPUOD pue 891id dY} UO JOSIAPY

|eloueuly pue Jabeuepy |34 ay} jo uoluido

"1SNJ] 8yl 01 enuaAal 8|gels alelaualb |[Im
Yolym os|e a.1e pue ssauisng Buimolf pue a|gels uo
a.Je S19SSe Ulell 9S8y} JO S1ueudl 8y ‘alowlayun4
‘SJep|oyHun pue 1snil eyl 01 Hjeusq aq pjnom
yolym ojjojiod syl Jo snusAal syl AJISISAIp OS|e
ale aJay] "1snJi ayl 01 8douewlopad pue anuaAal
a|ge1s ayl a1elausb osje s109foid ay] ‘siesse
[enua10d Ul JUSWISOAUI UB SE POMBIA S| 60U S19SSY
UlBl\| [BUOIIPPY @Yl Ul JUBWI1SSAU| "uoieuodsues]
|euoneulalul pue d1ISaWOoP JO Yl10g JO) JUSIUSAUOD
8yl 0] pes| saslewo|y Gz Arewixoidde 1od
fuegeyd waeT WOl WUBISIP YlIM S8SNoyaiem
pue sal010.} |eLisnpu| a1esado 01 eale 8|qeuns Si
UOIym pa1ed0| si eale eyoeIuS Ul 108[oid ‘uonippe
Ul "SpEoJ Ulew JBYl0 O} 8|qISS8I0. AJUSIUBAUOD SI
pue pody IunygeuueAns 03 8S0[0 paieoo0| Sl Se
uonepodsuel; pue soisiBo| 1oy uoneoo| dibaiens
U1 SI 90UIN0Id UBMeld INWEeS ul10L1sig Buoy | oes
fueg -uoneuodsuel AQ 9]qISSe00E A|JUBIUBAUOD
ale pue suoieodo| o1691e)S Ul pPa1edo| aJe ‘1sni]
a2yl AQ pa1sanul s108fold Jsylo se swes saliooe)
pue sasnoyalem ‘syosfoid Bunngrisip Joy Aujenb
ybly Jo aJe s109foud ¢ ay] 'siesse |enusiod se
PaJapISUOD S| G "OU S18SSY UIB|A U} Ul JUBWISOAU|

uonoesue.|
Aued pale|ay ay) jo ajeuoniey pue AlssadaN

(sesuadxa pue ses) 1uens|al
JBY10 Se ||om Sk xe1 ssauisng
o0adg pue 89} uoneasibal
‘Xe} pappe anjea Buipn|oxa)
UOIIIIN 000°987°995°C 1ued

uonjoesue.|
Ayed pajejay sy jo anjep

(5'4'9 Buip|ing) ¢ 108l01d £Z"W>|

pel]-eubueg Joiua) sonsibo] eBaN YHM ()
(ra'cq‘za’Ld buping)

| Bueqeyowae Jewa) sonsibo] ebo VHM  (2)
(H'D'4'3'g Buiping)

L2 W Meseday ] Jewus) sonsiboT eBeN YHM (1)
:81e YOIYM @ "OU 10} S18SSY UIB|A [BUOIIPPY
BU} YlUM JUeAs|al 1.y} Juswealby Ol Jojus
I1eys LYVHM JO jleyeq uo Bupoe s9isniy
£202 Ul (g "ou asealou| [elde)) g "Ou 1o}

S18SSY UIB|A |BUOIIPPY 8y} JO 8oud aseyoind (1|

uonoesuel] Aued paie|ay ay} jo adA|

121

ANNUAL REPORT 2024



2) Land sublet costs for the investment of main assets that WHART obtained from WHAPF mutual
fund in 2017

Characteristics of - Transaction of Land sublease cost

the Related Party Transaction - Trustee which acts on behalf of the WHART obtained the rights and

(RPT) obligations under the land sublease agreement from the WHAPF Mutual
Fund.

Necessity and reasonable - WHA Alliance Company Limited, a subsidiary of WHA Corporation,
of the Transaction formerly as a partial tenant of 5 title deeds (title deeds number 9025,
9026, 36752, 36753, 36754) with the landlord in the main land
sublease agreement to be used as the entrance-exit of the WHA - DKSH
Consumer Goods / WHA - Inthanon projects. Later, WHAPF mutual
fund invested in the said assets and make a land sublease agreement
with WHA Alliance Company Limited due to the landlord has no
desire to change the tenant in the main land lease agreement
The land sublease agreement having a determine period of 23 years,
11 months, and 2 days by having WHA Alliance Company Limited
acting as the partial land sublessor with WHAPF mutual fund in
the land sublease agreement.
- After WHART obtains the assets from WHAPF mutual fund, WHART
acquired to be parties with WHA Alliance Company Limited as the
Land sub-tenant by acquiring the rights and obligations under the land
sublease agreement from the WHAPF mutual fund.

The opinion of prices and - The land sublease agreement will be terminated under the main lease

conditions by REIT Manager agreement on January 23, 2036, with the land sublease rate as stipulated

and financial advisor amount in the land sublease agreement, which is equal to the land
rental fees in which WHA Alliance Company Limited Must pay to
the landlord according to the land sublease agreement.

- The REIT Manager and the financial advisor consider that the contract
period is sufficient for the revenue procurement of WHART and having
appropriate rental rate since itis equal to the rental fee that the sub-lessor
pays to the landlord under the main land sublease agreement.

3) Rental revenue under the terms of the Undertaking Agreement

Characteristics of - Rental and service income according to the terms of the Undertaking
the Related Party Transaction Agreement as follows
(RPT) - Thetrustee acts on behalf of the trust, make the Undertaking Agreement

with WHA Corporation and / or company in a group of WHA Corporation
to obtain the warehouse rental and roof space rental according to
the terms in the contract

Necessity and reasonable At the date that the trust invested each time on assets, in the case where

of the Transaction having a partial of building area and roof area that having none of tenant
and are in the process of searching for tenant or having a warehouse
rental contract that nearly reach the expiration, for the benefit of
the Trust and the Trust unitholders in obtaining the rental since the first
day the Trust invested WHA Corporation and / or the owner of the assets,
Therefore make the Undertaking Agreement with the Trust by agreeing to
pay for the building and roof rental of the aforesaid project to the Trust for
the area without tenants at the rental rate and the period in accordance
with the terms which specified in the Undertaking Agreement.
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The opinion of prices and
conditions by REIT Manager
and financial advisor

- For the rental rate of the aforesaid building is the rate that approximate
to the market rental rate of the warehouse space rental in the vicinity of
the assets which used by the appraiser in the appraisal, or the aforesaid
rental rate is not inferior to the rental rate of the area and the service
which is similar appraised rate to the other tenants.

- Three (3) years lease term of the building considered as a normal
condition for the warehouse buildings and factories.

- The bail bond deposit of the rental as a collateral for WHART is a general
condition for warehouse building rental business

4) Right to lease roof area under the Undertaking Agreement

Characteristics of
the Related Party Transaction

(RPT)

Necessity and reasonable
of the Transaction

The opinion of prices and
conditions by REIT Manager
and financial advisor

WHA Corporation and / or any connected person with WHA Corporation
has the right to lease roof space under a Undertaking Agreement prior
other persons by having the lease period not less than 15 years from the
investment date (for the WHA Mega Logistics Center Ladkrabang and
not less than twenty-five (25) years from the date of investment for other
projects from the day that WHART invested with the rental rate not less
than the rental rate at WHA Corporation accepts to pay for the roof rental to
WHART at that time and is equal to or not less than the rental rate offered
by other tenants to WHART (if any).

In the case where the roof area of the warehouse building of aforesaid
project has no tenants in which if on the date that the trust making
an additional invested and there is no tenant of such roof from WHART,
WHA Corporation agrees to be a person who instead pay the roof rental
to the Trust for the aforesaid specified time and at the rates stipulated
in WHA Corporation’s standard rental agreement with the rental rate
at 3 baht per square meter per month and the rental rate will increase
by 10% in every 5 years.

- Theroof area’s rental rate of the aforesaid building is the same rate as
the standard rental contract of WHA Corporation, which is considered
as appropriate as such rate covers the cost of the roof structure’s
readiness preparation for laying the Solar panels includes the desired
profits. For the timing conditions are appropriate due to it is the creating
of certainty for the Trust to recognize rental income for roof space
throughout such period

- The replacement of duties under the Undertaking Agreement to be
the right of renting the roof can be done under the conditions agreed
upon in the Undertaking Agreement which uses the same price as
the price agreed to pay for the rental at that time, which is considered
appropriate
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5) The additional amendment of the Undertaking Agreement (some agreements) to be in
accordance with the Undertaking Agreement for the Third additional main Assets Investment
in 2017

Characteristics of The additional amendments of the Undertaking Agreement between

the Related Party Transaction WHART and WHA Corporation dated on December 12, 2014, December

(RPT) 29, 2015, and December 7, 2016 in relation to the duties of the promisor
regarding the roof renting area to provide the rights to WHA Corporation
or person which related to WHA Corporation to rent the roof.

Necessity and reasonable The additional amendments of the Undertaking Agreement between

of the Transaction WHART and WHA Corporation dated on December 12, 2014, December
29, 2015 and December 7, 2016 in relation to the duties of the promisor
regarding the roof renting area to provide the rights to WHA Corporation
or person which related to WHA Corporation to rent the roof prior
other persons by having the lease period not less than 25 years from
the investment date of WHART with the rental rate not less than the rental
rate that the promisor accepts to pay to WHART at that time and is equal
to or not less than the rental rate offered by other tenants to WHART
(if any) depend on which number is higher, its purpose is for agility and
speed up the operations to expedite the roof leasing to WHA Corporation
or related persons with WHA Corporation. Since the rental of the roof is
a connected transaction between the REIT Manager and the WHART,
it must be approved by resolution of the WHART Unitholders’ Meeting.
The aforesaid process is the procedure that needs to take time and
documents preparation.

The opinion of prices and Adding the roof leasehold rights in advance is reasonable, since

conditions by REIT Manager it is the benefit of the REIT manager to be flexible and assist WHART

and financial advisor in saving costs and unreasonable time due to the lease of the roof which
is a connected transaction between the REIT Manager and the WHART
that requires approved resolution from the WHART unitholders meeting,
it is a process that needs to take time and prepare documents to be
submitted to WHART unitholders.

6) Leasing space in the current main assets of WHART.

Leasing of Trust’s assets (Roof area in the WHA Mega Logistics Center Chonlaharnpichit Km.3

Project 1)

Characteristics of - The revenue of roof rental.

the Related Party Transaction - WHA is the tenant of the roof space of the warehouse, factory, and

(RPT) office building of the WHA Mega Logistics Center Chonlaharnpichit
Km.3 Project 1 with a total leasable area of approximately 10,000.00
square meters.

Necessity and reasonable The granting of WHA to lease the roof of the aforesaid project is beneficial

of the Transaction to WHART and the trust unitholders so that WHART may earn more income

in addition to rental and service income of the building area.

The opinion of prices and The granting for sublease of the roof of the building, warehouse, factory,

conditions by REIT Manager and office of the said project in order for being the best beneficial

and financial advisor of WHART, as the Trust shall receive a rental fee at a rental rate and

a lease term that is comparable to the rental rate and lease period of
the roof area which existed prior WHART intend to invest in these
additional assets and the Undertaking Agreement on the assets that
WHART have invested in the past.
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Leasing of Trust’s assets (Roof area in the WHA Mega Logistics Center Chonlaharnpichit Km.3

Project 1)

Characteristics of - The revenue of roof rental.

the Related Party Transaction - WHA is the tenant of the roof space of the warehouse, factory, and

(RPT) office building of the WHA Mega Logistics Center Chonlaharnpichit
Km.3 Project 1 with a total leasable area of approximately 6,450 square
meters.

Necessity and reasonable The granting of WHA to lease the roof of the aforesaid project is beneficial

of the Transaction to WHART and the trust unitholders so that WHART may earn more income

in addition to rental and service income of the building area.

The opinion of prices and The granting for sublease of the roof of the building, warehouse, factory,
conditions by REIT Manager and office of the said project in order for being the best beneficial
and financial advisor of WHART, as the Trust shall receive a rental fee at a rental rate and

a lease term that is comparable to the rental rate and lease period of
the roof area which existed prior WHART intend to invest in these
additional assets and the Undertaking Agreement on the assets that
WHART have invested in the past.

Leasing of Trust’s assets (Roof area in WHA - Hitachi SIL / WHA Mega Logistics Center Saraburi)

Characteristics of - The revenue of roof rental WHA is the tenant of the roof space of the
the Related Party Transaction warehouse, factory, and office building of WHA - Hitachi SIL/ WHA Mega
(RPT) Logistics Center Saraburi with a total leasable area of approximately

36,450.00 square meters

Necessity and reasonable The granting of WHA to lease the roof of the aforesaid project is beneficial
of the Transaction to WHART and the trust unitholders so that WHART may earn more income
in addition to rental and service income of the building area.

The opinion of prices and The granting for sublease of the roof of the building, warehouse, factory,
conditions by REIT Manager and office of the said project in order for being the best beneficial
and financial advisor of WHART, as the Trust shall receive a rental fee at a rental rate and

a lease term that is comparable to the rental rate and lease period of
the roof area which existed prior WHART intend to invest in these additional
assets and the Undertaking Agreement on the assets that WHART have
invested in the past.

Leasing of Trust’s assets (Roof of Building A in the WHA Mega Logistics Center Lum Luk Ka)

Characteristics of - The revenue of roof rental WHA is the tenant of the roof space of the
the Related Party Transaction warehouse, factory, and office building A of the WHA Mega Logistics
(RPT) Center Lum Luk Ka with a total leasable area of approximately 3,917.00

square meters

Necessity and reasonable The granting of WHA to lease the roof of the aforesaid project is beneficial
of the Transaction to WHART and the trust unitholders so that WHART may earn more income
in addition to rental and service income of the building area.

The opinion of prices and The granting for sublease of the roof of the building, warehouse, factory,
conditions by REIT Manager and office of the said project in order for being the best beneficial
and financial advisor of WHART, as the Trust shall receive a rental fee at a rental rate and

a lease term that is comparable to the rental rate and lease period of
the roof area which existed prior WHART intend to invest in these additional
assets and the Undertaking Agreement on the assets that WHART have
invested in the past.
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Leasing of Trust’s assets (Roof of Building in Sripetch D.C.)

Characteristics of - The revenue of roof rental WHA is the tenant of the roof space of

the Related Party Transaction the warehouse, factory, and office building of Sripetch D.C. with a total

(RPT) leasable area of approximately 5,700.00 square meters

Necessity The granting of WHA to lease the roof of the aforesaid project is beneficial

and reasonable to WHART and the trust unitholders so that WHART may earn more income

of the Transaction in addition to rental and service income of the building area.

The opinion of prices and The granting for sublease of the roof of the building, warehouse, factory,

conditions by REIT Manager and office of the said project in order for being the best beneficial of

and financial advisor WHART, as the Trust shall receive a rental fee at the existing rental rate
over the rental period of the roof before WHART invests in this additional
property.

Leasing of Trust’s assets (Roof of Building in WHA - DKSH Consumer Goods / WHA - Inthanon)

Characteristics of - The revenue of roof rental WHA is the tenant of the roof space of

the Related Party Transaction the warehouse, factory, and office building of WHA - DKSH Consumer

(RPT) Goods / WHA - Inthanon with a total leasable area of approximately
6,000.00 square meters

Necessity and reasonable The granting of WHA to lease the roof of the aforesaid project is beneficial

of the Transaction to WHART and the trust unitholders so that WHART may earn more income

in addition to rental and service income of the building area.

The opinion of prices and The granting for sublease of the roof of the building, warehouse, factory,

conditions by REIT Manager and office of the said project in order for being the best beneficial of

and financial advisor WHART, as the Trust shall receive a rental fee at the existing rental rate
over the rental period of the roof before WHART invests in this additional
property..

Leasing of Trust’s assets (Roof of Building in WHA-Roechling Factory)

Characteristics of - The revenue of roof rental
the Related Party Transaction - The revenue of roof rental WHA is the tenant of the roof space of
(RPT) the warehouse, factory, and office building of WHA-Roechling Factory

with a total leasable area of approximately 3,400.00 square meters

Necessity and reasonable The granting of WHA to lease the roof of the aforesaid project is beneficial
of the Transaction to WHART and the trust unitholders so that WHART may earn more income
in addition to rental and service income of the building area.

The opinion of prices and The granting for sublease of the roof of the building, warehouse, factory,

conditions by REIT Manager and office of the said project in order for being the best beneficial of

and financial advisor WHART, as the Trust shall receive the existing rental fee at a rental rate
over the rental period of the roof before WHART invests in this additional
property..
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7)

Leasing of Trust’s assets (Roof of Building in WHA Mega Logistics Center Bangna-Trad km.19

Characteristics of
the Related Party Transaction

(RPT)

The revenue of roof rental

The revenue of roof rental WHA is the tenant of the roof space of
the warehouse, factory, and office building of WHA-Roechling Factory
with a total leasable area of approximately 6,660.00 square meters

Necessity and reasonable The granting of WHA to lease the roof of the aforesaid project is beneficial

of the Transaction

to WHART and the trust unitholders so that WHART may earn more income

in addition to rental and service income of the building area.

The opinion of prices and The granting for sublease of the roof of the building, warehouse, factory,

conditions by REIT Manager
and financial advisor

and office of the said project in order for being the best beneficial of
WHART, as the Trust shall receive a rental fee at the existing rental rate

over the rental period of the roof before WHART invests in this additional
property..

The Property Management fee and accrued expenses for current main assets of WHART

Characteristics of
the Related Party Transaction

(RPT)

Necessity and reasonable
of the Transaction

The opinion of prices and
conditions by REIT Manager
and financial advisor

The Property Management fee and accrued expenses.

The trustee acting on behalf of the Trust hires WHA Corporation as the
property manager with a period of hiring for 30 years.

In 2023, WHART has renewed the hiring of Property Manager
Agreement for the Kao D.C. projects which terminated on December
18, 2023 with renewal from December 14, 2023 to January 9, 2043.

The payment of such fee is in accordance with the Property Manager
Appointment Agreement for managing the current main assets of
WHART by WHA Corporation is the operator of real estate development
and Warehouse building rental, Distribution centers and Factories that
are developed according to the customer needs (Built-to-Suit) as well
as providing development services for ready-built construction projects
(General Warehouse) in a high standard under the Warehouse Farm
project and is a company with experience and expertise in the said
business including the manager who has experiences in this business
more than 20 years, which properly qualified to be an immovable
property manager of WHART.

WHA Corporation is the owner and / or manager of WHART’s current
main assets since the beginning and is an entrepreneur in Thailand with
experience and expertise in managing Warehouses, Distribution Center
and Factory buildings, also expertise in administrative, management
and consist of differently experienced and efficient staffs. They are
familiar with the assets that the Trust shall additionally invest in very
well. The appointment of WHA Corporation as Immovable Property
Manager for additional invested assets is the transactions that are in
the best beneficial of the Trust.

WHA Corporation collect Property Management fee from the Trust
which consists of actual expenses combined with a determined annual
rate of profit and not exceed 3% per annum of the net asset value of
the Trust (NAV).

The property management fee structure is in line with normal business
to create an incentive for property managers to generate income and
manage costs effectively whereby the fees rate that the Trust shall pay to
WHA Corporation is a rate that reflects the normal assets management
expenses incurred and the rate is not higher than the Property
Management fee ofimmovable property mutual funds / other comparable
immovable property investment trusts. This is an incentive
for property managers to generate income and manage costs effectively
by the fees rate that the Trust pays to WHA Corporation which is
a rate that reflects the normal assets management expenses incurred,
it is fair and reasonable, and the employment period of 30 years is
a condition that is appropriate and beneficial to the Trust. Moreover,
there is a condition to consider the performance of property managers
from time to time throughout the contract period
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16.1.2  WHA Real Estate Management Company Limited.

Characteristics of - Management fees and accrued expenses.

the Related Party Transaction - The trustee acting on behalf of the Trust hires WHA Real Estate
(RPT) Management Company Limited as the REIT manager

Necessity and reasonable - WHA Real Estate Management Company Limited is a subsidiary of
of the Transaction WHA Corporation which operates real estate development and rental

businesses in warehouse, distribution centers and factories having an
experience and expertise in the aforementioned business which may
assist support the business operation of WHA Real Estate Management
Company Limited. The directors and executives of WHA Real Estate
Management Company Limited are extensive experience persons in
real estate business and well understand in the business of warehouse
building, The distribution center and factory projects. Therefore, WHA
Real Estate Management Company Limited is suitable as a REIT
manager.

- The payment of such fees is in accordance with the REIT Manager
appointment agreement where WHA Real Estate Management
Company Limited is a subsidiary of WHA Corporation which may support
the business operations of WHA Real Estate Management Co., Ltd.,
including with the executive of WHA Real Estate Management Co., Ltd.
has well experience in real estate business

The opinion of prices and - WHA Real Estate Management Company Limited charges a fee for the
conditions by REIT Manager REIT Manager which consist of the basic rates and the fees rate for the
and financial advisor acquisition and disposition of the Trust’s assets as follows:

» Basic rate - accounted rate shall not exceed 0.75% per annum of
the net asset value of the REIT (NAV) and
» Fee Rates for Acquisition of Trust’s Assets
o In the case where assets of persons connected with the REIT
Manager - accounted rate shall not exceed 0.75% of the acquired
assets value of the Trust.
o In the case of other assets - accounted rate shall not exceed
1.00% of the acquired assets value of the Trust and
» Fees rate for disposing in which of Trust’s assets - accounted rate
shall not exceed 0.5% of the disposed assets value of the Trust.

- The structure of the said REIT manager fee is in the line of normal
business, comparable to the fund manager’s fee of the other mutual
property funds in domestic and REIT manager fees in which the fee
rate for acquisition and disposition of the Trust’s assets is comparable
to the same type of fees rate for overseas REIT managers.
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16.1.3  WHA Gunkul Green Solar Roof 1 Company Limited.

Characteristics of - Roof rental income.
the Related Party Transaction - WHA Gunkul Green Solar Roof 1 Company Limited leased the roof
(RPT) space from WHART by total leasing area of 7,302.20 square meters

which located in WHA Mega Logistics Center Bangna-Trad Km.18
rental rate of 3 baht / square meter for a period of 25 years from
April 30, 2014, which is the date that tenants started to distribute
the electricity into the commercial system (Commercial Operation Date)
to the Metropolitan Electricity Authority.

Necessity and reasonable Providing a joint venture company of WHA Corporation to rent the roof

of the Transaction of the said project is beneficial to WHART and the trust unitholders so
that WHART may earn more income in addition to the rental and service
income of the building area.

The opinion of prices and - Thejoint venture company of WHA Corporation leased the roof area of
conditions by REIT Manager the WHA Mega Logistics Center Bangna-Trad Km.18 from WHART by
and financial advisor considers it appropriates, since the rental rate for the roof area covers

the cost of readiness preparation of the roof structure for the installation
of solar panels including the desired profits.

- The aforesaid 25 years period is the corresponding condition with the
period of receiving the power purchasing agreement (PPA) with the
Metropolitan Electricity Authority which is considered appropriate.
Including the creating of certainty in the recognition of roof space rental
income to WHART during the said period.

16.1.4  WHA Gunkul Green Solar Roof 3 Company Limited.

Characteristics of - Roof rental income.
the Related Party Transaction - WHA Gunkul Green Solar Roof 3 Company Limited leased the roof
(RPT) space from WHART by total leasing area of 8,339.00 square meters

which located in WHA Mega Logistics Center Bangna-Trad Km.18 by
having a rental period for 25 years from April 30, 2014, which is the
date that tenants started to distribute the electricity into the commercial
system (Commercial Operation Date) to the Metropolitan Electricity

Authority.
Necessity and reasonable Providing a joint venture company of WHA Corporation to rent the roof of
of the Transaction the aforesaid project is beneficial to WHART and the trust unitholders so

that WHART may earn more income in addition to the rental and service
income of the building area.

The opinion of prices and - The joint venture company of WHA Corporation leased the roof space
conditions by REIT Manager of the WHA Mega Logistics Center Bangna-Trad Km.18 from WHART
and financial advisor considered it appropriates since the rental rate for the roof area covers

the cost of readiness preparation of the roof structure for the installation
of solar panels including the desired profits.

- The aforesaid 25 years period is the corresponding condition with the
period of receiving the power purchasing agreement (PPA) with the
Metropolitan Electricity Authority which is considered appropriate.
Including the creating of certainty in the recognition of roof space rental
income to WHART during the said period.
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16.1.5  WHA Gunkul Green Solar Roof 6 Company Limited

Characteristics of - Roof rental income.
the Related Party Transaction WHA Gunkul Green Solar Roof 6 Company Limited leased the roof space
(RPT) from WHART by total leasing area of 8,335.10 square meters which

located in WHA Mega Logistics Center Bangna-Trad Km.18 by having
a rental period for 25 years from April 30, 2014, which is the date that
tenants started to distribute the electricity into the commercial system
(Commercial Operation Date) to the Metropolitan Electricity Authority.

Necessity and reasonable Providing a joint venture company of WHA Corporation to rent the roof of

of the Transaction the aforesaid project is beneficial to WHART and the trust unitholders so
that WHART may earn more income in addition to the rental and service
income of the building area.

The opinion of prices and - The joint venture company of WHA Corporation leased the roof area of
conditions by REIT Manager the WHA Mega Logistics Center Bangna-Trad Km.18 from WHART by
and financial advisor considers it appropriates, since the rental rate for the roof area covers

the cost of readiness preparation of the roof structure for the installation
of solar panels including the desired profits.

- The aforesaid 25 years period is the corresponding condition with the
period of receiving the power purchasing agreement (PPA) with the
Metropolitan Electricity Authority which is considered appropriate.
Including the creating of certainty in the recognition of roof space rental
income to WHART during the said period.

16.1.6  WHA Gunkul Green Solar Roof 17 Company Limited.

Characteristics of - Rental Revenue
the Related Party Transaction - Trustee which acts on behalf of the Trust has signed an assignment to
(RPT) acquire the rental of the roof area of WHA Gunkul Green Solar Roof 17

Company Limited, total renting area 9,121.00 square meters, which is
in the WHA Mega Logistics Center Wangnoi 61.

Necessity and reasonable Providing a joint venture company of WHA Corporation to rent the roof of

of the Transaction the aforesaid project is beneficial to WHART and the trust unitholders so
that WHART may earn more income in addition to the rental and service
income of the building area.

The opinion of prices and - Thejoint venture company of WHA Corporation leased the roof space of
conditions by REIT Manager the WHA Mega Logistics Center Wangnoi 61 from WHART considered
and financial advisor it appropriates since the rental rate for the roof area covers the cost of

readiness preparation of the roof structure for the installation of solar
panels including the desired profits.

- The aforesaid 25 years period is the corresponding condition with the
period of receiving the power purchasing agreement (PPA) with the
Metropolitan Electricity Authority which is considered appropriate.
Including the creating of certainty in the recognition of roof space rental
income to WHART during the said period.
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16.2

16.2.1

Connected transactions between WHART with the Trustee and the involved person

with the Trustee.

Kasikorn Bank Public Company Limited and / or Affiliated Companies.

1) Interests and bank deposits incomes.

Characteristics of
the Related Party Transaction
(RPT)

Necessity and reasonable
of the Transaction

The opinion of prices and
conditions by REIT Manager
and financial advisor

2) Interests and loans

Characteristics of
the Related Party Transaction

(RPT)

Value of the Related Party
Transaction

Necessity and reasonable
of the Transaction

The opinion of prices and
conditions by REIT Manager
and financial advisor

- Interests and bank deposits incomes.
- A trustee acting on behalf of a trust carries the remain cash after
investment to deposit with Kasikorn Bank Public Company Limited.

Carrying the remain cash after investment in the additional assets to
deposit with the bank shall increase the interestincomes apart from rental
and service incomes.

The interest rate that WHART receives is the same rate that Kasikorn
Bank Public Company Limited offers to general customers which is the
normal rate condition of commercial and shall not affect the WHART to
lose any benefits

A trustee acting on behalf of the Trust may loan and provide collateral for
loans with Kasikorn Bank Public Company Limited and / or its subsidiaries
and / or affiliates company of Kasikorn Bank Public Company Limited.
Moreover, a subsidiary and / or an associated company of Kasikorn Bank
Public Company Limited, which may be a commercial bank, Financial
institution, Life insurance company, Non-life insurance company and /
or any other juristic persons who is connected with the Trustee, in which
able to provide loans to the Trust and may provide collateral loans.

As of December 31, 2023 having the loan balance with Kasikorn Bank
Public Company Limited and Affiliated Company is Baht 1,800 Million

In the year 2024, the WHART trust made a loan agreement with Kasikorn
Bank Public Company Limited and affiliated companies for 380 million
Baht to repay the matured loans. The loan agreement conditions specify
interest rate and front-end fee. The interest rate is not over than MLR
(Minimum Loan Rate) minus fixed rates per annuum or other interest rates
which depend on the agreement, unless an exception of some aspects
that specified in the loan agreement

The REIT Manager considered the terms of loan agreement for being
utmost benefits to the WHART by comparing the proposals from the
Trustee’s connected person and other financial institutions such as
the interest rate, etc. where the loan agreement which generated the
transaction shall have the conditions by not inferior to the proposals from
other financial institutions. Whereas the REIT Manager considers for both
short-term and long-term benefits of the WHART and WHART unitholders,
also the REIT Manager considered the transactions that WHART loans
from the Trustee’s connected person does not create a conflict of benefits
and causes the WHART to lose benefits due to normal commercial
practices (Arm’s Length Basis) and beneficial to WHART unitholders.
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16.2.2  Kasikorn Asset Management Company Limited

Characteristics of - Trustee fees and accrued expenses.
the Related Party Transaction - Kasikorn Asset Management Company Limited shall receive a fee for
(RPT) performing duties according to the scope of authority and responsibility

of the trustee in the trust deed.

Necessity and reasonable The Trust has hired Kasikorn Asset Management Company Limited as the

of the Transaction trustee for supervising the trust’s benefits. The trustee shall receive a fee
for performing duties according to the scope of authority and responsibility
of the trustee in the trust deed.

The opinion of prices and REIT Manager has considered the conditions and fee rates paid to
conditions by REIT Manager Kasikorn Asset Management Company Limited receives a monthly benefits
and financial advisor supervision fees at the rate shall not exceed 0.75% of the net asset values

of the Trust. Such fee rates are in the line with normal business in which
comparable to the fund manager fee of mutual property funds and Trust
for the investment in other domestic immovable properties.

Nevertheless, the aforementioned connected transactions that continue to exist in the future for
the benefit of WHART are Property Management fee, Rental income from WHA Corporation according
to the Undertaking Agreement, Management fee of the REIT Manager, Incomes from Roof and space
rental in the current main assets of WHART from the said joint ventures company and / or Affiliated
Company of WHA Corporation, Interest incomes and benefits supervision fees.

132 WHA PREMIUM GROWTH FREEHOLD AND LEASEHOLD REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST



WHA PREMIUM GROWTH FREEHOLD AND
LEASEHOLD REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 DECEMBER 2024

134 WHA PREMIUM GROWTH FREEHOLD AND LEASEHOLD REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST



Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Unitholders of WHA Premium Growth Freehold and Leasehold Real Estate Investment Trust

My opinion

In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of WHA Premium Growth Freehold and Leasehold Real Estate Investment Trust (the Trust) as at
31 December 2024, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with the accounting guideline for the Property Fund, Real Estate Investment Trust,
Infrastructure Fund and Infrastructure Trust established by the Association of Investment Management
Companies and endorsed by the Securities and Exchange Commission, Thailand.

What | have audited
The Trust’s financial statements comprise:

the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024;

the statement of details of investments as at 31 December 2024,

the statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;

the statement of changes in net assets for the year then ended;

the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

the notes to the financial statements, which include material accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

Basis for opinion

| conducted my audit in accordance with Thai Standards on Auditing (TSAs). My responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements section of my report. | am independent of the Fund in accordance with the Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants including Independence Standards issued by the Federation
of Accounting Professions (TFAC Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial statements and
| have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the TFAC Code. | believe that the
audit evidence | have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in my professional judgement, were of most significance in
my audit of the financial statements of the current year. | determine one key audit matter which is
the valuation of investments in properties. The matter was addressed in the context of my audit
of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming my opinion thereon, and | do not provide
a separate opinion on the matter.

ANNUAL REPRORT 2024

135



Key audit matter

How my audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of investments in properties

Refer to Note 4.3 to the financial statements
for ‘Accounting policy on investments in
properties’, Note 9 ‘Critical accounting estimates
and judgements’ and Note 10 ‘Investments in
properties at fair value’.

As at 31 December 2024, investments in
properties were presented at the fair value
of Baht 52,212 miillion, represented 95.51% of
the Trust's total assets. The REIT Manager
assessed the fair value of investments in
properties using an income approach method
by independent appraisers, as describe in the
accounting policy stated in Note 4.3.

| focused on this area because the valuation
of investments in properties made by REIT
Manager involved significant judgement and
assumptions. The REIT Manager applied
estimated future net cash flows which involved
significant assumptions, such as growth rate,
occupancy rate, capitalisation rate, estimated
future income and expense, and discounted rate.

| discussed with the REIT Manager and independent
appraisers to understand the basis used to measure
the investments in properties’ valuation.

| assessed the independent appraisers’ competence,
capabilities and objectivity and verified their qualifications.

| assessed the valuation method applied and checked
validity of data used in the estimation of the expected
future cash flows received from the properties:

e Evaluated the appropriateness of the future cash
flow estimates from independent appraisers by
reviewing the data inputs with these supporting
documents:

- the growth rate of revenue by comparing with
the historical information and supported
documents which includes recent renewals
rate on lease contracts.

- the occupancy rate by comparing with the
historical average occupancy rate.

- the estimated future net cash flows received
from these investment properties by agreeing
with the estimated revenue, expenses and net
investment gain.

- the discounted rate by considering the basis
of the discounted rate and benchmarking it
against the rate used by companies within the
same industries.

e Recomputed the calculation of the investments in
properties’ valuation based on the expected future
cash flows received from these investment
properties and the discounted rate which reflected
current market assessments and checked the
accuracy of the accounting transactions.

o Tested the sensitivity analysis and the possible
impact if there are changes in key assumptions.

Based on the work performed above, | found that the
key factors in applying accounting estimates and
judgements used by the REIT Manager related to
the valuation of investments in properties were in the
acceptable range of reasonable estimates.
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Other information

The REIT Manager is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report, but does not include the financial statements and my
auditor’s report thereon. The annual report is expected to be made available to me after the date of
this auditor's report.

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and | will not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other
information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

When | read the annual report, if | conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, | am required
to communicate the matter to the REIT Manager.

Responsibilities of the REIT Manager for the financial statements

The REIT Manager is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements
in accordance with the accounting guideline for the Property Fund, Real Estate Investment Trust,
Infrastructure Fund and Infrastructure Trust established by the Association of Investment Management
Companies and endorsed by the Securities and Exchange Commission, Thailand, and for such
internal control as the REIT Manager determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the REIT Manager is responsible for assessing the Trust's
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the REIT Manager either intends to liquidate
the Trust or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with TSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with TSAs, | exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. | also:

¢ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Trust’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the REIT Manager.
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e Conclude on the appropriateness of the REIT Manager’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Trust’s ability to continue
as a going concern. If | conclude that a material uncertainty exists, | am required to draw
attention in my auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Trust to cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

| communicate with the REIT Manager regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
| identify during my audit.

| also provide the REIT Manager with a statement that | have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on my independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the REIT Manager, | determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current year and are therefore the
key audit matters. | describe these matters in my auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, | determine that a
matter should not be communicated in my report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

PricewaterhouseCoopers ABAS Ltd.

Boonrueng Lerdwiseswit
Certified Public Accountant (Thailand) No. 6552

Bangkok
19 February 2025
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WHA Premium Growth Freehold and Leasehold Real Estate Investment Trust

Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2024

Assets

Investments in properties at fair value

Cash and cash equivalents

Deferred expenses

Deferred income from operating lease agreements
Refundable value added tax

Other assets

Total assets

Liabilities

Short-term borrowings from financial institutions, net
Accrued expenses

Unearned rental and service income

Deposits received from customers

Long-term borrowings from financial institutions, net
Debentures, net

Lease liabilities, net

Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Net assets

Net assets represented by

Capital received from unitholders
Retained earnings

Net assets

Net assets per unit
Unit trust outstanding at the end of the year (Units)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

2024 2023

Notes Baht Baht
10 52,211,798,545 52,807,817,947
1 1,851,646,081 1,915,447,714
- 23,890,835

451,623,956 394,925,281

- 21,489,158

153,311,705 136,664,954
54,668,380,287  55,300,235,889

12 3,171,475,103 1,790,677,591
128,897,489 133,168,969
27,896,773 15,438,024
1,388,993,813 1,377,126,094

12 1,380,622,419 2,375,390,025
13 10,812,989,213 11,181,655,493
14 772,558,080 792,231,614
58,972,811 175,470,387
17,742,405,701 17,841,158,197
36,925,974,586  37,459,077,692

15 36,454,787,905  36,454,787,905
15 471,186,681 1,004,289,787
36,925,974,586  37,459,077,692
10.6450 10.7987

15 3,468,827,441 3,468,827,441
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WHA Premium Growth Freehold and Leasehold Real Estate Investment Trust
Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ende 31 December 2024

2024 2023

Notes Baht Baht
Income
Warehouse rental and service income 3,325,915,950 3,266,803,579
Other rental and service income 30,875,204 40,584,708
Undertaking income 128,424,090 65,008,935
Interest income 34,018,946 25,280,638
Total income 3,519,234,190 3,397,677,860
Expenses
Costs of rental and services 93,634,740 77,660,997
Management fee 17 83,201,361 77,691,293
Trustee fee 17 31,225,086 46,772,729
Registrar fee 17 5,772,194 5,613,521
Property management fee 17 111,880,906 99,591,202
Other expenses 39,291,655 61,130,242
Financial costs 518,474,272 414,152,403
Total expenses 883,480,214 782,612,387
Net investment gain 2,635,753,976 2,615,065,473
Net loss from investments
Net loss from change in fair value of investments 10, 15 (714,807,436) (369,547,878)
Total net loss from investments (714,807,436) (369,547,878)

Increase in net assets from operations

1,920,946,540

2,245,517,595

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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WHA Premium Growth Freehold and Leasehold Real Estate Investment Trust
Statement of Changes in Net Assets
For the year ende 31 December 2024

2024 2023
Notes Baht Baht

Increase in net assets from operations
Net investment gain 2,635,753,976 2,615,065,473
Net loss from change in fair value of investments 10, 15 (714,807,436) (369,547,878)
Increase in net assets from operations during the year 1,920,946,540 2,245,517,595
Capital increase 15 - 1,814,844,361
Distribution payment 16 (2,454,049,646) (2,519,829,428)
(Decrease) increase in net assets during the year (533,103,106) 1,540,532,528
Net assets at the beginning of the year 37,459,077,692 35,918,545,164
Net assets at the end of the year 36,925,974,586  37,459,077,692

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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WHA Premium Growth Freehold and Leasehold Real Estate Investment Trust

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ende 31 December 2024

Cash flows from operating activities
Increase in net assets from operation
Adjustments for
Net loss from change in fair value of investments
Acquisition of investments in properties
Interest income
Financial costs
Change in net assets
Deferred expenses
Deferred income from operating lease agreements
Refundable value added tax
Other assets
Accrued expenses
Unearned rental and service income
Deposits received from customers
Other liabilities

Cash generated from operations
Interest received

Net cash generated from (used in) operating activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Cash received from short-term borrowings from financial institutions
Cash paid for short-term borrowings from financial institutions
Cash paid for long-term borrowings from financial institutions

Cash paid for financing fee from financial institutions
Cash received from debentures

Cash paid for matured debentures

Cash paid for issuance costs of debentures

Cash paid for lease liabilities

Interest paid

Cash paid for the Trust's unit issuance costs

Cash received from capital increase

Cash paid for distribution payment

Net cash (used in) generated from financing activities

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year
Non-cash transactions

Lease assets and liabilities
Account payables from the Trust’s unit issuance costs

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

2024 2023

Notes Baht Baht
1,920,946,540 2,245,517,595

10, 15 714,807,436 369,547,878
(118,788,034) (3,601,406,617)
(34,018,946) (25,280,638)
518,474,272 414,152,403
23,890,835 43,432,485
(56,698,675) (88,021,797)
21,489,158 11,857,524
(16,519,890) 15,158,260
34,541,599 (34,602,560)

12,458,749 (7,989,408)

11,867,719 147,231,578
(116,497,576) (41,225,976)
2,915,953,187 (551,629,273)
33,892,085 25,115,080
2,949,845,272 (526,514,193)

12 2,880,000,000 2,100,000,000
12 (1,500,000,000) (300,000,000)
12 (1,000,000,000) (2,110,000,000)
12 (1,681,030) (9,367,290)
13 2,070,000,000 3,583,629,219
13 (2,450,000,000) (1,500,000,000)
13 (2,154,507) (4,225,689)
(19,673,534) (20,673,809)
(508,346,075) (374,924,944)
(27,742,113) (65,031,624)

- 1,880,630,400

16 (2,454,049,646) (2,519,829,428)
(3,013,646,905) 660,206,835
(63,801,633) 133,692,642
1,915,447,714 1,781,755,072

11 1,851,646,081 1,915,447,714
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WHA Premium Growth Freehold and Leasehold Real Estate Investment Trust
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ende 31 December 2024

1 General information

WHA Premium Growth Freehold and Leasehold Real Estate Investment Trust (the Trust) is a real estate
investment trust established under the Trust for Transaction in Capital Market Act, B.E.2550 (the Act)
in accordance with the Trust Deed signed on 8 December 2014 between WHA Real Estate Management
Company Limited as the Trust Settlor and Kasikorn Asset Management Company Limited as the Trustee,
with its stated objective being to seek funds from investors, investing mostly in property or property
leasehold rights and generating benefit from such properties including to improve, alter, develop or
dispose other assets in which the Trust invest or possess whatsoever lease, sub-lease or sale or other
process for the benefit of the property and create the revenue and return to the Trust and the unitholders.
This includes the investment in other asset or other securities or seek other interest by other means as
stipulated in the securities laws or other relevant laws.

The Trust is managed by WHA Real Estate Management Company Limited (the REIT Manager), Kasikorn
Asset Management Company Limited acts as the Trustee and WHA Corporation Public Company
Limited acts as the Property Manager.

2 Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting guidelines for the Property
Fund, Real Estate Investment Trust, Infrastructure Fund and Infrastructure Trust established by the
Association of Investment Management Companies and endorsed by the Securities and Exchange
Commission, Thailand (accounting guidelines). For the areas not covered by the accounting guidelines,
the Trust applies the requirements in accordance with Thai Financial Reporting Standards issued by
the Federation of Accounting Professions which effective on financial reporting period of the financial statements.

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except as disclosed
in the accounting policies below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting guidelines requires REIT Manager
to use certain critical accounting estimates and to exercise its judgement in applying the Trust's accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or transactions involving
assumption and significant estimates are disclosed in Note 9.

An English version of the financial statements have been prepared from the statutory financial statements
that are in the Thai language. In the event of a conflict or a difference in interpretation between the two
languages, the Thai language statutory financial statements shall prevail.

3 New and amended financial reporting standards

From 1 January 2024, the Trust has applied the amended TFRS which are effective for accounting period
on or after 1 January 2024 and relevant to the Trust. The application of these financial reporting standards
does not have significant impact to the financial statements of the Trust.

Certain amended financial reporting standards which are effective for accounting period on or after

1 January 2025 have not been early adopted by the Trust. The REIT Manager is currently assessing the
impact of adoption of these standards.

ANNUAL REPRORT 2024 151



WHA Premium Growth Freehold and Leasehold Real Estate Investment Trust
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ende 31 December 2024

4 Accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below:
4.1 Financial assets
Classification and measurement
All financial assets are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and subsequently
measured at fair value through profit or loss except for cash and cash equivalents and trade
receivables presented as other assets which are subsequently measured at amortised cost.
Impairment
The Trust considers and recognises the expected credit losses at the initial recognition and subsequent
periods. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The expected credit loss rates are based on the
historical payment profiles of sales, the corresponding historical credit losses experienced as well
as other information that may affect the ability of the ability of the customers to settle the receivables.
Impairment and reversal of impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss included in other expenses.
4.2 Leases

Leases - where the Trust is the lessee

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which
leases are effective.

Right-of-use assets are recognised at cost comprising the initial amount of liabilities under lease
agreements including the rental payment which paid before or on the date of the contract, net of
incentives received under the lease initial direct cost and asset pretreatment costs.

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at fair value. A gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss and presented net within gain or loss from change in fair value in the period in which it arises.

Lease liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured using a net present value of the
following lease payments at the date at which leases are effective. The lease payments are
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be determined, the lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate is used.

Lease liabilities are subsequently measured by

e increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability;
e reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.

Leases - where the Trust is the lessor
The Trust classifies each of its leases as an operating lease.

The Trust recognises lease payments from operating leases as income using a straight-line basis.
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WHA Premium Growth Freehold and Leasehold Real Estate Investment Trust
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ende 31 December 2024

4.3 Investments in properties

Properties held for long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation or both and are not occupied
by the Trust are recognised as investments in properties.

The Trust chooses to account for land held under leases as investments in properties when they
meet definition of an investment property.

Investments in properties, including directly attributable costs and borrowing costs are measured initially
at cost.

Subsequently, they are carried at fair value. Changes in fair values will be recognised in the statement
of income as an unrealised gain or loss as of measurement date.

The fair value is based on the appraisal value determined by the independent professional appraisers
licensed by the Securities and Exchange Commission Thailand. The REIT Manager will conduct
an appraisal of the properties every two years from the date of the appraisal for the purchase or
lease of the properties or when there are significant changes that materially affect the value of
such investment properties and will update appraisals with a review every year after the date of
the latest appraisal. The REIT Manager will not appoint any appraiser to appraise the property or
leased property for more than two consecutive times.

4.4 Cash and cash equivalents

In the statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held
at call, short-term highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less from acquisition
date and are not restricted.

4.5 Deferred expenses

Deferred expenses comprise the actual Trust’s unit issuance costs paid and other directly related
expenses. Deferred expenses which incurred before 1 January 2020 are amortised as an expense
over a period of 5 years on a straight-line basis.

The Trust’s unit issuance costs and other expenses incurred after 1 January 2020 is deducted from
the capital received from unitholders to the extent that transaction costs are incremental costs that are
directly attributable to the equity transaction that otherwise would have been avoided if the equity
instruments had not been issued. The other costs of an equity transaction outside what mentioned
previously are recognised as an expense.

4.6 Financial liabilities
Classification and measurement

All financial liabilities are measured at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
except for financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. For financial liabilities subsequently
measured at amortised cost, the Trust recognises financial cost by effective interest rate.

Derecognition

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged,
cancelled, or expired.

4.7 Deposit received from customer

Customers agree to deposit with the Trust in cash. The security deposit is held as security for
securing the performance by customers under rental and service agreements. Within 30 days
after customers have duly surrendered vacant possession of leased property in clean and good
condition to the Trust, the Trust shall return the security deposits to customer without interest,
less any unpaid amount and damages occurred to leased property.

At initial recognition, the deposit is measured at fair value. The difference between the fair value
and the cash received is recognised as a part of unearned income and recognised as rental income
other the lease period. Deposit is subsequently measured at amortised cost.
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WHA Premium Growth Freehold and Leasehold Real Estate Investment Trust
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ende 31 December 2024

4.8 Revenue recognition
Rental and service income

The Trust’'s main revenue derives from rental income from ordinary business activities and also
include relevant service income.

The Trust recognised rental and service contracts with a continuous service provision as revenue
on a straight-line basis over the contract term, regardless of the payment pattern. Rental and service
income which is recognised by straight-line method, but is not due for collection is presented under
“Deferred income form operating lease agreement” in the statement of financial position.

Revenue are recorded net of value added tax. The Trust recognises revenue when collectability
of the consideration is probable.

Multiple element arrangements involving provision of multiple services are separated into distinct
performance obligations. The Trust allocates total transaction price of the bundled contract to
each performance obligation based on their relative standalone selling prices or estimated
standalone selling prices. Each performance obligation is recognised as revenue on fulfillment of
the obligation to the customer.
Undertaking income
The Trust entered into agreements to guarantee the minimum rental and service income with no
lessees for a period of 1 to 25 years. Revenue will be recognised over the agreements term,
regardless of the payment pattern.
Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis, taking into account of the principal
outstanding and the interest rate over the period to maturity, when it is determined that such
income will accrue to the Trust.

4.9 Income taxes

The Trust is exempted from Thailand corporate income tax. No provision for corporate income tax
has been made in the financial statements.

4.10 Distribution payment

For distribution payment to unitholders, the REIT Manager will approve the distribution payment
and assigned the closing date of the unitholders register’s book.

5 Distribution payment policy

The Trust has a policy to pay distribution to unitholders as follows:

1) The REIT Manager shall pay distributions to unitholders that, in aggregate, amount to not less than
90% of adjusted net profit for the year. The distributions should be divided into a year-end
distribution and an interim distribution (if any). The REIT Manager shall pay distributions to
unitholders no more than 4 times a year, unless the Trust increases capital.

The adjusted net profit means the net profit of the Trust determined on a cash basis including loan
repayments made in accordance with loan agreements and other due commitment (if any).
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WHA Premium Growth Freehold and Leasehold Real Estate Investment Trust
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ende 31 December 2024

2) In case the Trust has accumulated losses, the REIT Manager will not pay the distributions to the
unitholders.

In considering the payment of interim distribution, if the value of interim distribution per unit to be paid is
lower than or equal to Baht 0.10, the REIT Manager reserves the right not to pay the distribution
at that time and to bring such distribution forward for payment together with the next distribution
payment.

The REIT Manager will arrange a distribution payment as mentioned to the unitholders within 90 days
after the closing of the financial year.

6 Capital risk management

The Trust’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Trust’s ability to continue as a going
concern, in order to provide returns for unitholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain
an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Trust may adjust the amount of distribution paid
to unitholders, return capital to unitholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

7 Financial risk management

Financial risk factors

The Trust exposes to a variety of financial risks which are market risk (including fair value risk), credit
risk and liquidity risk. The Trust’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Trust’s financial performance.

7.1 Interest rate risk

The Trust has interest rate risk from borrowings at floating interest rates. The Trust has no significant
interest-bearing assets. These exposures are managed partly by issuing and offering debentures
to be an option in financing with fixed interest rates in the future or using financial instruments to
reduce interest rate risk from borrowings.

Information about interest rates from borrowings and debenture is disclosed in Note 12 and Note 13.
Sensitivity

Profit or loss is sensitive to higher or lower interest expenses from borrowings as a result of changes
in interest rates.

Impact to net investment gain
increase (decrease)
2024 2023
Million Baht Million Baht

Interest rate - increase 1% * (6) (31)
Interest rate - decrease 1% * 8 18

* Holding all other variables constant
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WHA Premium Growth Freehold and Leasehold Real Estate Investment Trust
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ende 31 December 2024

7.2 Credit risk

The Trust has no significant concentrations of credit risk. The Trust has policies in place to ensure
that contracts are made with customers who have an appropriate credit history and are in various
businesses. Additionally, the Trust has a policy to collect advance rental deposits from customers
as a collateral in case of default. In the REIT Manager’s opinion, the Trust does not have credit
risk other than the recognition of the allowance for doubtful accounts (if any) as presented in the
financial statements. The estimated for expected credit loss is assessed based on the past
collection experiences, customers’ deposits and other factors such as the local economic conditions.
The Trust has no significant risk with financial institutions since cash is placed with reputable
financial institutions.

7.3 Liquidity risk

The Trust maintains sufficient cash to prudently manage its liquidity risk. The Trust invests its
cash in market securities. The Trust manages the availability of funding through an adequate
amount of fund obtain from the unitholders and borrowing from financial institution which are
sufficient for the Trust’s activities.

Maturity of financial liabilities
The tables below analyse the maturity of financial liabilities grouping based on their contractual

maturities. The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due
within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.

156

Within Over
Maturity of financial At call 1 year 1-5years 5 years Total Book Value
liabilities Baht Baht Baht Baht Baht Baht
As at
31 December 2024
Short-term borrowings
from financial
institutions 2,180,000,000 1,000,000,000 - - 3,180,000,000 3,171,475,103
Accrued expenses - 128,897,489 - - 128,897,489 128,897,489
Deposits received
from customer 75,672,568 277,267,513 437,513,438 598,540,294 1,388,993,813 1,388,993,813
Long-term borrowings
from financial
institutions - 1,385,000,000 - - 1,385,000,000 1,380,622,419
Debentures - 3,200,000,000 7,620,000,000 - 10,820,000,000 10,812,989,213
Lease liabilities - 48,496,485 214,197,519 859,667,363 1,122,361,367 772,558,080
Other liabilities - 58,972,811 - - 58,972,811 58,972,811
Total financial liabilities _2,255,672,568 6,098,634,298 8,271,710,957 1,458,207,657 18,084,225,480 17,714,508,928
Within Over
Maturity of financial At call 1 year 1-5years 5 years Total Book Value
liabilities Baht Baht Baht Baht Baht Baht
As at
31 December 2023
Short-term borrowings
from financial
institutions 1,800,000,000 - - - 1,800,000,000 1,790,677,591
Accrued expenses - 133,168,969 - - 133,168,969 133,168,969
Deposits received
from customer 58,281,921 221,027,110 451,394,202 646,422,861 1,377,126,094 1,377,126,094

Long-term borrowings
from financial
institutions
Debentures
Lease liabilities
Other liabilities

Total financial liabilities

1,000,000,000
2,450,000,000
48,485,985
175,470,387

1,385,000,000
8,750,000,000
207,694,096

914,667,271

2,385,000,000
11,200,000,000
1,170,847,352
175,470,387

2,375,390,025
11,181,655,493
792,231,614
175,470,387

1,858,281,921

4,028,152,451

10,794,088,298

1,561,090,132

18,241,612,802 17,825,720,173
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WHA Premium Growth Freehold and Leasehold Real Estate Investment Trust
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ende 31 December 2024

8 Fair value

The following table presents financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value, excluding
where its fair value is approximating the carrying amount.

As at 31 December 2024 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Baht Baht Baht Baht

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Investments in properties - - 52,211,798,545 52,211,798,545
Total assets - - 52,211,798,545 52,211,798,545
As at 31 December 2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Baht Baht Baht Baht

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
Investments in properties - - 52,807,817,947 52,807,817,947

Total assets - - 52,807,817,947 52,807,817,947

Fair value of the following financial assets and liabilities approximated to the carrying amount as at
31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023.

Financial assets
- Cash and cash equivalents
- Refundable value added tax

- Trade receivables presented as other assets

Financial liabilities

- Accrued expenses

- Deposits received from customer

- Borrowings from financial institutions
- Debentures

- Other liabilities

Above financial liabilities were measured at amortised cost.

Fair values are categorised into hierarchy based on inputs used as follows:

Level 1: Quoted market prices (unadjusted) in an active market for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for assets or liabilities,
either directly (i.e., market prices) or indirectly (i.e., inputs derived from market prices).

Level 3: Inputs for assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

8.1 Transfer between fair value hierarchy

The Trust did not have any transfers between hierarchy levels during the period.
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WHA Premium Growth Freehold and Leasehold Real Estate Investment Trust
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ende 31 December 2024

8.2 Valuation techniques used to measure fair value level 3

REIT Manager has assessed the valuations of assets required for financial reporting purposes,
including level 3 fair values. The independent appraiser has reported directly to the REIT Manager.
The REIT Manager has reviewed and evaluated appropriateness of the assumptions in valuation,
then explain the reasons for the changes in fair value to the Trustee to review that information. In
case of changes in the assumptions that is expected to result in significant changes in the fair
value of the assets, REIT Manager will consider adjusting the fair value accordingly.

The main information that the appraiser use for level 3 fair value assessment comprises of discounted
cash flow which determined based on the location of each project, the ability to generate cash flow,
competitive market and risk-free rate of return. The appraiser applied 9.00% - 10.00% of discounted
cash flow for assets that based on yield rate from government bond plus business risk, service,
market and economy conditions.

9 Critical estimates and judgements

The REIT Manager continually evaluated assumptions used in estimates and judgements. These assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Fair value of certain financial assets

The fair value of investments in properties that are not traded in an active market is determined by
Income Approach using discounted expected future cash flows received from investments in properties by
the appropriate discount rate which reflect related risks. The Trust engages independence appraiser to
assess the fair value of investments in properties.

10 Investments in properties at fair value

2024 2023

Baht Baht

Opening balance 52,807,817,947  49,474,289,524

Additions - 3,703,076,301

Increased in building improvements 118,788,034 -
Net loss from change in fair value of investments

- from appraisal's assessment (641,634,651) (260,559,999)

- from accounting reconciliation (73,172,785) (108,987,879)

Closing balance 52,211,798,545  52,807,817,947

The fair value of investments in properties excluded unearned rental and service income, deferred
income from operating lease agreements and added back lease liabilities.

The Trust has mortgaged some of properties amounting to Baht 7,112 million (2023: Baht 7,212 million)
as collateral against loan agreements with the financial institutions, as described in Note 12.

158 WHA PREMIUM GROWTH FREEHOLD AND LEASEHOLD REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST



Buipjing 8210 pue u-edbueg
000'009°61 000'000°2L2 20z 1oqwedaQ | | 000°00%°'LGL €20¢ J1equisdeq | - - 00'000°9€ Buip|ing esnoyaiem | | pjoysai €5-2-0¢ Spo09 Jewnsuod HSMA (81
00000422 000°00L 22T ¥20z 1eqwede | | 000°000°SLZ‘C €202 Jequisdeq | - - ¥8'90.°CS nqg esnoysiem g | pjoysaly 99-0-L¥ ‘0'a yoyedus (1L
asnoyaiem | pue ‘buipjing uoueyu| - YHM
000'000°LE 000°000°0.6 20z 1oqwedeQ | | 000°000°6£6 €20¢ J8quisdeq | - - ¥¥'2e0'eL @10 | ‘sBuip|ing ssnoysiem | ploysses 18-0-€8 / SPO09 JBWNSUOD HSHMA - YHM (9L
sbi ng 90140
(000'082°2LE) | 00002729 20z 1oqwedeQ | | 000°002'586 €20¢ J1equisdeq | - - 00'582°0C pue sBuipjing A1o0e} z |  ploysaig ¥'€5-1-12 Buohey Aioyoe4 suozeaid YHM (G1
unquoy) Buoyyued
000'00Z°0% 000°000°880°L ¥20Z 1oqwedeQ | | 000°008°L¥0°L €20¢ Jequisdeq | - - 00°2.5'8€ sbulp|ing esnoyatem ¢ | ploysai 81-0-6€ Jsjua) sonsibo eBoN VHM (v
sbuip|ing 8210
000'069'GS 000°06¥'€LY'L ¥20Z Joquaoa@ | | 000°008°2G€E"L €20¢ 18quisdeq | - - yyoLe'ey ploysaig 18-€-9% ‘o'goey (gL
(000°092'52) 000°002°L29 20z 4oquiadeQ | | 000°096°969 €£20¢ Joquiadaq | - - 6.'89G'G) pIoyaa1y v'ze-e-GC Buohey Aioped vHM (21
10| Buppied pue ‘Buipjing aoujo pue ey yn
(000'08%'t1) 000001 ‘859 20z 4oquiadeQ | | 000085229 €£20¢ Joquiadaq | 00°L26'€ 00vZL'y y9'570'8 ‘aBelojs pjoo ‘Buipiing esnoyesem | | pjoysai z6-cch win Jejua) sonsiBo ebaN YHM (L1
sjo| Bunyied pue ‘sBuipjing 010 | 10801d € wdf Hyoiduteyejuoyn
(000°002'08) 000°000°8LE"L ¥20¢Z Joqua09@ | | 000°002'86€"L €20¢ 18quisdeq | 08°'€0€'.€ 00°0vE'C 00°122'Ly pue sBulp|ing ssnoyaiem G | pjoyases ¥ Ly-1-0S Jajua) sonsiBo ebay YHM (01
sjo| bupyied pue ‘sbuipjing 80140 61wy pel]-eubueg
(Le€'z9g's5L) | 000'0G€'95Z L ¥20Z 1oquiedeq | | LE€'TLELLY'L €20¢ Joquiadaq | - 00°265'C G6'G2L'89 pue sBuip|ing esnoyalem | | ployssesT | G'G-0-LL Jaue) sonsibo eboy YHM (6
sjo| Bupyed pue ‘sBuipjing ao10 Bueqgenype
000°00%'C 000°000'690°€ ¥20¢Z Joquiaoa@ | | 000°009'990°€ €20¢ Jequisdeq | 0€'986'6S 00°0S€‘LSs 00°0L1'S6 pue sbulp|ing esnoysiem g | ployaaid 1G-1-66 Js)ua) sonsibo] eboy VHM (8
sjo| Bupyied pue
‘sBulp|ing 810 pue G'wy Jyaiduseyejuoyd
0000002 000°000'62S‘L $20¢Z Joquaoa@ | | 000°000'8YY 'L €20¢ J8quisdeq | 09°€vL 0§ 06'8L£C ST'8ve'e9 sbuip|ing esnoyasem G | pjoysses] G8-2-99 Jayua) sonsibo ebay YHM (£
sBuip|ing @010 1ingeJeg Jayua) sonsibo] ebapy
(000°00%°S) 000°00S'8¥6 ¥20¢Z Joquaoa@ | | 000°006'€S6 €20¢ J8quisdeq | - - 00°'8L0'€E pue sBulp|ing ssnoyaiem ¢ |  ploysaig 4% % 2% VHM / Ungeles 1YoelH - VHM (9
sBuip|ing @010 19 loubuepp
(000°005'614) 000°00L'6¥L°L ¥20Z 1oquede | | 000°009°89L°L €20¢ Jequisdeq | S0'2¢LY'9C - 00'vEY'L9 pue sBulp|ing snoyaiem G | pjoysses] 91-0-69 Jspue) sonsibo eboy VHM (S
sbulpjing soyjo ¥ W Jyaiduseyejuoyd
00000862 000°006'8¥8°C ¥20Z 1eqwede | | 000°00L°6L8°C €20¢ Jequisdeq | 0Z'¥8€'89 - GG'S¥.'08 pue sBulp|ing esnoyalem G | ploysai 6'GL-0-18 Js)ua) sonsibo eboy VHM (1
sBuip|ing 810 | 108lo1d gz wy| ped]-eubueg
(000°000°21) 000°000°6£8°L ¥20Z 1equede | | 000°000°958°L €20¢ Jequisdeq | ¥0'L¥9°0S - 00'90€°09 pue sBulp|ing esnoyalem ¢ | ployaal G'22-0-59 Jajua) sonsibo ebaN YHM (€
gl Wy pel|-eubueg
(000°009'61) 000°000°0£Z°L ¥20Z 1eqwede | | 000°009°682°L €20¢ Jequisdeq | 0€'9/6°€C - 8v'6.1°CL sbulp|ing esnoyasem / | ployases] 19C¥L Jajua) sopsibo ebaN YHM (2
Buip|ing 810
(000°00%'81) 000°009'7LLL ¥20Z 1eqwede | | 000°000°€EL L €20¢ Jequisdeq | - - 00°€60°SE pue Bulp|ing 8snoyalem | | ployaai 0-0-G€ '0'q Bueqenipe vHM (L
paumo AjjeuibLio
(yeg) (yeg) 2)ep MalAal (yeg) 2)ep MalnsYy (wbg) (wbg) (wbg) sBuip|ing diyssoumo | (yem bg JEEICYN
anjeA Jiej ui anjeA MalAal /lesteadde 41502 Malnal /lesteadde snoinaid eale eale eale Jo uoneoyoadg -ueBN-1ey)
abueys wouy |/|esiesdde ysaje] jsaje /iesteadde snoiaaid Juonisinboy a|qesijin a|qesijin ajqesiun ealy |ejol
(ssoj) ureg Juonisinboy jo0y sjo| Bunjied

:SMOJ|0} SE ale SJUsWISaAUl JO S|IBlap ayl yoiym Buip|ing ao1o pue Aiojoe) ‘Bulp|ing 8snoyalem ‘pue| ul paIsaAul sey 1sni] ey

159

ANNUAL REPRORT 2024

$202 Jeqweda(q |E apus Jeah ay) 404
sjuawajels |eloueuld ayj} 0} S810N
1SN JUSWI]ISAAU| dlklsT [eay pjoyasea pue pjoyaal4 Yimols) wniwaid YHM



(a0 ‘g buippng)
sBuipjing ¢ 109fo1d £Z'wy| pel]-eubueg
(000°059°'92) 000°001 852 $20Z 18qwedeQ | | 000°0S.'¥82 €20¢ J8quisdaq | - - 00°100'v€ 901j0 pue asnoyatem AIojoe) € | ployases] 8'€h-0-€€ Jajua) sonsibo ebay YHM (G€
sbuip|ing
(000°00L°0€L) | 000°006°0¥0° $20Z Joquiaoa@ | | 000°000°LLL Y €20¢ J8quisdeq | - - 00'6€L'0EL 201Yjo ssnoyalem Aojoey z | ploysses | ¢'L6-¢-LEL ed 9018Wwod-3 YHM (v
sbuip|ing 29 loubuep
(000°005'?) 000°000°06% ¥20¢Z Joquaoa@ | | 000005 67 €20¢ 18quisdeq | 00°502'€C - 00051 've 201J0 pue ssnoyaiem A10joe) ¢ | ploysses 81-€-92 Jajua) sonsibo ebay YHM (€€
(v Buiping) y08lo1d
Bul ¢ 109loid £z Wy pes-eubueg
(000°089°9) 000°02€'SLL ¥20Z 1eqwedeQ | | 000°000°22L €20¢ Jequisdeq | - - 00°0%0°0€ Buip|ing asnoyaiem | | ployasesn L2E-L-LE Jajua) sopsibo ebay VHM (2€
(9'41'a Buipping)
sBuip|ing ao1jo  pue Z 108loid gz wy| pel]-eubueg
000°'079'G8 000'006'78S"L 20z 19qwedeQ | | 000°092'667°L €20¢ Jequisdeq | - - 00°L0¥'%9 asnoyalem AIojoey | | ployssesT] 8'16-0-v¥ Jajuag sonsibo eboy NdM-VYHM (L€
Buipjing 8210 pue Z 109lo1d BuegeyoweaT
00002902 000°095'886 20z 1oqwedeQ | | 000°076°L96 €20¢ Jequisdeq | - - 00'86.L'v¥ Buip|ing esnoyaiem | | ploysses] 0-0-0S Js)ua) sonsibo ebay VHM (0€
sjo| Bupyied pue Buipjing ao10 (v Buiping) | 108loid Buegeyowea]
000°0S0°€L 000°0L5'909 ¥20Z 1oquedeq | | 000°09'€6S €202 Jequisdeq | - 00'§50°'€ 00'665'6L ‘snoyalem Aiojoey | | ploysaly S'0L-L-Le Jsyua) sonsibo ebsy VHM (62
sjo| Bupyied pue Buipjing 80140 (4analun) € wy yyoiduteyejuoyd
(000°020°2) 000°090°20L°L ¥20Z 1eqwieded | |000°080'¥LL L €20¢ Jequisdeq | 00°000°0L 62°€86'C yy'esLioL ‘Bulp|ing @snoyalem | | pjoyasesn 8'¥9-0-12 Js)ua) sonsibo ebapy VHM (82
(H3'0 Bulpiing)
Z 109loid £zZ'wy| pel]-eubueg
000°0S¥'L L 000'002'%90°L 20z 1oqedeQ | | 000°052°2S0°L €202 Jequisdeq | - - 00'829'0S 80140 pue 8snoyaiem AI0joe} Z | ployasesn v L¥-2-9G Isjuag sosibo eBapy NdM-VYHM (L2
Buipjing SWwa)sAg
000°'058°¢2 000°062°€2€ 20z 1oqwedaq | | 000°0¥¥'00€ €20¢ Jequisdeq | - - 00°'LEY'S 20140 pue 8snoyaiem A10joey | | ploysai v'22-0-9 aAowolNy Jalwixeeld S1d YHM (92
Buipjing
000'0LE'8C 000°00S°00% 20z 1oqwedeQ | | 000°061'CLE €20¢ 1equisdeq | - - 002266 20140 pue asnoyaiem A10joey | | ploysai 8'/6-L-CL Kiopoe4 Bullyosoy YHM (52
sBuipiing 8oyjo Z waloid ¢ wy Jyaiduseyejuoyd
(000'0z#'90L) | 000°081°L80°C 20z 1oqwedeQ | | 000°009°28L°C €20¢ J18equisdeq | 002819 - 00'6%0°€.L pue asnoyaitem Alojoe} | ploysaig 8'8-¢-G. Js)ua) sonsibo ebo VHM (2
(a'v Buipiing)
Buip|ing @010 pue Aiojoey} Z 109loid £z wy| pes]-eubueg
(989'650'62) | 000°00L'Z18 ¥20z 4oquiedeQ | |989'6GL°LE8 €20Z 1oquedea L | 00°ZLL'9C - 00zLL'6E ‘sBuipjing esnoyaiem z | ployeses | G'yG-g-Ey | Jejue) sonsibo eBaN NdM-YHM (€2
Z 1sloid
Buip|ing 8010 pue Aiojoe} pue | j08loid €9 loubuepp Jejus)
000°05¥'69 000°002°905°C $20Z 18qwede | | 000°0S2'9E¥‘C €20¢ J8quisdeq | - - 19°€22'98 ‘Bulp|ing @snoyalem | | ploysai Pv-1-96 sonsiBo eba|y [enuad YHM (22
sjo| Bupyied pue Buip|ing aoio
000°00}+'C 000°009°'61S $20Z 18qwedsg L |000°00S°ZLS €20¢ J8quisdeq | - 007968 00°029'9L ‘Aiojoey ‘Bulp|ing 8snoyatem | | poysaig 0-0-GL ungeses 19sa (1g
sjo| Buppied pue ‘Buip|ing 8210 Ge'wy || ewey
000°0v8'€2 000°0%€28L $20¢Z Joquaoa@ | | 000°005'€9L €20¢ J8quisdeq | 000016 00'858'% 00'¥80'vL ‘Aiojoey ‘Bulp|ing ssnoyaiem | | ployasesT SL-0-L1L Jajua) sonsibo ebay YHM (02
Bulp|ing asnoyalem pue ungeses
(000°08L'7LL) | 00002G2SS 20z 19qwedeQ | | 000°00L'999°L €20¢ Jequisdeq | - - 0v'2¢Le'SS ‘Buipiing sa1jo ‘Bulpjing A1ojoey | | ploysaiy G'92-0-8% Jajuad uonnquisiq 19sa - YHM (61
(yeq) (yeg) ajep malaal (yeg) ajep Malnay (wrbg) (wbg) (wrbg) sbuipiing diyssaumo | (yem ‘bg o9loud
anjeA Jiej ui anjeA MalAal /lesteadde +1S02 Malnal /lesteadde snoinaid eale eale eale Jo uoneoydadg -uebN-1ey)
abueys wouy |/|esiesdde }saje] }saje /iesieadde snoiaaud Juonisinboy a|qesijin a|gesijin a|qesi|nn ealy |ejo]
(ssoj) ureg Juonisinboy jooy sjo| Bunjied

$202 Jeqwede( |E apus Jeah ay) 404
sjuawajels |eroueuld ayj} 0} S810N
1SN.] JUSWI]SAAU| dlklsT [eay pjoyasea pue pjoyaal4 Yimols) wniwaid YHM

WHA PREMIUM GROWTH FREEHOLD AND LEASEHOLD REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST

160



‘uopisinboe 4o 8jep ay} uo }s00 uonisinboe Je pajuasaid yoiym Jeak sy Buunp paiinboe saipadoid Ul sjuswysaul Buipn|oxe $zZ0z Jequeosq L Je se anjeAa Jieqd

(9 '4 '3 buiping)
sbuipjing ¢ 108loid £z'wy pes]-eubueg

(€57 7L ¥'8€) 000°'0¥0'2S9 ¥20Z Joquiedaq | | €S¥ 715 069 €20¢ Jequisdeq Gz 00'686'C - 00'vel'le 801j0 pue esnoyalem A10je} € | pjoysses| 6°19-1-2¢ Jajua) sonsibo eba YHM (2v
(yg'eg’za’L g buiping)
Buipjing | 108lo1d Buegeyowe]

69.'662°C) 000°000'669 ¥20Z Joquiaosg | | L€2'00L'289 €202 JoquiddeQ Gz - - 000LE've 2010 pue dsnoyasem AIojoey | | ploysaly 9'16-€-8¢ Jajus) sonsibo eBop YHM (L
(H '© 4 '3 'g buiping)
sbuipjing Lz Wy yeteday

(€€6'LL0'8L) | 000°021'080°C ¥20Z Jequiedeq | | €€6°161°822°C €202 Jaquiedeq Gz 00°2.¥'€E - 00'298°06 901Jj0 pue asnoyasem AIojoe) ¢ | ploysses|] 1'2€-0-€8 Jayua) sonsibo eboy YHM (0F
4 109fo1d pue
sBuiping € 109loid €9 louBuepp Jayus)

000°067'8€ 000°002°'0€8"} $20Z Joquisoad L (000042 162°) €202 JaquLoe( | - - 00'%02°29 20140 pue dsnoyasem AI0joe) € | ployasesT] 9'v1-€-99 sopsiBo eba|y [esuad YHM (6€

(N W 1 r Butpiing)
Z 108loid £z'wy pel]-eubueg

(11L0'90€'Y) 000°'000°'€6¥ ¥20Z 1oqueoaq | | 110°90€" L6 €202 4oqwiada( | - - 009626} 901Yj0 pue asnoyasem AIojoe} G | ploysses | L'/9-0-LZ | Jejua) sonsibo eBoN NdM YHM (8€
sbBuiping (r ‘| Buipiing) Lz'wy yeleday |
000°0¥8‘L¥ 000005889 $20Z 1equiaoaq | | 000°099'9Y9 €202 4oquiada( | - - 00°€€2°'0€ 901Yj0 pue asnoyasem AIojoe} z | ployssesT | 6'82-1-8C Jaua) sonsiBo eBo YHM (L€
Buipiing
(000°022'¥1) 000'005°2.2 202 Joquaoad | |000°02.'162 €202 Joquiaoaq | - - 00°1GL'8 201Yj0 pue asnoyssem Aiojoey | | ployssesT | 8'Z9-L-gl Kiojoe spoubis YHM (9€
(yeg) (yeg) ajep Malnal (3yeq) ajep Malnay (wbg) (wrbg) (wbg) sBuipjing diyssoump | (yem 'bg 19foud

anjeA ey ul anjeA malaal /lesieidde +}S0D MaIAal /lesieadde snoinaig eale eale eale Jo uoneoyioadg -uebN-1ey)

abueyo wouy |/esieidde 3saje] jsaje /lesieadde snojaaud Juonisinbay a|qesijin a|qesijin a|qesi|in ealy [ejo]

(ssoj) ureg Juonisinboy jooy sjo| Bunjied

$202 Jeqweda(q |E apus Jeah ay) 404
sjuawajels |eloueuld ayj} 0} S810N
1SN JUSWI]ISAAU| dlklsT [eay pjoyasea pue pjoyaal4 Yimols) wniwaid YHM

161

ANNUAL REPRORT 2024



WHA Premium Growth Freehold and Leasehold Real Estate Investment Trust

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ende 31 December 2024

Increase (decrease) in fair value of investments in properties and gain (loss) in the statement of comprehensive

income based on changes significant assumptions are presented as follows:

Impact on fair value
increase (decrease)

2024 2023

Million Baht Million Baht

Increase 0.5% on discount rate (2,281) (2,130)
Decrease 0.5% on discount rate 2,462 2,299
Increase 0.5% on capitalised rate (832) (858)
Decrease 0.5% on capitalised rate 960 993

Amounts recognised in profit and loss that are related to investments in properties are as follows:

2024 2023
Baht Baht
Rental and service income 3,356,791,154 3,307,388,287
Direct operating expense that generated rental income 205,515,646 177,252,199

The future aggregate minimum lease income under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

2024 2023
Baht Baht
Within 1 year 2,967,619,491 3,084,246,340
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 6,601,929,687 6,879,690,169
Later than 5 years 3,829,786,140 4,364,582,648

Total 13,399,335,318

14,328,519,157

1 Cash and cash equivalents

2023
Baht

2024
Baht
Saving accounts 1,651,445,870
Current accounts 200,211
Fixed deposit account 200,000,000

1,905,287,927
10,159,787

Total 1,851,646,081

1,915,447,714

The interest rates on deposits are as follows:

2024 2023
Percentage Percentage
Interest rates 0.10-1.85 0.35-1.60

As at 31 December 2024, cash at bank - saving accounts amount of Baht 13 million (2023: Baht 13 million)
was a saving account with a condition to use for the repayment of interest from loan as stipulated in the

loan agreement as noted in Note 12.
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WHA Premium Growth Freehold and Leasehold Real Estate Investment Trust
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ende 31 December 2024

12

Borrowing from financial institutions, net

The loans from financial institutions were as follows:

As at 31 December

Current

Short-term loans
Less Financing fee
Short-term loans, net
Non-current
Long-term loans
Less Financing fee
Long-term loans, net

Total loans

2024
Baht

2023
Baht

3,180,000,000
(8,524,897)

1,800,000,000
(9,322,409)

3,171,475,103

1,790,677,591

1,385,000,000  2,385,000,000
(4,377,581) (9,609,975)
1,380,622,419  2,375,390,025

4,552,097,522

4,166,067,616

Details of short-term loans from financial institution of the Trust were as follows:

Outstanding

Outstanding

balance balance
As at As at
31 December 31 December Interest
2024 2023 Principal payment
Number (Million Baht) (Million Baht) Interestrate repayment term period
1 1,800 1,800 3.35% At call Payment every month
2 380 - 3.15% At call Payment every month
3 1,000 - 2.555% February 2025  Payment every three months
Total 3,180 1,800

During the year 2024, the Trust entered into multiple loan agreements with financial institution for the
repayment of the Trust's debenture and loans for the totaling amount of Baht 2,880 million.

Details of long-term loans from financial institution of the Trust were as follows:

Outstanding

Outstanding

balance balance
As at As at
31 December 31 December Interest
2024 2023 Principal payment
Number (Million Baht) (Million Baht) Interest rate repayment term period
1 - 1,000 MLR minus a certain Repayment in Payment every
margin per annum December 2024 three months
2 1,385 1,385 MLR minus a certain Repayment in Payment every
margin per annum December 2025 three months
Total 1,385 2,385

Interest rates of all borrowings are floating interest rates at MLR minus fixed rates per annuum.
The borrowings have effective interest rates at the statement of financial position date of 2.55% - 3.87%
per annum (2023: 3.60% - 3.80% per annum).
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WHA Premium Growth Freehold and Leasehold Real Estate Investment Trust

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ende 31 December 2024

The movement of loans from financial institutions can be analysed as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Opening net book value
Cash flows

Cash received during the year

Cash repayments during the year

Cash paid for financing fee from financial institutions
Other non-cash movement

Amortisation of financing fee

Closing net book value

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Opening net book value
Cash flows

Cash received during the year

Cash repayments during the year

Cash paid for financing fee from financial institutions
Other non-cash movement

Amortisation of financing fee

Closing net book value

Borrowing facilities

Long-term loan
Baht

Short-term loan
Baht

2,375,390,025

(1,000,000,000)

5,232,394

1,790,677,591
2,880,000,000
(1,500,000,000)
(1,681,030)

2,478,542

1,380,622,419

3,171,475,103

Long-term loan
Baht

Short-term loan
Baht

4,478,828,268

(2,110,000,000)

2,100,000,000
(300,000,000)

- (9,367,290)
6,561,757 44,881
2,375,390,025  1,790,677,591

The Trust has the following undrawn committed borrowing facilities as follows:

Floating rate

The borrowings are secured over the following:

2024 2023
Baht Baht
450,000,000 450,000,000

1) Secured by mortgaging some of the Trust’s lands, warehouse buildings and office buildings and

partial of the constructions (Note 10).

2) Registered Business Security of sub-leasehold right of land and leasehold right of building, Lease
Agreements and Service Agreements and insurance to financial institutions (Note 10).

3) Endorsed the lender to have the benefits under insurance policies of the partial of the Secured Main

Assets of the Trust.

4) Others (if any) as stipulate in the loan agreement between the Trust and the Lenders.

In addition, the Trust is under the debt covenant that requires the Trust to maintain the financial ratio

and other requirements as stipulate in the borrowing agreement.
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WHA Premium Growth Freehold and Leasehold Real Estate Investment Trust
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ende 31 December 2024

13 Debentures, net

As at 31 December 2024 2023
Baht Baht

Debentures 10,820,000,000  11,200,000,000
Less Issuance costs of debentures (4,754,738) (6,215,133)
Discount of debentures (2,256,049) (12,129,374)
Debentures, net 10,812,989,213 11,181,655,493

During the year 2024, the Trust issued and offered 3 tranches fixed coupon debentures of name-registered
certificate of unsubordinated and unsecured debentures and with assigned representatives for the total
amount of Baht 2,070 million. The repayment of principal is due on the maturity date ranging from 2 years
to 4 years. The debentures are issued and offered to investors based on the announcement made by
The Securities and Exchange Commission. The purpose of the issuance of debentures is to replace the
mature debentures and repay mature loans. The debentures have a par value of Baht 1,000 per unit and
the interest will be repaid every 3 months.

The details of debentures which were issued and offered by the Trust during the year 2024 are as follows:

Amount Interest Rate
Number (Baht) (%) Tenor Interest payment schedule
1 850,000,000  3.42% per annum 2 years 11 months Payment every 3 months
30 days
2 280,000,000  3.15% per annum 2 years Payment every 3 months
3 940,000,000  3.52% per annum 4 years Payment every 3 months
Total 2,070,000,000

The fair value of debentures is Baht 10,800 million (2023: Baht 11,069 million) based on a clean price
announced by Thai Bond Market Association that is within level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

The interest rates of all debentures of the Trust is fixed rates. The debentures have effective interest
rates at the statement of financial position date of 2.51% - 3.48% per annum (2023: 1.52% - 3.39 per annum).

The movement of debentures can be analysed as follows:

For the years ended 31 December 2024 2023
Baht Baht
Opening net book value 11,181,655,493 9,090,007,100
Cash flows
Cash received during the year 2,070,000,000 3,583,629,219
Cash repayments during the year (2,450,000,000) (1,500,000,000)
Cash paid for issuance costs of debentures (2,154,507) (4,225,689)
Other non-cash movement
Amortisation of issuance costs of debentures 3,614,902 3,681,679
Amortisation of discount of debentures 9,873,325 8,563,184
Closing net book value 10,812,989,213  11,181,655,493
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14 Lease liabilities, net

Baht
Opening balance 792,231,614
Interest expenses of lease liabilities 28,812,451
Cash paid for principal and interest expenses of lease liabilities (48,485,985)
Closing balance 772,558,080

15 Unitholders’ equity

As of 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, there were issued and paid-up of 3,468,827,441
registered units at a par value of Baht 9.0241 per unit.

The movements of capital account are as follows:

2024 2023

Number Amount Number Amount
of trust units Baht of trust units Baht

Trust units registered,
issued and paid-up 3,468,827,441 36,454,787,905 3,468,827,441 36,454,787,905
Opening balance 3,468,827,441 36,454,787,905 3,272,928,441 34,639,943,544
Capital increase - - 195,899,000 1,814,844,361
Closing balance 3,468,827,441 36,454,787,905 3,468,827,441 36,454,787,905

The movements of retained earnings are as follows:

2024 2023
Baht Baht
Opening balance 1,004,289,787 1,278,601,620
Net investment income 2,635,753,976 2,615,065,473
Net loss from change in fair value of investments (714,807,436) (369,547,878)
Distribution payment (Note 16) (2,454,049,646) (2,519,829,428)
Closing balance 471,186,681 1,004,289,787
16  Distribution payment
The details of distribution payment during the year are as follows:
Dividend Per trust unit 2024 2023
declaration date For the period Baht Baht Baht
24 February 2023 1 November 2022 - 31 December 2022 0.1265 - 413,970,966
10 May 2023 1 January 2023 - 31 March 2023 0.1915 - 626,715,873
9 August 2023 1 April 2023 - 30 June 2023 0.1930 - 631,586,237
14 November 2023 1 July 2023 - 31 October 2023 0.2590 - 847,556,352
22 February 2024 1 November 2023 - 31 December 2023 0.1300 450,926,598 -
9 May 2024 1 January 2024 - 31 March 2024 0.1915 664,243,052
8 August 2024 1 April 2024 - 30 June 2024 0.1930 669,431,528
13 November 2024 1 July 2024 - 30 September 2024 0.1930 669,448,468

2,454,049,646 2,519,829,428
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17 Expenses

The management fee, acquisition fee, trustee fee, registrar fee and property management fee, are calculated
as follows:

Management fee

The REIT Manager is entitled to receive a monthly management fee from the Trust at a rate not exceeding
0.75% per annum (exclusive of value added tax, specific business tax or any other similar tax) of the net
asset value of the Trust as calculated by the REIT Manager and verified by the Trustee.

Acquisition fee

The REIT Manager will receive an acquisition fee at a rate not exceeding 0.75% of the acquired
properties of the Trust in case of the properties from related persons of the REIT Manager and not exceeding
1.00% of the acquired properties of the Trust in case of the properties from others.

Trustee fee

The Trustee is entitled to receive a monthly remuneration at a rate not exceeding 0.75% per annum
(exclusive of value added tax, specific business tax or any other similar tax) of the net asset value of the
Trust as calculated by the REIT Manager and verified by the Trustee.

Registrar fee

The fee for the Investment Unit Registrar shall be at a rate not exceeding 0.50% per annum (exclusive
of value added tax, special business tax, or other similar type of tax) of the net assets value of the Trust
as calculated by the REIT Manager and verified by the Trustee.

Property management fee

Fee and expenses of the Property Manager shall be payable to the Property Manager on a yearly basis
according to the Property Management Agreement between the Trust and the Property Manager
(exclusive of value added tax, special business tax, or other similar type of tax). The rate shall not exceed
3.00% per annum of the net assets value of the Trust.

18 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources
and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the person who makes
strategic decisions.

The Trust operates in business which is the investment in property and the business is only operated

in Thailand. Income and expenses from this segment are the same amount with the statement of
comprehensive income. Therefore, the presentation of segment information is not necessary.
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19 Related party transactions

The relationship among major related parties can be summarised as follows:

WHA Real Estate Management Company Limited is the REIT Manager of the Trust.
Kasikorn Asset Management Company Limited is the Trustee of the Trust.

e WHA Corporation Public Company Limited is the unitholder, parent company of the REIT Manager
and property manager of the Trust.

e Kasikorn Bank Public Company Limited is a parent company of the Trustee of the Trust.

Transactions with related parties were carried out as follows:

a) Income and expenses

2024 2023
Baht Baht Pricing policies

Income
Undertaking income

WHA Corporation Public Company Limited 70,885,535 53,028,454 Contractual prices
Interest income

Kasikorn Bank Public Company Limited 13,218,931 17,313,761 Market prices
Expenses
Acquisition fee

WHA Real Estate Management Company Limited - 262,246 Note 17
Management fee

WHA Real Estate Management Company Limited 83,201,361 77,691,293 Note 17
Trustee fee

Kasikorn Asset Management Company Limited 31,225,086 46,772,729 Note 17
Property management fee

WHA Corporation Public Company Limited 111,880,906 99,591,202 Note 17
Interest expense

Kasikorn Bank Public Company Limited 82,957,069 9,081,190 Market prices

b) Outstanding balances
2024 2023
Baht Baht

Deposit at bank

Kasikorn Bank Public Company Limited 761,022,958 1,185,047,332
Other assets - Advance for property management fee

WHA Corporation Public Company Limited 102,011,268 96,466,502
Accrued expenses

WHA Real Estate Management Company Limited 14,247,021 13,461,023

Kasikorn Asset Management Company Limited 5,350,000 8,097,516

Kasikorn Bank Public Company Limited 396,000 28,395,731
Borrowing from financial institutions, net

Kasikorn Bank Public Company Limited 2,172,717,400 1,790,677,591
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20 Information regarding purchase and sale of investments

During the years ended 31 December 2024, the Trust has not purchased investment and 31 December
2023, the Trust has purchased investments excluding investments in bank deposits in net amounting to Baht
3,601 million representing 9.98% of the weighted average net asset value during the year.

21 Commitments

As at 31 December 2024, the Trust has commitments under service agreements for property management
fee and other expenses (2023: service agreements for property management fee and other expenses).
The future aggregate minimum payments under these agreements are as follows:

2024 2023
Baht Baht
Within 1 year 114,975,008 109,696,014
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 496,576,699 482,229,631
Later than 5 years 2,647,335,644 2,776,117,630
Total 3,258,887,351 3,368,043,275

22 Events occurring after the reporting date

On 19 February 2025, the Board of Directors’ meeting of WHA Real Estate Management Company
Limited as the REIT Manager of the Trust, has unanimously approved the following agenda;

- To approve the capital reduction of par value at the rate of Baht 0.0602 per trust unit totaling Baht
209 million. The reduction of registered capital will be paid to unitholders on 19 March 2025.

- To approve the dividend payment from the performance period between 1 October 2024 to
31 December 2024 and retained earnings, at the rate of Baht 0.1358 per trust unit totaling Baht
471 million. The dividend will be paid to unitholders on 19 March 2025.

23 Authorisation of financial statements

These financial statements have been approved by authorised directors of the REIT Manager on
19 February 2025.
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